

Faculty of Health Sciences Department of Medical Biology

The immune microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma

Characterization and prognostic markers

Anna Maria Wirsing

A dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor, September 2018





The immune microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma

Characterization and prognostic markers

By

Anna Maria Wirsing



A dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Tromsø, September 2018

Tumor Biology Research Group Department of Medical Biology Faculty of Health Sciences UiT- The Arctic University of Norway

Title picture

Microscopy image of immunohistochemically stained (brown) high-endothelial venules in the tumor microenvironment of a tissue section from a patient with oral squamous cell carcinoma (left).

Sagittal section of the oral cavity and the pharynx, reprinted and adapted from 'Asklepios Atlas of the Human Anatomy'/ Science Photo Library / NTB Scanpix, license purchased (right).

Abstract

Oral squamous cell carcinomas (OSSCs) are aggressive tumors often associated with a low survival rate. Today, OSCCs of the same size and extent usually receive the same treatment although they may differ in aggressiveness and response to therapy. Thus, new prognostic markers that reflect the biological diversity of these tumors are requested to better tailor the treatment to the patient's need. The immune system influences the development of OSCCs, and the immune infiltrate surrounding the tumor is an indicator of the host's anti-tumor response. The main goal of this thesis was to describe how the tumor microenvironment in OSCC is organized, and to determine whether different subsets of the immune infiltrate can be used to predict patient outcome. In tissue from 80 OSCC patients, we used immunohistochemistry to detect distinct cellular components of the immune infiltrate, and real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction to analyze the gene expression of a number of inflammation-related cytokines and chemokines. We correlated the presence of the various components to each other as well as to clinicopathological data and patient survival. A systematic review of the literature was conducted to identify promising prognostic factors in OSCC and to evaluate the quality of the published studies. In our review, we found that CD163+ M2 macrophages and CD57+ mature natural killer cells were the most promising prognostic markers. In our Norwegian OSCC patient cohort, the presence of specialized blood vessels called highendothelial venules (HEVs) was found to be an easy-to-use, independent prognostic marker for improved survival and had the most promising potential of the factors analyzed. However, larger studies adhering to best-practice guidelines are needed to draw reliable conclusions about the prognostic value of the markers identified in our Norwegian OSCC cohort and our literature review. HEVs are known to be gateways for lymphocyte entry to the tumor site, and we found these vessels to be associated with a potentially tumor-suppressive immune microenvironment. Therefore, we hypothesize that HEVs may be master regulators of a favorable immune reaction and potential targets to enhance anti-tumor responses in OSCC patients.

Contents

List of	f Papers v		
Ackno	owledgements vii		
Abbre	viationsix		
Introd	uction		
1.	Oral squamous cell carcinoma1		
2.	The immune microenvironment		
Hypothesis and aims			
Material and methods			
1.	Patients 17		
2.	Immunohistochemistry 19		
3.	RNA extraction and quality control		
4.	Real-time quantitative PCR		
5.	Systematic literature review		
6.	Statistical analysis		
Summary of papers			
Discussion			
1.	Ethical considerations		
2.	Methodological considerations		
3.	Discussion of main findings		
Conclusions and perspective			
Bibliography			
Appendices			

List of Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to as **Papers I-IV** in the text.

Paper I

Characterisation and prognostic value of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma.

Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, Uhlin-Hansen L, Hadler-Olsen E. BMC Clinical Pathology. 2014 Aug 23; 14:38. doi: 10.1186/1472-6890-14-38.

Paper II

Presence of tumour high-endothelial venules is an independent positive prognostic factor and stratifies patients with advanced-stage oral squamous cell carcinoma.

Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, Uhlin-Hansen L, Hadler-Olsen E. Tumour Biology. 2016 Feb; 37(2):2449-59. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4036-4.

Paper III

Presence of high-endothelial venules correlates with a favorable immune microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma.

Wirsing AM, Ervik IK, Seppola M, Uhlin-Hansen L, Steigen SE, Hadler-Olsen E. Modern Pathology. 2018 Feb 7. doi: 10.1038/s41379-018-0019-5.

Paper IV

Tissue-infiltrating immune cells as prognostic markers in oral squamous cell carcinoma – a systematic review.

Hadler-Olsen E, Wirsing AM. Manuscript submitted for publication.

Acknowledgements

The work presented in this thesis has been carried out at the Tumor Biology Research Group at the Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø (UiT) – The Arctic University of Norway.

I first acknowledge the contributions of Elin Hadler-Olsen, Ida Korsnes Ervik, Lars Uhlin-Hansen, Marit Seppola, Oddveig Rikardsen and Sonja Eriksson Steigen who are co-authors to the papers that form the basis of this thesis.

My sincere gratitude goes to my main supervisor Elin Hadler-Olsen for providing guidance and support throughout the project. Thank you for giving me the freedom to develop independent thought and ideas, and for always having open doors. Your commitment and efficiency are impressive, and your ability to combine family with an academic career has inspired me.

To my co-supervisors: Gunbjørg Svineng, your availability and help have been much appreciated, especially during Elin's sabbatical in the US. Sonja Eriksson Steigen, thank you for always being positive and supporting, and for introducing me into the world of SPSS. Lars Uhlin-Hansen, thank you for believing in me from the beginning when I joined the group as a medical student in 2013, and for sharing your expertise.

I thank all present and past members of the Tumor Biology Research Group for creating a pleasant and fruitful work environment. You are wonderful colleagues, and I feel privileged to work with you. A special thank goes to Eli Berg, Bente Mortensen and Marit Seppola for excellent technical help and teaching in the laboratory, and to Jan-Olof Winberg for sharing his knowledge on Matrix Metalloproteinases.

I have greatly benefited from my work as Vice-president of Tromsø Doctoral Students (TODOS), the local interest organization for PhD candidates at UiT. I am equally grateful for the experiences as Board Member of the Association of Doctoral

Organizations in Norway (SiN), which aims at securing a good doctoral program at a national level.

I have also had great benefit from the excellent courses on data management and publishing as well as teaching and soft skills organized by the University Library, the Centre for Teaching, Learning and Technology (Result), and the High North Academy at UiT.

I also acknowledge travel grants and inspiring conferences from the Norwegian Research School in Medical Imaging (MedIm).

This work has been part of The Norwegian Oral Cancer study, a national multicenter study aiming at optimizing the treatment of oral cancer patients, and I am grateful for fruitful discussions with the collaborators as well as for financial support. Being part of this big project is inspiring, and I believe that combining the energy, knowledge, and skills of this motivated group of people can lead to great achievements in the development of new biomarkers for oral cancer patients.

My dear Maarten, thank you for your patience, love and support throughout these years. I feel privileged that I can discuss both science and the banalities of everyday life with you. Last but not least, I thank my son Simon for making me smile every single day.

Tromsø, June 2018

Anna Wirsing

Abbreviations

CCL	CC-chemokine ligand
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CXCL	CXC-chemokine ligand
FDC	Follicular dendritic cell
FFPE	Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded
HEV	High-endothelial venule
HPV	Human papillomavirus
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IFN	Interferon
LT	Lymphotoxin
NK	Natural killer
PD-L1	Programmed-death ligand 1
PD-1	Programmed-death 1
PNAd	Peripheral node addressin
PRISMA	Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis
qPCR	Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction
REK	The regional committee for medical health research ethics
REMARK	Reporting recommendations for tumor marker prognostic studies
RQI	RNA quality indicator
SCC	Squamous cell carcinoma
Th	T helper
TLS	Tertiary lymphoid structure
UiT	University of Tromsø – The Arctic University of Norway
UNN	University Hospital of North Norway

Introduction

1. Oral squamous cell carcinoma

Oral (O) squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs) originate within the epithelium lining of the oral cavity and include tumors located in the mobile part of the tongue (anterior two thirds), floor of the mouth, buccal mucosa, gingiva and the hard palate (Figure 1). OSCCs belong to a group termed head and neck SCCs. This group comprises amongst others cancers arising in the oral cavity, oropharynx, larynx, hypopharynx, paranasal sinuses, nasal cavity, and the salivary glands, each with distinct, subsite-specific patterns of presentation and behavior [1, 2]. OSCCs are the most common oral malignancy, and are particularly aggressive tumors with early tendency to metastasize to the regional lymph nodes [2].



Figure 1. Anatomical location of oral squamous cell carcinomas. Sagittal section of the oral cavity, reprinted and adapted from 'Asklepios Atlas of the Human Anatomy'/ Science Photo Library / NTB Scanpix, license purchased.

1.1 Epidemiology, risk factors, and survival

Oral cancer (with the oropharyngeal sites included) is the sixth most common cancer worldwide [3]. Globally, oral cancer accounted for an estimated 202.000 new cases in 2012 [4]. In Norway, oral cancer was in 2015 responsible for 234 new cases and 83 cancer deaths [5]. Oral cancer is most frequent in the fifth and sixth decades of life, with higher incidence in males compared to females [2]. There is a marked global variation in the distribution of oral cancer, which can be mostly attributed to differences in exposure to risk factors. In Europe, oral cancer incidence is highest in eastern and central parts (e.g. Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia, and France). In the rest of the world, oral cancer incidence is particularly high in southern Asia, where these cancers account for about 25% of all new cancer cases [3]. Overall, oral cancers seem to have stabilized or declined in many countries, which is consistent with the decreasing use of tobacco and betel quid [4, 6].

Tobacco and alcohol consumption are the most important risk factors for oral cancers and, if used together, strongly increase the risk for oral cancer [7, 8]. The habit of chewing betel quid (i.e. a mixture of areca nut and/or tobacco with other substances such as slaked lime) is widely prevalent in many Asian countries, and is another strong etiological factor for oral cancer [9]. Other more speculative risk factors include amongst others poor oral health and low consumption of fruit and vegetables [10, 11]. Human papillomavirus (HPV) has been identified as a cause of oropharyngeal cancer [12, 13], but may only play a minor role in tumors arising in the oral cavity [14].

In many parts of the world, survival rates have not improved significantly for decades [2]. In Europe, five-year survival rates for oral and oropharyngeal cancers are approximately 50% [15]. In Norway, preliminary data from a multicenter study including more than 500 OSCC patients showed that the overall 5-year survival rate of this patient group is approximately 45% [16].

1.2 Clinical features and treatment

OSCCs gradually develop from normal epithelium, which through multiple genetic alterations transforms into dysplasia and invasive cancer [17]. Clinical presentations that carry a risk of oral cancer development are painless white (leukoplakia) or red (erythroplakia) plaques of the oral mucosa, but only a minority of these lesions will undergo malignant change [18]. Early disease is generally subtle and asymptomatic, which is why small lesions often remain undetected. Depending on the anatomical location of the tumor, patients with more advanced disease may suffer from ulcers, pain, bleeding, and difficulties with chewing, swallowing and speaking as well as weight loss, and neck swelling. Preliminary data from a Norwegian multicenter study revealed that about 40% of patients had metastatic spread to the lymph nodes, and 10% had distant metastasis at the time of diagnosis [16]. Patient assessment is managed by a multidisciplinary team of health care providers, if available, and includes amongst others thorough clinical examination of the primary site and the neck, pathological confirmation of the diagnosis by biopsy, and employment of imaging techniques to evaluate the extent of the disease [2].

The choice of treatment largely depends on the localization and anatomical extent of the primary tumor as well as the patient's health status and individual desire. For oral cavity cancers, surgery with or without adjuvant radiotherapy are the gold standards for treatment of advanced and early disease, respectively [18]. Large tumors sometimes receive radiotherapy prior to surgery, and palliative radiochemotherapy is often the treatment of choice for the most advanced cancers. Complications related to radiotherapy include amongst others mucositis (inflammation and ulceration of the oral mucosa), xerostomia (dry mouth), osteoradionecrosis (irreversible, progressive devitalization of irradiated bone), and local infections [19]. This, again, causes secondary effects such as problems with eating and speech, taste dysfunction, pain, and deformation, which may lead to social exclusion and impair the quality of life of these patients [20].

About 12% of head and neck cancer patients develop recurrent disease within five years after the treatment [21]. Genetically altered epithelial cells in close proximity to the primary tumor, a phenomenon called 'field cancerization', is believed to be an important factor in the recurrence or persistence of oral cancer after therapy [22]. Of those who survive the disease, about 4% per year develop independent, new tumors in the upper aerodigestive tract, so-called second primary tumors [23].

1.3 Classification and histopathological factors

The main tool for staging oral cancers is the TNM system, which classifies tumors according to the size and extent of the primary tumor (T), the absence or presence and extent of regional lymph node metastasis (N), and the absence or presence of distant metastasis (M). The latest, eighth edition of the TNM system of the American Joint Committee on Cancer and Union for International Cancer Control includes substantial revisions for the classification of head and neck SCCs [24] and accounts both for the better treatment response and survival of patients with HPV-induced oropharyngeal carcinomas [25, 26] as well as for the importance of depth of invasion (tumor thickness) [27] and extranodal extension (extracapsular spread in cervical lymph node metastases) [28] in oral cavity tumors. Table 1 gives an overview over the TNM staging of OSCCs according to the current [24] and the fifth edition [29]. The latter was used to classify the tumors included in Papers I-III of this thesis. The individual TNM categories form the base for stage grouping of oral cancer patients (Table 1), where advanced tumor stage and especially metastatic spread to regional lymph nodes are strong prognosticators for poor patient outcome [21]. Distant metastasis is far less common compared to nodal involvement [30], but reduces survival drastically [31].

Table 1. TNM classification and stage grouping for oral cavity tumors. The table is adapted from the 5th [29] and 8th edition [24] of the TNM classification of Malignant Tumors, and includes the TNM categories and stages relevant for this thesis. The 8th edition includes substantial changes for the classification of oral cavity tumors. The clinical and pathological TNM classifications largely correspond to each other.

	Fifth edition TNM	Eighth edition TNM		
Size and extent of primary tumor (T category)				
T1	Size $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$	and depth of invasion (doi) \leq 5mm		
T2	Size >2-4 cm	Size ≤ 2 cm and doi 5-10 mm,		
		or size >2-4 cm, and doi ≤ 10 mm		
T3	Size > 4 cm	or depth of invasion > 10 mm		
T4	Tumor invades adjacent	sub-classified as T4a and T4b		
	structures			
Regional lymph node metastasis (N category)				
NO	No regional lymph node involvement			
N1	Ipsilateral, single ≤ 3 cm	and no extranodal extension*		
N2	(a) Ipsilateral, single >3-6 cm,	(a) and no extranodal extension		
	(b) Ipsilateral, multiple ≤ 6 cm	(b) and no extranodal extension		
	(c) Bilateral, contralateral \leq 6 cm	(c) and no extranodal extension		
N3	> 6 cm	(a) and no extranodal extension		
		(b) Any N with extranodal extension		
Distant me	etastasis (M category)			
M0	No distant metastasis			
M1	Distant metastasis			
Stage grouping of individual TNM categories				
Stage I	T1, N0, M0			
Stage II	T2, N0, M0			
Stage III	T3, N0, M0 or T1/T2/T3, N1, M0			
Stage IV	Any T4 lesion. Any N2 or N3. Any M1. (sub-classified as IVA, IVB, IVC)			

* differences in definition and classification of clinical and pathologic extranodal extension apply

OSCCs are further graded as well, moderately or poorly differentiated based on the degree of keratinization, cellular and molecular pleomorphism, and mitotic activity [2]. Most OSCCs have either a well or moderate degree of differentiation. The degree of differentiation often varies within a tumor and is determined based on the area of the tumor with the lowest degree of differentiation. However, defining precise histological criteria to differentiate between low- and high-risk tumors can be

challenging and often results in poor reproducibility between the observers [32]. This is part of the reasons why classification based on histologic grading alone is considered to be of limited clinical use, and only poorly correlates with outcome [33]. During the last decades, a number of multifactorial grading systems addressing histologic parameters of the tumor-host relationship have been proposed to give a more accurate estimate of the patient's prognosis [34-37]. These parameters include amongst others the pattern of invasion and the degree of the lymphocytic infiltrate, with special emphasis on the invasive margins of the tumor. In 2005, Brandwein-Gensler et al. proposed a histological risk-assessment score for OSCCs based on perineural invasion, lymphocytic infiltrate and worst pattern of infiltration, which has shown independent effects on patient survival in a large cohort [33, 38]. However, the histological risk assessment score was found not to have prognostic significance in two recent studies [39, 40]. Tumor budding, that is the presence of single cells or small-cell clusters in the stroma ahead of the invasive tumor front, has recently shown promising prognostic value in patients with tongue cancer [40, 41].

At present, the TNM classification system, and to a lesser extent the degree of differentiation, are used to predict outcome and make treatment decisions for OSCC patients. However, diagnostic assessment based on these factors has its limitations for personalized therapeutic approaches as patients with similar stages of oral cancer may have diverse clinical courses and responses to treatment [42]. This calls for the development of new prognostic markers that reflect the unique biology of an individual tumor.

1.4 Biological markers

From the definition of the Biomarker Definition Working Group [43], a biological marker (biomarker) can be understood as an objectively measured and evaluated indicator of diagnosis or prognosis of disease, or as a sensitive and specific tool for risk stratification. The great potential of biomarkers for personalized medicine, together with the emerge of molecular techniques, has resulted in an enormous and

growing amount of investments and academic outputs within this field [44]. Likewise, during the last decades, an increasing number of biomarkers have been launched as potentially useful prognosticators for oral cancer patients, and in 2017, 182 publications on oral cancer biomarkers were indexed in Medline (Figure 2). In recent years, the analyzation of the saliva and blood of patients have been promising approaches for biomarker discovery in this cancer type [45-47]. Several proteins as well as mutated tumor suppressor gene tp53 have in the latest edition of the TNM classification system been acknowledged as new and promising tumor-related prognosticators for oral cavity tumors [24]. However, none of these or the numerous other suggested biomarkers are currently being utilized in routine clinical management of this patient group. Poor data and lack of clinical usefulness are among the most important reasons why biomarkers fail clinical implementation [48].



Figure 2. Publications on oral cancer biomarkers. Number of publications containing the term 'biomarker' in the tile, keyword or abstract, as derived from Medline using the search strategy for the entry terms 'prognostic value' and 'oral cancer' as described in **Paper IV**. The first publication was indexed in 1989 (Ovid Medline was searched from 1967 to 2017 and accessed 23rd May 2018).

2. The immune microenvironment

The immune system is an important mediator of tumor initiation and progression. Cells of the innate and adaptive immune system work together to maintain tissue homeostasis by clearing the host from pathogenic antigens, and help to eliminate developing tumors long before they become clinically apparent [49]. However, inefficient antigen clearance due to persistent, excessive exposure to pathogens or other irritating agents can result in chronic inflammatory processes, which may increase the risk of cancer development [50]. Since Rudolf Virchow in 1863 described a link between infiltrating leukocytes and neoplastic tissue, inflammatory processes have been shown to precede a variety of human malignancies including OSCCs [51, 52] and are considered one of the hallmarks of cancer [53]. For head and neck cancers, it is recognized that the immune system plays a key role during all stages of tumorigenesis, from precancerous lesions to the establishment, progression and metastatic spread of the primary tumor [54]. Due to the complexity of the tumor microenvironment and host-tumor interactions during tumorigenesis, only a selection of factors relevant for this thesis is presented below.

2.1 Characteristics

The immune microenvironment emerges during tumor development as a result of host-tumor interactions [55], and comprises an intricate network of stromal cells, vascular and lymphatic vessels, and the extracellular matrix. In addition, secreted, soluble factors such as cytokines, chemokines and a number of other signaling molecules mediate tumor-stroma interactions and can promote tumorigenesis through dysregulation of inter- and intra-cellular signaling cascades [56]. Cytokines are a diverse family of proteins that control autocrine or paracrine communication between individual cell types and can be induced by various factors such as hypoxia [57]. Chemokines are chemoattractant cytokines mostly induced by inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- α , and coordinate cell movement during inflammation as well as tumor cell growth, survival, migration, and angiogenesis

[58]. Our current understanding of immunity implies a dual role with both hostprotective and tumor-promoting functions, a concept which is summarized under the term "cancer immunoediting" [59]. The contexture of the tumor microenvironment varies between different tumor types and within tumors of the same type, as well as within different sites of the same tumor, and has been shown to affect patient prognosis in various human cancers [60].

2.2 Tumor-infiltrating immune cells and immunotherapy

Immune cells are abundantly present in many human solid cancers including OSCCs, where the invasive margin of the tumor front is usually highly infiltrated by immune cells. Besides lymphoid cells (T cells, B cells and natural killer (NK) cells), myeloid cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells, granulocytes and mast cells have been found to infiltrate tumor tissues and can be used to predict prognosis [61]. Based on antigen specificity and timing of activation, immune cells can be divided into cells of the innate immunity (such as dendritic cells, NK cells, macrophages, neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, and mast cells) and cells of the adaptive immunity (such as B cells and T cells). The first group represents the non-specific, first line of defense, and the latter is highly specific to a given antigen [50]. Cells of the innate and adaptive immunity crosstalk with each other to achieve functional adaptive immune responses. Antigen-presenting cells such as dendritic cells, macrophages and B cells stimulate antigen-specific T-cell populations, which further develop into effector T cells. Likewise, signals from T helper (Th) cells initiate affinity maturation and isotype switching of B cells [62]. It has long been believed that the tumor-draining lymph nodes are the only sites where the complex processes of orchestrating T- and B-cell anti-tumor responses can take place.

Further, infiltrating immune cells can be divided into a wide range of individual subtypes with distinct functional properties. However, dependent on environmental cues, the same types of immune cells sometimes accommodate different phenotypes with differing biological effects, emphasizing the complexity by which the immune system directs anti-tumor responses [63]. An example of remarkable plasticity are macrophages, which may upon stimuli such as hypoxia switch between "classically activated" M1 macrophages with pro-inflammatory and anti-tumorigenic functions, and "alternatively activated" M2 macrophages with anti-inflammatory and pro-tumorigenic functions, of which the latter represent the majority of macrophages found in tumors [64, 65].

T cells are among the most prominent populations of infiltrating immune cells in head and neck cancers [66], and are classically divided into cluster of differentiation (CD)8+ cytotoxic T cells and CD4+ Th cells, which can further differentiate into a wide range of subclasses with distinct functional roles. Similar to NK cells, CD8+ T cells can produce interferon (IFN)- γ and directly kill target cells [63]. CD4+ Th cells can be further subdivided into Th1, Th2, T follicular helper, IL-17 expressing Th, and T regulatory cells. In contrast to the tumor-suppressive effects of Th1 responses, CD4+ Th2 cells and CD4+ T regulatory cells can downregulate CD8+ cytotoxity, a feature that has together with other immunosuppressive mechanisms such as impaired NK-cell activity and poor-antigen presenting function been linked to the progression and poor prognosis of head and neck cancers [54, 67, 68]. In addition, a wide range of individual, functionally distinct B cell and dendritic cell subtypes have been identified in the OSCC tumor microenvironment. The function and prognostic value of these cell types in OSCC are together with eosinophils and mast cells discussed later in this thesis and in the respective papers.

Targeting stromal components for therapeutic approaches is promising yet challenging due to the high immunologic heterogeneity of most of the tumors [69]. A pronounced immune cell infiltration has been found to be a predictor of favorable outcome, although the functionality of the individual immune cell subsets varies [60, 70]. Likewise, patients with 'inflamed' tumors, characterized by marked immune cell infiltration and high expression of cytokines, generally respond better to immunotherapies and show improved survival compared to those with 'non-

inflamed' tumors, where recruitment of immune cells may be impaired [71, 72]. Head and neck cancers are mostly of the inflamed phenotype which makes them potentially susceptive for immunomodulatory therapies [73]. However, the generally poor survival of this patient group indicates that the tumor cells have developed immunosuppressive mechanisms that allow them to progress despite the apparent immune response [67]. It is now recognized that T cells in solid tumors are often functionally exhausted [74], and express inhibitory receptors such as programmed-death 1 (PD-1), which interacts with programmed-death ligand 1 (PD-L1)-expressing tumor cells and downregulates T-cell activation [75, 76]. In recent years, reversing immunosuppression through blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway has shown durable anti-tumor responses in 10-20% of oral cancer patients [77, 78].

2.3 Tertiary lymphoid structures

During chronic inflammation, B cells, follicular dendritic cells (FDCs), T cells and high-endothelial venules (HEVs) sometimes organize in clusters called tertiary lymphoid structures (TLSs), which have considerable morphological and functional similarity to secondary lymphoid organs, particularly lymph nodes (Figure 3). TLSs typically form in random, nonlymphoid tissues, and develop through a dynamic process called lymphoid neogenesis. During this process, TLSs develop from sparse lymphocytic infiltrates into more organized aggregates, and finally into mature TLSs with ectopic germinal centers [79]. This process is mechanistically similar to the development of lymph nodes, and requires a highly coordinated, lymphotoxin (LT)-mediated interplay between lymphocytes and non-lymphoid stromal cells. Upon stimulation by lymphocytes, the non-lymphoid stromal cells express a number of lymphoid chemokines including CC-chemokine ligands (CCL)19, CCL21 and CXC-chemokine ligands (CXCL)12 and CXCL13 that regulate lymphocyte recruitment and compartimentalization [80-82]. Persistent antigen exposure is essential for the initiation and maintenance of TLSs, which are in contrast to lymph nodes not

encapsulated and therefore highly susceptive for antigen-stimulation from their surroundings [79].



Figure 3. Schematic model of tertiary lymphoid structures. Specialized cell populations arrange themselves into distinct patterns forming a classical tertiary lymphoid structure (**Paper I**).

TLSs have initially been studied in conjunction with chronic inflammatory diseases such as chronic infection, chronic graft rejection or autoimmune disorders where they are thought to exacerbate disease [83]. Only recently, TLSs have been described in association with a variety of human solid cancers where they have shown beneficial effects, probably due to their ability to generate local anti-tumor responses [84]. Indeed, there is strong data suggesting that TLSs are privileged areas for T-cell recruitment and activation in primary tumors, with the germinal centers as putative sites for tumor-specific antigen production. This indicates that cellular and humoral immune responses can be initiated independently from secondary lymphoid organs, and supports an immune-modulating role for TLSs in the tumor microenvironment [80, 85]. However, much is still unknown about the formation and functional role of TLSs in individual cancer types, and how these structures can be used for immunemodulating therapies [86].

2.4 High-endothelial venules

HEVs are specialized, post-capillary blood vessels that support lymphocyte recruitment into the tissue, and are abundantly present in all secondary lymphoid organs except the spleen [87]. HEVs have also been found in association with chronic inflammation, both as part of TLSs and independent of these structures, where they are believed to exert similar functions as in secondary lymphoid organs [88]. HEV endothelial cells have a typical 'plump', cuboidal morphology (Figure 4 A) with discontinuous, spot-welded junctions, and express lymphocyte-ligands such as the chemokine peripheral node addressin (PNAd) on their luminal surface, which binds to homing receptor L-selectin on circulating, naïve and memory lymphocytes [89, 90]. In addition, HEVs attract lymphocytes by presenting a number of different chemokines including CCL21, CCL19, CXCL12 and CXCL13 [88]. However, HEVs are highly plastic and may upon stimulation revert from a lymphocyte- to blood-carrying phenotype with flattened epithelium and lack of the surface marker PNAd [91-93] (Figure 4 B). In secondary lymphoid organs, LTα1β2 expression on dendritic cells and LTβ-receptor signaling from blood endothelial cells seem to be crucial for the development and stabilization of HEVs [94, 95].

It is now well recognized that HEVs play an important role in cancer immunology [89]. Whereas classical blood vessels are known to nurture tumor growth, the presence and density of tumor-related HEVs have been associated with tumor regression and favorable outcome in a variety of murine and human cancers, probably by enhancing influx of naïve T lymphocytes to the tumor [88]. However, remodeling of HEVs in the draining lymph nodes of breast and OSCC patients was found to be an early sign of metastatic spread and associated with poor prognosis [92, 93]. Although LT-engagement by dendritic or other cells appear to be important regulating factors, the exact mechanisms that drive HEV formation and stabilization

in tumors are yet to be elucidated, and may differ depending on the anatomical location of the tumor [86, 96]. Despite numerous unanswered questions about the physiology and function of tumor-associated HEVs, therapeutic HEV induction in tumors holds great promise to support efficient anti-tumor immune responses, as recently demonstrated by immune-modulating approaches [97, 98].



Figure 4. Different phenotypes of high-endothelial venules in oral squamous cell carcinoma. The micrographs show representative immunohistochemical stainings for high-endothelial venules (HEVs) found in our North Norwegian oral squamous cell carcinoma patient cohort (**Papers I-III**). Both HEVs with a thick wall and small or no lumen (a) and HEVs with a thinner wall and larger lumen (b) were found. Dilated vessels gradually lost their surface marker PNAd (arrows, b). PNAd-positive vessels are stained brown, and cell nuclei are stained blue by hematoxylin. Scale bars indicate 50 µm.

Hypothesis and aims

This work is based on the hypothesis that the composition and organization of the immune microenvironment affect the aggressiveness of OSCCs. Hence, we hypothesized that different components of the immune microenvironment can be used as prognostic markers. Based on our hypotheses, the main goal of the project was to describe how the tumor microenvironment in OSCC is organized, and to determine whether different subsets of the immune infiltrate can be used to predict patient outcome.

More specifically, we wanted to:

- 1. Determine whether TLSs can develop in OSCC and, if yes, whether these structures have prognostic value in a cohort of OSCC patients (**Paper I**).
- 2. Characterize morphological features of HEVs in OSCC and determine whether they have prognostic value in a cohort of OSCC patients (**Paper II**).
- Characterize the association between HEVs and the presence of various tumorinfiltrating immune cells as well as expression of selected cytokines and the immune-regulatory protein PD-L1 (Paper III).
- Determine whether the presence of various tumor-infiltrating immune cells as well as expression of selected cytokines and the immune-regulatory protein PD-L1 have prognostic value in a cohort of OSCC patients (Paper III).
- Determine the prognostic value of some of the most commonly studied tissueinfiltrating immune cells in OSCC in the literature, and whether the studies identified in our literature search adhere to the Reporting Recommendations for Tumor Marker Prognostic Studies (REMARK) guidelines [99, 100] (Paper IV).

Material and methods

This chapter provides an overview over the material and methods employed in the different papers and highlights general methodological considerations. Ethical and methodological considerations specific to this thesis are outlined in the discussion chapter. A more detailed description of the techniques and reagents can be found in the different papers. All papers are based on retrospective studies.

1. Patients

The study cohort that forms the basis of **Papers I-III** consists of 75-80 patients diagnosed with primary SCC of the oral cavity in the period 1986-2002 with the last day of follow-up being January 1, 2012. These patients derive from a larger North Norwegian cohort of patients with histologically verified oral and oropharyngeal carcinomas, where tissue material and clinicopathological data have been collected in a previous study from our group [101]. The clinicopathological data were retrieved from the patients' hospital files, pathology reports, and the Statistics of Norway, Cause of Death Registry. Clinicopathological variables included gender, age, smoking history, alcohol consumption, tumor site and differentiation, T-, N-, and Mstatuses, treatment and HPV status according to p16 immunohistochemical staining. Tumors were staged following the latest (second to fifth) edition of the TNM classification system at the time of diagnosis [29, 102-104]. The classification of cancers of the lip and oral cavity remained unchanged between the different editions, so that the fifth edition, as summarized in Table 1, is relevant for all cases [29]. FFPE biopsies or surgical resections were collected from the archives of the Department of Clinical Pathology at the University Hospital of North Norway (UNN), and only patients with both primary tumor tissue and clinical data available were included. Rikardsen and colleagues demonstrated that this North Norwegian patient cohort correlated well with other European cohorts with regard to tumor location, stage, and risk factors [101]. This is important when comparing and interpreting results from different populations, as exposure to etiological factors such as tobacco use may differ between oral cancer cohorts around the globe [3].

Cancers arising at different sites differ in their biology and response to treatment [105] and, if grouped, may skew results from prognostic marker studies [106]. Therefore, to obtain a more homogeneous cohort, we excluded several groups of patients from the original cohort. We excluded all patients with SCCs in the base of the tongue, the soft palate, and the tonsils, as these are often HPV-positive and should be regarded as a distinct entity [107]. Left were patients having SCCs in the mobile tongue, the floor of the mouth, buccal mucosa, gingiva and the hard palate, constituting the oral cavity proper. From this group, patients with vertucous carcinomas were excluded because these tumors generally show a less aggressive clinical behavior than conventional SCCs [108]. We also excluded patients who received radiotherapy prior to surgery, as this has been shown to influence the composition of the immune infiltrate and patient prognosis. Furthermore, very old patients, patients with co-morbidity and patients who did not receive treatment with curative intention were excluded, as they were likely to confound analyses of survival data. Paper I includes 80 patients, and Papers II-III are based on 75 of the 80 patients. For 5 of the 80 patients, the limited amount of tissue material available for our study was entirely used for the work on **Paper I**. A summary of the number of excluded patients with reasons for exclusion is given in Figure 5 below. The Regional Committee for Medical Health Research Ethics, Northern Norway (REK) approved the collection of the patients' tissue and clinical data (see appendix).



Figure 5. Patient flow chart. This figure describes the flow of patients included in Paper I and Papers II and III, respectively.

2. Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry (IHC), as employed in **Papers I-III** and reviewed in **Paper IV**, is the most widely used method for the detection of proteins in cells or tissues. IHC is based on the recognition of an antigen by the use of an antibody. Indirect IHC, the most common of IHC techniques, is a multi-step approach. In the first step, a primary antibody specifically binds to the antigen of interest. In the second step, an enzyme-labelled secondary antibody is applied for visualization. The most commonly used enzymatic label is horseradish peroxidase, which converts into a brown color after reaction with the substrate 3,3'-diaminobenzidine.

Several general methodological considerations have to be taken into account for correct interpretation and comparison of immunohistochemical results. Numerous pre-staining variables influence the IHC assay, as outlined in the discussion chapter.

In addition, the immunohistochemical staining results largely depend on the properties of the antibody used. The usefulness of an antibody cannot always be assumed from scientific publications or vendor specifications. Indeed, antibody validation for the specific application in individual laboratories is critical, especially if an antibody is tested for implementation in clinical routine. Antibody validation includes amongst others testing the specificity and reproducibility of an antibody in the context for which it is used [109]. There is no definition of a standard practice for antibody validation in IHC, but the use of blocking peptides and especially the use of appropriate positive and negative controls can provide valuable information. Whereas tissue with known positivity for the protein of interest is commonly accepted as a positive control, there is a wide range of negative controls reported in scientific works, of which some are highlighted in the discussion chapter of this thesis. Depending on the research question and material, one can choose between monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. In contrast to monoclonal antibodies, polyclonal antibodies can recognize multiple independent epitopes. Although more often associated with non-specific background staining, polyclonal antibodies are usually favored over monoclonal antibodies for use in IHC as they have a higher chance of binding epitopes that are still present in the fixed material [110]. Reproducible antibodies show similar staining across different lots and assay runs over time, and for independent antibodies targeting the same protein [109].

As for all IHC procedures, there are no universal guidelines for evaluation of immunohistochemical staining. The huge variability of reported methods imposes challenges for comparison of studies, and stresses the importance of clear description of how the immunohistochemical evaluation was performed. Despite recent advances in computerized approaches such as digitalization of slides and automated image analysis [111], manual evaluation using conventional light microscopy is still the most widely used method for IHC evaluation in pathology departments worldwide. To assure reproducibility and assess the clinical usefulness of the

different markers, it is recommended to perform the scoring independently by several observers and to report the variability among the different scorings [106].

2.1 Immunohistochemical staining procedures

We stained 4-um-thick whole tissue sections from FFPE archival material. For each patient, we chose a block with representative material from the available tumorcontaining blocks based on hematoxylin and eosin staining, without specific evaluation of the inflammatory infiltrate. First, the sections were incubated overnight at 60°C, deparaffinised in xylene and rehydrated in graded alcohol baths before they were heat-treated in citrate buffer. Heat-treatment breaks down the protein crosslinks generated by formaldehyde fixation thereby unmasking the antigen epitope of interest and allowing specific binding of the primary antibody. After antigen retrieval, we inactivated endogenous peroxidase activity by incubating the sections with 3% H2O2, thereby reducing non-specific background staining. We also used a protein-blocking reagent to block non-specific antibody binding. Then, we applied the primary and secondary antibody before visualization with 3.3'diaminobenzidine, counterstaining with hematoxylin and dehydration of the sections in graded alcohol and xylene baths. Finally, the sections were mounted and evaluated in the microscope. PNAd staining for the detection of HEVs was done manually. Antibody specificity was tested by staining consecutive OSCC and normal oral mucosa sections for the endothelial cell marker PNAd as well as the blood vessel marker CD34 and the lymphatic endothelial cell marker D2-40. All other staining procedures were carried out in the automated slide stainer Ventana Benchmark, XT (Ventana, Tucson, AZ, USA) at the Diagnostic Clinic – Clinical Pathology, UNN, accredited according to the ISO/IEC 15189 standard for the respective staining. All staining runs included controls with known positivity for the different antibodies. For PD-L1 staining, negative controls with isotype-specific immunoglobulins were included for each patient sample. For the PNAd antibody, a specimen with the primary antibody omitted was included in each run. Negative controls were included in the initial testing of the remaining antibodies.

2.2 Evaluation of immunohistochemical staining

We evaluated the immunohistochemically stained slides using a Leica DM2000 light microscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). The staining was analyzed by a single observer for the morphological characteristics of HEVs, by two independent observers where an immunohistochemical score was to be obtained, and by three independent investigators for the presence of TLSs. All investigators were trained and blinded to the clinical outcome. In case of discrepancy, consensus was reached by reevaluating and discussing the results. We analyzed inter-observer variability in cases where slides had not been evaluated together.

TLSs, as studied in **Paper I**, were defined as accumulations of B cells containing FDCs, and were detected by staining consecutive sections of patients with obvious and indistinct B-cell aggregates for the FDC marker CD21. TLSs were subdivided into classical and non-classical, where FDCs displayed a continuous network in the classical type, and a more scattered distribution in the non-classical type. We also analyzed TLS-associated T cells and HEVs by staining consecutive sections with the CD3 and PNAd antibody, respectively. Consecutive sections from a subset of the TLS-positive patients were stained with BCL-6 for verification of germinal center B cells. In some patients, we evaluated TLSs at different levels in the tissue block, at a distance of 100 μ m. This was done to analyze the intratumoral distribution of TLSs.

Assessment of HEVs, as first described in association with TLSs in **Paper I**, was based on PNAd-positive cell clusters forming a vessel-like structure. PNAd-positive single cells were not counted as HEVs. In **Paper II**, we assessed the presence of tumor-associated HEVs that we defined as HEVs located within 700- μ m distance from the tumor front. For this, we carried out hotspot analyses and first scanned the PNAd-stained tissue sections at low power magnification to identify five areas with
high density of HEVs. Then, we took micrographs of the five hotspots at high power magnification, and calculated for each patient the mean number of HEVs per section by dividing the sum of HEVs in the five hotspots by five. The median number of HEVs per hotspot for all patients was used as cutoff for positive and negative HEV count, respectively. We also evaluated HEV morphology with regard to vessel wall thickness and lumen diameter. For this, we scanned the PNAd-stained sections, and analyzed the whole-slide digital images using digital measurement tools. Moreover, we semi-quantitatively assessed high and low level of inflammation in the digitized PNAd-stained sections at high power magnification with a cutoff of 50 lymphocytes/field of vision. To investigate the intratumoral distribution of HEVs, presence of HEVs was in some patients assessed at distinct levels throughout the tissue block, at a 100- μ m distance.

In **Paper III**, we further characterized the inflammatory infiltrate. We identified mast cells and eosinophils in the tumor stroma by Giemsa staining using a similar hotspot approach as for HEVs. By immunohistochemical staining we recognized CD3-, CD4- and CD8-positive T cells, CD20-positive B cells and CD68-positive macrophages. Scoring of these cells was done in a semi-quantitative fashion, by capturing every second visual field at the tumor invasive margin and assigning the micrographs to a four-degree scale from no or almost no (0) to heavy infiltration (3). Then, a mean score for each section was calculated and dichotomized as low (0-1.49) or high (1.5-3). The PD-L1 and DC-lamp scores were also evaluated on a 0-3 scale, and classified as low (0 or 1) and high (2 or 3) expression. The PD-L1 score depended on the percentage of positively-labeled tumor cells in each tissue section, and DC-lamp expression in the tumor stroma was based on semi-quantitative evaluation of positive staining.

3. RNA extraction and quality control

Isolation of high-quality RNA is an important prerequisite for successful gene expression analyses. In **Paper III**, we used two different commercial kits for

extraction of total RNA from FFPE human oral cancer samples and freshly frozen (in liquid nitrogen) human lymphoma specimens, respectively. There are several methodological challenges related to RNA from formalin-fixed tissue, as further outlined in the discussion chapter. We have chosen a RNA isolation kit that has shown good results in previous studies [112, 113]. The freshly frozen samples were used as a positive control for subsequent real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) analyses. Both procedures were based on silica columns that specifically bind the RNA and include the following steps: sample preparation, enzymatic digestion using proteinase K, purification and elimination of DNA and elution of the RNA in buffer or nuclease-free water. For the FFPE sections, we prepared the samples by deparaffinizing several consecutive 5-10 µm whole slide tissue sections. For the freshly frozen tissues, we mechanically disrupted and homogenized the material. Both the FFPE and freshly frozen samples were processed as they were, and contained both tumor material and surrounding tissue. We carried out spectrophotometric analysis via NanoDrop to assess RNA purity. The RNA integrity of our samples was evaluated using the RNA quality indicator (RQI) assessed by the automated electrophoresis system Experion (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, USA), which compares the electropherogram of RNA samples to a series of standardized degraded RNA samples assigning values between 1 for highly degraded RNA and 10 for intact RNA [114].

4. Real-time quantitative PCR

qPCR is generally a very sensitive and robust tool to amplify and detect nucleic acids, but the results may be strongly compromised by the low quality of input RNA [115], as further outlined in the discussion chapter.

In **Paper III**, we used qPCR to analyze the gene expression of inflammation-related cytokines and chemokines in FFPE oral cancer samples. We applied a two-step approach, where we first reverse transcribed total RNA into complementary DNA (cDNA), which we then used as a template for the qPCR reactions. The cDNA was

amplified in a thermal cycler through a series of cycles with repeated heating and cooling. The changing temperatures allow the double-stranded DNA to separate into single strands before binding of the primers and polymerization of the new DNA strands. After each cycle, the fluorescence intensity of a DNA-binding dye was detected in the thermal cycler. We designed primer sets to amplify short (~60bp) RNA segments within the target sequences. Partially based on findings from a previous study on FFPE oral cancer tissue [116], we identified the three most stably expressed genes in our samples using a publicly available software package. The choice of a panel of appropriate reference genes that are abundantly and stably expressed in the tissues is essential for accurate gene expression profiling [117].

Primer specificity was analyzed using melting curve analysis. In all qPCR runs, we included a control without reverse transcriptase and several non-template controls to test for contamination with genomic DNA and PCR products from previous runs, respectively. From the slope and correlation coefficient of regression curves from twofold serially diluted cDNA, we determined the qPCR amplification efficiency for each gene. We analyzed relative gene expression using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method [118], where we normalized the relative amount of target mRNA against the geometric mean of the three reference genes. Results were presented as fold increase compared to the mean of the group with the lowest gene expression (+/- standard error of mean) or dichotomized in low and high expression with the median of fold increase as cutoff.

5. Systematic literature review

Summarizing and comparing existing knowledge in systematic reviews and metaanalyses can provide valuable information for both researchers and health care providers. However, the usefulness of these studies is often compromised due to poor reporting [119, 120]. In 2009, an international group of experienced authors and methodologists introduced the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) guidelines to enhance the transparency and completeness of reporting in systematic reviews [119]. The choice of database, design of search strategy and eligibility criteria are important to retrieve relevant articles, and the results may or may not be summarized in meta-analyses. However, bias in the interpretation of results is inevitable also in thorough literature searches. A potential problem is a phenomenon called publication bias, which is the trend toward reporting positive results and is common to many research disciplines including cancer prognostic marker studies [121-123]. Reviewing biomarker studies with mainly statistically significant results may lead to overestimation of the prognostic value of a marker. Shifting the focus of journal editors from novelty and impact of findings to publication of negative results and follow-up of earlier studies may help to overcome this problem [106].

In Paper IV, we systematically searched the databases Ovid Medline (1946-2018 March 13) and Embase (1947-2018 March 13) for relevant literature on the prognostic value of some of the most commonly reported immune cells in oral cancer. With the help of a medical librarian, we developed a search strategy with controlled vocabulary based on Medical Subject Headings from Pubmed in addition to relevant free-text entry terms to retrieve relevant articles [124, 125]. We additionally employed the Cochrane Library and reference lists of reviews on related topics to identify relevant articles that were not retrieved through the combined Embase/Medline search. The two investigators independently screened the titles and abstracts of the retrieved records for relevance, and read the full-text articles in case of uncertainty and where the inclusion criteria were met. We designed a flow diagram with the excluded records according to the PRISMA guidelines [119]. Only studies with 40 or more OSCC patients and survival analyses based on immunohistochemical staining for tissue-infiltrating T cells, B cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, mast cells or NK cells were included. We also designed a checklist according to the REMARK guidelines [99, 100] to investigate the completeness in the reporting of study design and conduct. We used EndNote to manage the bibliographic records.

6. Statistical analysis

Critical evaluation of statistical methods is important for reliable conclusions and reproducibility of scientific results. Sample size is an important factor that influences the statistical outcome of a test. If the sample size is small, statistically significant differences are more likely to remain undetected [126]. In addition, the selection of appropriate cutoff points can bias the results. There is no generally accepted strategy how to choose the best cutoff point. Use of standard cutoff points from previous publications facilitates comparison between studies, but cannot be applied to novel markers or to different protocols [127,p. 461]. Here, one can instead select a cutoff based on the analyzed data such as the value that produced the smallest p-value – an approach that often overestimates the prognostic effect of a marker [128]. Despite numerous potential sources of bias, many prognostic marker studies rely on the p-value alone when judging the prognostic value of a suggested biomarker.

We used statistical package for the social sciences (SPSS) software for Windows (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) and Microsoft Excel (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, USA) to perform all calculations. We quantified inter-observer variability for the different scores by Spearman correlation test, and tested associations between the various variables using Pearson's Chi-square and Fisher's exact test. We used a Mann-Whitney U test for determination of significant morphological differences between HEVs. Univariate Kaplan Meier analysis was carried out to calculate disease-specific death rates and plot disease-specific survival curves. Only statistically significant variables from univariate analyses as estimated by the log rank test were entered into a stepwise forward multiple Cox regression model to identify independent prognostic determinants. We plotted log-minus-log plots to test the validity of the proportional hazards assumption. qPCR amplification efficiency was estimated by linear regression analysis of standard curves derived from serially diluted cDNA. Bivariate correlation analyses and the Pearson correlation coefficient

were used in the quantitative analyses of our systematic literature review. Results were considered significant if P<0.05, and borderline significant if P<0.09.

Summary of papers

Paper I

Characterisation and prognostic value of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma.

Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, Uhlin-Hansen L, Hadler-Olsen E. BMC Clinical Pathology. 2014 Aug 23; 14:38. doi: 10.1186/1472-6890-14-38.

In **Paper I**, we used IHC to investigate the presence of tumor-associated TLSs in whole slide tissue sections from 80 OSCC patients. Some tissue blocks were sectioned at multiple levels to analyze intratumoral distribution of TLSs. We also correlated the presence of TLSs to the patient outcome. TLSs were detected in 17 (21 %) of the 80 OSCC patients, of which about a third remained undetected when analyzing only one level in the tissue block. TLSs were mainly located in the peritumoral stroma close to the invasive margin and were present as clusters of B cells containing FDCs that were surrounded by T cells and HEVs. B-cell aggregates with defined FDC meshwork showed distinct germinal centers (classical TLSs), whereas those with scattered FDCs did not (non-classical TLSs). The presence of TLSs correlated with increased survival rates, but only the T status was an independent prognostic factor.

Paper II

Presence of tumour high-endothelial venules is an independent positive prognostic factor and stratifies patients with advanced-stage oral squamous cell carcinoma.

Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, Uhlin-Hansen L, Hadler-Olsen E. Tumour Biology. 2016 Feb; 37(2):2449-59. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4036-4.

The HEVs identified in the stroma surrounding the tumor cells in **Paper I** formed the background for **Paper II**, which included 75 of the 80 OSCC patients from **Paper I**. We studied both the incidence and morphology of tumor-associated HEVs and analyzed their impact on patient survival. HEVs were present in 91% of the OSCC samples and, if present, were found at multiple levels within a tissue. HEVs displayed a heterogeneous morphology which was related to the inflammatory infiltrate. More specifically, we found HEVs with a thick vessel wall and small lumen in regions with high inflammation, and HEVs with a thinner vessel wall and larger lumen in areas with less infiltrating immune cells. The presence of HEVs was found to be an independent prognostic factor for improved survival of OSCC patients.

Paper III

Presence of high-endothelial venules correlates with a favorable immune microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma.

Wirsing AM, Ervik IK, Seppola M, Uhlin-Hansen L, Steigen SE, Hadler-Olsen E. Modern Pathology. 2018 Feb 7. doi: 10.1038/s41379-018-0019-5.

The results on the presence and morphology of tumor-associated HEVs from **Paper II** indicated a close relationship between HEVs and the OSSC immune microenvironment and formed the basis for this paper. In **Paper III**, we more specifically characterized the inflammatory infiltrate in which HEVs arise with regard to the presence of different immune cell subsets and expression of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. We also explored a possible relationship between HEVs and PD-L1 as well as between PD-L1 and various cellular and molecular components of the OSCC immune infiltrate. Studying the same patient cohort as in **Paper II**, we employed IHC and qPCR, and correlated the results to each other as well as to clinicopathological data and patient survival. HEVs were associated with the infiltration of T- and B cells into the OSCC immune microenvironment and were predictive of an inflamed OSCC phenotype even at a high T stage. T-cell infiltration correlated with a tumor microenvironment rich in immune cells, and was associated with CCL19, CXCL12, and LT β expression. Expression of PD-L1 correlated with increased infiltration of CD4+ cells and small tumor size, but not with the presence of HEVs. HEVs were more powerful prognostic markers than the N stage and the subsets of the immune infiltrate assessed in this study.

Paper IV

Tissue-infiltrating immune cells as prognostic markers in oral squamous cell carcinoma – a systematic review.

Hadler-Olsen E, Wirsing AM. Manuscript submitted for publication.

For **Paper IV**, we systematically searched the literature for prognostic studies on some of the most commonly reported immune cells in OSCC. We also evaluated the completeness of the reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures according to the REMARK guidelines [99, 100]. 1960 hits were identified through our searches, and 33 of them met our inclusion criteria. The study design and conduct of the published articles were very heterogeneous. CD163+ M2 macrophages and CD57+ mature NK cells showed the most promising results for the prediction of OSCC patient survival. The studies often lack important information on how the immunohistochemical assays were performed and analyzed.

Discussion

In this chapter, I will first address some of the key ethical considerations of my research with emphasis on ethical issues regarding the patient cohort. This is followed by an overview of the methodological considerations specific to this thesis. In the last section of this chapter, I will discuss the main findings from **Papers I-IV** and put them in the context of other findings from the literature.

1. Ethical considerations

People suffering from OSCC represent a particularly vulnerable patient group. Surgical resection of the tumor may lead to facial disfigurement, and radiation may cause severe problems with xerostomia, followed by speech- and eating disturbances, pain and dental problems. The often lifelong, treatment-related side effects may lead to stigma, shame and social exclusion of those who survive the disease. This, and the rather low incidence of OSCCs in Western countries, may be part of the reasons why groups representing the interests of OSCC patients are relatively small and may struggle to raise political attention. Today there is still relatively little public awareness of the need to develop new treatment strategies for this patient group compared to other cancer types such as breast and lung cancer. Enhancement of patient participation in research-related activities and popular dissemination of results in patient-focused publications may help to empower these patients and raise awareness for their concerns.

Every research involving human subjects faces ethical and legal requirements. In this thesis, all studies on human material adhered to The Declaration of Helsinki, which was adopted by the World Medical Association in 1964, and last revised in 2013 [129], and represents one of the key ethical guidelines for research with human subjects. Participants in research need to be provided with enough information for reasoned decision-making and be asked to give their consent. This concept is called informed consent and dates back to the Nuremberg Code from 1947 [130, pp. 151-

155]. It has been adopted in a revised version in the Norwegian Act of Patients' Rights from 1999 [131]. By decision from REK, Northern Norway (see appendix), we were obliged to send a letter to the patients with information about the study and the possibility to withdraw. However, we were granted exemption for written informed consent to minimize the burden of a consent process for the patients who were still alive and of high age by the start of the study. This implicated that patients who did not actively withdraw from the study were included. It has to be pointed out that there were no consequences related to participating in this study, and that all clinical data were kept anonymous. Confidentiality of patient information is essential as communication of individual biological data such as risk information may have severe social implications for the patients, e.g. on their rights to insurance or employment [132].

2. Methodological considerations

2.1 Collection of patient data and tissue

The retrospective design of our study has several limitations with regard to the collection of both patient information and tissue material. Patient information has originally been gathered for purposes other than research, and some of the parameters lacked standardized reporting in the patient files. Especially the self-reports on smoking and alcohol consumption should be treated with caution, also because various factors such as the desire to give socially appropriate answers or a perceived lack of confidentiality may affect these data [133]. Some patients in our study missed data on one or more variables which may reduce the power and precision of our results [134].

The study of archived FFPE tissue is an invaluable source to understand disease mechanisms, as it is often well-characterized with histological, pathological and follow-up clinical data. However, it also imposes major methodological challenges that may limit the reliability of results. The workflow from acquisition of the tissue sample to interpretation of the data is complex and comprises numerous pre-

analytical factors related to the collection and fixation of the samples that the researchers cannot influence retrospectively (Figure 6). Inadequate tissue processing may cause loss of antigenicity that negatively affects both histopathologic approaches and downstream analyses [135], as further outlined in sections 2.2 and 2.3 of this chapter.



Figure 6. Workflow of immunohistochemistry (IHC) and qPCR experiments. This figure describes the complex workflow of IHC and qPCR analysis from the collection of the sample to the interpretation of the data. Pre-analytical factors regarding sample collection and fixation are often beyond the control of the researcher, but influence the assays and results.

In 2005, the REMARK guidelines were simultaneously published in different papers to encourage transparent and complete reporting and to improve the quality and usefulness of prognostic marker studies [99]. In 2012, an explanation and elaboration paper was published to accompany the REMARK guidelines [100]. The prognostic marker studies in **Papers I-III** broadly adhere to these guidelines. In 2009, the Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments (MIQE) guidelines were published [136], which outline the minimum information and analyses to include in qPCR experiments.

2.2 Immunohistochemistry

IHC is worldwide the most commonly used technique to study proteins of interest in archival FFPE patient tissue, and is often the method of choice for prognostic marker studies. However, many IHC-related procedures lack standardization of study design and conduct, which limits the reliability of the results and the comparability of biomarker studies [106]. A wide variety of pre-staining conditions such as the type and use of fixatives as well as tissue storage may affect the staining pattern and intensity [106, 137]. This information is however hardly reported in pathological records and was not available in our study. Besides, only precut slides were available in some cases, and these may have had altered immunoreactivity [138, 139].

Antibody validation, as outlined in the method section, is an important prerequisite for the interpretation of IHC results [109]. Most of the staining procedures in our studies have been performed according to standardized protocols at the Diagnostic Clinic - Clinical Pathology, UNN, and have been thoroughly validated for use in clinical routine. The anti-PNAd antibody, however, has so far only been used in research, and has been validated by us as specified in Paper I. We found that a few CD34+ blood vessels but no D2-40+ lymphatic vessels displayed sporadic PNAd positivity in consecutive OSCC tissue sections, indicating high specificity. Antibody specificity was also evaluated from the expected morphology of the positive staining, which in the case of PNAd staining was a vessel-like structure with or without lumen. PNAd-positive single cells were sporadically observed, but were not counted as HEVs. Human lymph nodes always showed positive staining. We used specimens with the primary antibody omitted as negative controls which is debatable as it controls for non-specific binding of the secondary antibody rather than specificity of the primary antibody itself [140]. In conclusion, our tests indicated a good specificity for the PNAd antibody. In case of more non-specific background staining or more staining of single cells, additional specificity testing would have been needed. In this case, including an isotype-specific immunoglobulin or ideally tissue from knockout mice that does not express the protein of interest could have been suitable approaches [109]. We tested the anti-PNAd antibody extensively and found reproducible staining within different batches and assays. Especially in prognostic marker studies, it is recommended to identify the most reproducible among a panel of antibodies against different epitopes of the same target protein [106, 109]. In our study, we detected HEV solely with the anti-PNAd antibody (MECA-79), which appeared to be the only commercially available antibody for our purposes and has been well-described in the literature [141-143].

2.3 Real-time quantitative PCR

Analysis of archival patient tissue has historically been done by studying proteins using immunostaining techniques. Recent advances in the field of molecular research, however, have opened possibilities for genetic analysis of long-term preserved FFPE material. However, differences in sample acquisition as well as tissue processing and storage conditions often make comparison of gene expression data from archival FFPE tissue difficult [144]. For use in qPCR, the RNA quality of formalin-fixed tissue is often highly impaired due to cross-linking with proteins and other chemical modifications [145]. This requires careful controls and optimized procedures as outlined below.

Extraction of high-quality RNA is necessary for successful downstream analysis but can be demanding in the case of formalin-fixed tissue. In our study, the RQI values for the FFPE samples were low but above the cutoff set by the manufacturer of the RNA extraction kit, indicating an acceptable RNA quality. Employing qPCR in quantitative analysis of cytokines is challenging due to their naturally low expression levels [146, 147]. In extensively degraded tissue, amplicons with smaller size can increase the yield of quantifiable mRNA [148-150]. To determine the effect of amplicon size on the reliability of qPCR results, we used short, middle, long and extra-long amplicons for five high and five middle- to low-expressed genes, respectively, and compared quantified gene expression of samples stored in liquid nitrogen with FFPE tissue. Our preliminary data show that amplicons ~60bp RNA yielded best results for quantification of both high and moderate- to low-expression gene transcripts in the FFPE tissue, both with regard to lower Ct values and higher amplification efficiency compared to larger amplicons [151]. Thus, we specifically designed primer sets to amplify short (~60bp) RNA segments within the target sequences.

Appropriate controls as outlined in the methods section are a prerequisite for correct interpretation of qPCR results. Genomic DNA contamination can greatly affect the qPCR signal of genes with low expression levels such as cytokines [146, 147], which is why each run included a control without the reverse transcriptase. We used RNA from frozen (in liquid nitrogen) lymphoid tissue as positive control in all qPCR runs. Compared to fixation with formaldehyde, freezing of tissue samples is considered a much better method to preserve nucleic acids [144]. This is reflected in our study by the three to four-times higher RQI values in the frozen compared to the FFPE samples.

Taken together, the acceptable quality of the extracted RNA as well as the optimized procedures strengthen the reliability of our results. Finally yet importantly, the biological importance of mRNA quantification remains questionable, as mRNA concentrations do not reflect the functional level of a protein [152]. Targeting cytokines at the protein level such as with IHC approaches may however be challenging as soluble, small peptides such as cytokines and chemokines may leak from the tissue [153].

2.4 Systematic literature review

A broad coverage of the published literature is the gold standard for every systematic research and helps to reduce bias in the datasets [154]. Numerous medical databases are available, each with specific scope in the coverage of journals and subjects [155]. As presented in **Paper IV**, we searched the two electronic databases Medline and Embase. Although many systematic reviews rely on Medline alone, searching

Medline in combination with Embase may be beneficial to cover a greater percentage of the available literature [156, 157]. In our study, the combined Embase/Medline search yielded comprehensive results as demonstrated in Figure 7. Embase provided almost twice as many hits as Medline (Figure 7, left). By searching Medline alone, we would have identified about 80% (n=26) of the 33 eligible articles (Figure 7, right). This indicates that more search hits did not necessarily mean many more relevant records, and that the additional value of employing the Embase database is marginal.



Figure 7. Venn diagrams showing the difference between hits retrieved (left) and articles fulfilling the eligibility criteria (right) from searching the Embase and Medline databases as presented in Paper IV. Overlap demonstrates duplicate records. * one article was retrieved through a review article. Figure made using www.meta-chart.com.

No search can identify all relevant articles. Articles with imprecise or uninformative abstracts and titles often lack adequate indexing in the databases [125] and may have been missed in our searches. Due to practical reasons, we excluded articles in languages other than English although this has been found to decrease the precision of study results [158]. Whereas narrow inclusion criteria impose the risk of excluding potentially relevant articles, defining broader criteria may increase the heterogeneity among the identified studies [154]. Due to the lack of standardized terminology for

oral cancer in the literature, we used relatively broad search criteria to identify publications on OSCC. This resulted however in a great amount of studies on head and neck cancers without specification of anatomical sites, as awareness of subsitespecific characteristics has only recently increased among researchers.

Due to the high heterogeneity of the studies and lack of reporting of statistical variables, we decided to not perform meta-analyses. Instead, we interpreted our results from the number of studies with highest statistical significance or largest "effect on survival", a quasi-quantitative approach which is poorly validated [119] and which may have biased our results as specified in the following section. More detailed reporting of the statistical data and the study conduct in general may help to facilitate data retrieval and synthesize the numerous published biomarker studies [106, 159].

2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical tests are often misused or misinterpreted. There are many potential sources of bias in statistical analysis such as the size of the patient cohort [126]. In our study, non-significant results may have turned out to be statistically significant if the group size had been larger. Dividing cohorts in subgroups with critically small size may impair the validity of results from multivariate analysis. As a rule of thumb, a minimum of 10 events per variable should be used to assure reliable modeling in multivariate analysis [160]. In our study, the HEV-negative group comprised only seven patients which limits the quality of our results and calls for reevaluation in a larger cohort with more HEV-negative patients.

Cutoff values are another potential source of bias in statistical analysis. Our cutoff values were based on the median or mean of positively stained cells which increases the reproducibility of the scoring method and avoids bias in the datasets [100, 106]. Categorization of continuous variables, as used in our study, generally simplifies analyses, but is associated with loss of information, especially for dichotomized variables [100]. It is important to note that our cutoff points are data-dependent and

may be difficult to translate into a clinical setting. Finally yet importantly, discriminating patients into prognostic categories defined by cutoffs of a continuous prognostic factor only allows for superficial prognosis of individual patient outcome [161].

The usefulness of the widely implemented p-value has been extensively debated in the scientific community [126, 162, 163]. Despite being the dominant approach in many biomarker studies, leaning on the statistical significance of the p-value alone may be insufficient to measure the effect size or importance of a result [106, 159]. In the systematic review presented in **Paper IV**, we therefore based our conclusions on the "effect on survival" of a marker rather than its statistical significance. Only considering reported effect statistics such as the relative risk may have allowed for better comparison between the studies [163], but would have been impractical due to lack of reporting of these data in most of the studies. Replacing current statistical methods with approaches that more directly address the effect size of a parameter, along with complete reporting of study design and conduct, may help to avoid poordecision making based on false conclusions and may promote good statistical and scientific practice [126, 162].

3. Discussion of main findings

It is generally accepted that the host immune system plays an important role in cancer development. Stromal cells surrounding the tumor crosstalk with cancer cells, and upon stimuli initiate an immune reaction that either prevents or promotes tumor growth and spread [164]. Significant effort has been directed towards understanding the roles of the cellular and molecular components that form the tumor microenvironment in OSCC, both with regard to their potential as prognostic markers and as tools for immunomodulatory therapies [1, 54, 165].

Development of TLSs has been extensively studied in chronic inflammatory diseases, where these structures are believed to contribute to disease progression

[79]. Only recently, TLSs have been acknowledged as a common feature in many human solid cancers, where they are often associated with prolonged patient survival [86, 166]. Accordingly, we detected TLSs in the tumor stroma of 21% of the 80 OSCC patient samples and found that the presence of these structures was associated with improved survival. It is widely recognized that the host can develop spontaneous immune responses against a tumor [49], and TLSs have been suggested to be responsible for orchestrating effective anti-tumor responses [167]. Thus, we suggest that the association with survival benefits in our patient cohort may be due to the ability of TLSs to generate local tumor-suppressive reactions in OSCC. Studies describing an independent effect for TLSs are scarce [168]. Also, in our Norwegian OSCC cohort, TLSs were found not to be independent prognostic markers. It has been speculated that TLSs simply support CD8+ T cell effector activity rather than exerting independent effects on patient survival [86]. Indeed, patients with an inflamed T-cell tumor microenvironment have been shown to have a better outcome and response to treatment despite the advanced disease [71, 72], and head and neck cancers are mostly of the 'inflamed' phenotype [73]. In our OSCC cohort, almost three-quarters of the tumors were highly infiltrated with CD3+ T cells, which again correlated with a tumor microenvironment rich in immune cells and inflammatory cytokines. However, neither the results from our Norwegian OSCC cohort nor the findings from our literature review indicated a strong positive prognostic effect for T cells in OSCC. It has however to be noted that many different T cell subsets with distinct functional properties exist, of which some have been shown to be functionally exhausted [74].

B cells can differentiate into antibody-producing plasma cells and have the potential to generate long-term T-cell antitumor responses [169]. We found that high infiltration of CD20+ B cells, as detected in 57% of our OSCC patients, was associated with increased survival rates. Pronounced CD20+ B-cell aggregates were also a characteristic feature of TLSs in our OSCC cohort. TLSs with distinct organizational levels have been described in the literature, from rudimentary B-cell

aggregates to fully developed structures with germinal centers [86]. We identified two distinct TLS phenotypes, whereof classical TLSs indeed presented all cells needed to generate a functional immune response. In classical TLSs, the CD20+ Bcell zones were found to comprise a network of CD21+ FDCs as well as Bcl6+ germinal center B cells, indicating sites for ongoing humoral response. However, functional studies are needed to elucidate whether TLSs are in fact sites for tumorspecific antibody production in our OSCC cohort. It would also be interesting to study the functional properties of the classical and non-classical TLS phenotypes found in our OSCC cohort. Our results indicate that the so-called non-classical phenotype may rather be a methodological artefact, as some TLSs classified as nonclassical on one tissue level presented a classical pattern on another tissue level and vice versa. Detection of TLSs needed careful analysis, and inhomogeneous distribution of TLSs within the tumors increases the chance of false-negative results. To date, there is no standardized approach for the evaluation of the presence of tumor-associated TLSs. Developing common guidelines may help to synthesize future research, and shed light into the role of TLSs in cancer. Likewise, more and larger studies are needed to conclude about the prognostic value of CD20+ B cells, which are commonly understudied in OSCC.

In contrast, many studies assessing the prognostic value of CD68+ macrophages exist, although with conflicting results. Whereas high infiltration of CD68+ macrophages is in the literature mostly associated with decreased survival, we found an association with increased survival in our Norwegian OSCC cohort. However, the pan-macrophage marker CD68 does not differentiate between individual macrophage subtypes with distinct functionality. Although tumor-associated macrophages are often directed towards the tumor-supporting M2 phenotype [64, 65], it might be that many macrophages found in the tumor stroma of our OSCC cohort are M1 macrophages with tumor-suppressive functions. More consistent findings in the literature are reported for CD163+ M2 macrophages and CD57+ mature NK cells, of which high numbers were associated with lower and higher survival rates, respectively. However, most of the studies were carried out in East-Asian patient cohorts, and differences such as in exposure to risk factors may limit the comparability of results derived from these cohorts to others. We demonstrated that most of the publications on biomarkers in OSCC lacked important information on how the studies were designed and conducted which limit the reliability and comparability of these results. Encouraging authors, editors and reviewers to enhance the transparency and completeness of reporting may improve the quality of biomarker studies and help to facilitate clinical implementation of individual markers.

Based on the immune cells assessed and variables included in our Norwegian OSCC cohort, we found that HEVs had superior prognostic value to the N stage and other components of the immune infiltrate. HEVs are specialized blood vessels that have been suggested to promote antitumor immunity in a variety of solid cancers through facilitating lymphocyte recruitment to the tumor site [89]. We found tumorassociated HEVs in 91% of the 75 OSCC samples, and their presence independently predicted improved patient outcome. HEVs were associated with an inflamed immune microenvironment both in early and advanced disease. The absence of HEVs in large tumors predicted lower survival compared to HEV-positive tumors of the same size. Thus, one can speculate that patients with HEV-negative, large tumors might benefit from more rigorous treatment. We showed a correlation between HEVs and high expression of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines as well as high influx of B and T cells, indicating that HEVs may be main gates for lymphocytes into the OSCC microenvironment. It is important to note here that the HEV-negative group was relatively small (n=7) which limits the reliability of our results. Besides its prognostic value, a good biomarker needs to exhibit clinical usefulness in terms of feasibility and reliability of immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures [106]. HEVs were evenly distributed within the tumors,

suggesting that these vessels can be reliably detected on a single tissue level. Moreover, HEV detection is easy and only requires a single staining, indicating that implementation in diagnostic routine may be straightforward.

Our findings suggest a tumor-suppressive role for TLSs and HEVs in OSCC tumorigenesis. Both seem to develop early during OSCC progression, and some of the advanced tumors may have found ways to escape immune surveillance by disrupting the mechanisms that induce and stabilize TLSs and HEVs. HEV morphology has earlier been found to be highly versatile, depending on stimuli from the surrounding microenvironment [170]. We found HEVs resembling an immature phenotype with a relatively larger lumen and thinner vessel wall to be surrounded by fewer lymphocytes than those with the more mature morphology of a plump endothelial lining and a small lumen. Remodeling of HEVs from lymphocyte- to blood-carrying vessels has been associated with poor prognosis [92, 93] and HEVs with an immature phenotype may be in the process of differentiation or dedifferentiation from/to normal blood vessels. Analyzing individual HEV subsets and their surroundings may give important clues to how HEVs can be induced and maintained as the tumor progresses. We did not find an association between HEVs and the presence of dendritic cells or between HEV-positive tumors and LT β gene expression, although these parameters have shown key regulatory functions for HEV development and stabilization in other works [95].

Despite being generally rich in immune cells, many head and neck cancers have developed mechanisms that suppress the apparent immune response [66]. Cells expressing PD-L1 may impair effector T-cell functions, and blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway has shown promising results in many cancers including OSCC [77, 78, 171-173]. Knowledge about the prevalence and prognostic value of PD-L1 expression in OSCC is limited [75, 174], and we found no correlation between PD-L1-expressing tumor cells and patient survival. However, we observed an association between PD-L1 expression and high numbers of stromal CD4+ T cells

as well as CD8+ cytotoxic T cells and a number of inflammatory cytokines including IFN-y. Cytotoxic T cells can induce PD-L1 expression in an IFN-y-dependent manner, and the suggested negative feedback mechanism for PD-L1 in the preexisting T-cell inflamed microenvironment [175, 176] may also be effective in the OSCC immune infiltrate. Our findings do not indicate a strong relationship between HEVs and PD-L1. Interestingly, OSCCs with high T stage, and particularly the HEV-positive ones, expressed lower PD-L1, suggesting that these tumors may have found ways to overcome PD-L1-mediated immunosurveillance despite tumor progression. Not all patients seem to benefit equally from PD-1/PD-L1 blockade therapy, and one can speculate that patients with T1/T2 tumors or HEV-negative T3/T4 tumors may be better responders. High PD-L1 expression correlated to an immature dendritic cell phenotype in lung cancer [177], and one could hypothesize that blocking PD-L1 may promote dendritic cell maturation which may again help to induce and stabilize HEVs. Likewise, it would be interesting to study the effect of PD-1/PD-L1 blockade on TLS formation and functionality. Indeed, absence of PD-1-signaling in mice has been shown to result in increased death of germinal center B cells, suggesting a role for this pathway in B-cell response [178]. There are still many unknown factors related to new-generation immunotherapies, and the highly adaptive and heterogeneous nature of the tumor microenvironment impedes direct targeting of individual components of the immune infiltrate [165]. A better understanding of the OSCC tumor microenvironment and how different components interact with each other and with the cancer cells may open for new therapeutic strategies to modulate antitumor immunity.

Conclusions and perspective

Based on the findings from our Norwegian OSCC patient cohort, we conclude that TLSs form in OSCC. The presence of these structures is associated with increased survival rates, but is not an independent prognostic factor. The inhomogeneous intratumoral distribution of TLSs along with their laborious detection limits the clinical usefulness of these structures. HEVs are found in relation to TLSs as well as independent from these structures, and appear in different phenotypes. The presence of HEVs is an independent prognostic marker for improved survival. Detection and scoring of HEVs is simple and reliable and could be easily used in clinical routine. Both early and advanced HEV-positive tumors are associated with high infiltration of T- and B lymphocytes, and with high expression of CCL19, CCL21, and CXCL12. T-cell infiltration correlates with high infiltration of a number of other immune cells as well as CCL19, CXCL12 as well as with $LT\beta$ expression. PD-L1 expression correlates with CD4+ T cells and small tumor size, but not with the presence of HEVs. High expression of CD20+ B cells and CD68+ macrophages are associated with improved patient survival, but are no independent prognostic markers. Based on the findings from our review, high expression of CD163+ M2 macrophages and CD57+ mature NK cells are promising prognostic markers for OSCC patients. Reporting of methods and data was found to be often incomplete in prognostic marker studies, which limits the usefulness of these studies.

We cannot draw any strong conclusions on the prognostic relevance of the markers identified in our literature review since important information is often missing. Thus, their prognostic value needs to be verified in larger and more standardized studies adhering to best-practice guidelines. Likewise, the reliability of the findings from our Norwegian OSCC patient cohort is limited by the small sample size and calls for verification of our results in larger studies. We are currently establishing a nationwide multicenter study with more than 500 OSCC patients. A next step will be to analyze the large cohort for promising prognostic markers identified in this

thesis. In addition, it would be interesting to study regulatory mechanisms of the immune microenvironment in functional studies, where we can follow the development of the tumor microenvironment during cancer progression. We are currently establishing a mouse model where we induce OSCC development by adding the carcinogen 4-nitroquinoline-1-oxide to the drinking water. This method is well-described in the literature [179-181] and gives predictable development of OSCC in the oral cavity via pre-malignant mucosal lesions.

Bibliography

- 1. Leemans, C.R., P.J. Snijders, and R.H. Brakenhoff, *The molecular landscape of head and neck cancer*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2018.
- 2. Barnes L., et al. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours. Pathology and Genetics of Head and Neck Tumours. IARC Press: Lyon 2005, p. 164-175.
- 3. Warnakulasuriya, S., *Global epidemiology of oral and oropharyngeal cancer*. Oral Oncology, 2009. **45**(4): p. 309-316.
- Shield, K.D., et al., *The global incidence of lip, oral cavity, and pharyngeal cancers by subsite in 2012.* CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 2017. 67(1): p. 51-64.
- 5. Cancer Registry of Norway. *Cancer in Norway 2016 Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway.* Oslo: Cancer Registry of Norway. 2017.
- 6. Chaturvedi, A.K., et al., *Worldwide trends in incidence rates for oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2013. **31**(36): p. 4550.
- 7. Talamini, R., et al., *The role of alcohol in oral and pharyngeal cancer in non-smokers, and of tobacco in non-drinkers*. International Journal of Cancer, 1990. **46**(3): p. 391-393.
- 8. Franceschi, S., et al., *Comparison of the effect of smoking and alcohol drinking between oral and pharyngeal cancer*. International Journal of Cancer, 1999. **83**(1): p. 1-4.
- 9. Petti, S., *Lifestyle risk factors for oral cancer*. Oral Oncology, 2009. **45**(4): p. 340-350.
- 10. Bravi, F., et al., *Foods, nutrients and the risk of oral and pharyngeal cancer.* British Journal of Cancer, 2013. **109**(11): p. 2904.
- 11. Guha, N., et al., Oral health and risk of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck and esophagus: results of two multicentric case-control studies. American Journal of Epidemiology, 2007. **166**(10): p. 1159-1173.
- 12. Marur, S., et al., *HPV-associated head and neck cancer: a virus-related cancer epidemic.* The Lancet Oncology, 2010. **11**(8): p. 781-789.
- 13. Ang, K.K., et al., *Human papillomavirus and survival of patients with oropharyngeal cancer*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2010. **363**(1): p. 24-35.
- 14. Castellsagué, X., et al., *HPV involvement in head and neck cancers: comprehensive assessment of biomarkers in 3680 patients.* JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 2016. **108**(6).
- 15. De Angelis, R., et al., *Cancer survival in Europe 1999–2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE-5—a population-based study.* The Lancet Oncology, 2014. **15**(1): p. 23-34.

- 16. Bjerkli, I.H. et al., *A retrospective study of oral squamous cell carcinomas in a Norwegian population*. Manuscript in preparation.
- Choi, S. and J. Myers, Molecular pathogenesis of oral squamous cell carcinoma: implications for therapy. Journal of Dental Research, 2008. 87(1): p. 14-32.
- 18. Neville, B.W. and T.A. Day, *Oral cancer and precancerous lesions*. CA: A Cancer journal for Clinicians, 2002. **52**(4): p. 195-215.
- 19. Sonis, S.T. and E.G. Fey, *Oral complications of cancer therapy*. Oncology, 2002. **16**(5): p. 680-685.
- Chaukar, D.A., et al., *Quality of life in head and neck cancer survivors: a cross-sectional survey*. American Journal of Otolaryngology, 2009. 30(3): p. 176-180.
- 21. Leemans, C.R., et al., *Recurrence at the primary site in head and neck cancer and the significance of neck lymph node metastases as a prognostic factor*. Cancer, 1994. **73**(1): p. 187-190.
- 22. Slaughter, D.P., H.W. Southwick, and W. Smejkal, "Field cancerization" in oral stratified squamous epithelium. Clinical implications of multicentric origin. Cancer, 1953. 6(5): p. 963-968.
- 23. Day, G.L. and W.J. Blot, Second primary tumors in patients with oral cancer. Cancer, 1992. **70**(1): p. 14-19.
- 24. Gospodarowicz, M.K., J.D. Brierley, and C. Wittekind, *TNM classification of malignant tumours*. 2017: John Wiley & Sons. p. 18-21.
- 25. O'Sullivan, B., et al., *Development and validation of a staging system for HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer by the International Collaboration on Oropharyngeal cancer Network for Staging (ICON-S): a multicentre cohort study.* The Lancet Oncology, 2016. **17**(4): p. 440-451.
- 26. Haughey, B., et al., *Pathology-based staging for HPV-positive squamous carcinoma of the oropharynx*. Oral Oncology, 2016. **62**: p. 11-19.
- Ebrahimi, A., et al., Primary tumor staging for oral cancer and a proposed modification incorporating depth of invasion: an international multicenter retrospective study. JAMA Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery, 2014. 140(12): p. 1138-1148.
- 28. Maxwell, J.H., et al., *Extracapsular spread in head and neck carcinoma: impact of site and human papillomavirus status.* Cancer, 2013. **119**(18): p. 3302-3308.
- 29. Fleming, I.D., et al., *AJCC Cancer staging manual. 5th ed.* Philadelphia, New York: Lippincott-Raven, 1997: p. 24-30.
- 30. Liao, C.T., et al., *Analysis of risk factors for distant metastases in squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity.* Cancer, 2007. **110**(7): p. 1501-1508.
- 31. Calhoun, K.H., et al., *Distant metastases from head and neck squamous cell carcinomas*. The Laryngoscope, 1994. **104**(10): p. 1199-1205.

- 32. Bryne, M., et al., *Reproducibility of two malignancy grading systems with reportedly prognostic value for oral cancer patients*. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine, 1991. **20**(8): p. 369-372.
- 33. Brandwein-Gensler, M., et al., Oral squamous cell carcinoma: histologic risk assessment, but not margin status, is strongly predictive of local disease-free and overall survival. The American Journal of Surgical Pathology, 2005. **29**(2): p. 167-178.
- 34. Jakobsson, P., et al., *Histologic classification and grading of malignancy in carcinoma of the larynx*. Acta Radiologica: Therapy, Physics, Biology, 1973. **12**(1): p. 1-8.
- 35. Anneroth, G., J. Batsakis, and M. Luna, *Review of the literature and a recommended system of malignancy grading in oral squamous cell carcinomas.* European Journal of Oral Sciences, 1987. **95**(3): p. 229-249.
- 36. Bryne, M., et al., *Malignancy grading of the deep invasive margins of oral squamous cell carcinomas has high prognostic value*. The Journal of Pathology, 1992. **166**(4): p. 375-381.
- 37. Vila, C.N., et al., Squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity: a clinicopathologic scoring system for evaluating risk of cervical lymph node metastasis. The Laryngoscope, 1995. **105**(7): p. 728-733.
- 38. Brandwein-Gensler, M., et al., *Validation of the histologic risk model in a new cohort of patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma*. The American Journal of Surgical Pathology, 2010. **34**(5): p. 676-688.
- 39. Rodrigues, P., et al., *Clinicopathological prognostic factors of oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma: a retrospective study of 202 cases.* International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, 2014. **43**(7): p. 795-801.
- 40. Almangush, A., et al., *Depth of invasion, tumor budding, and worst pattern of invasion: Prognostic indicators in early-stage oral tongue cancer.* Head & Neck, 2014. **36**(6): p. 811-818.
- 41. Wang, C., et al., *Tumor budding correlates with poor prognosis and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in tongue squamous cell carcinoma.* Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine, 2011. **40**(7): p. 545-551.
- 42. Bankfalvi, A. and J. Piffko, *Prognostic and predictive factors in oral cancer: the role of the invasive tumour front.* Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine, 2000. **29**(7): p. 291-298.
- 43. Group, B.D.W., et al., *Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework*. Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 2001. **69**(3): p. 89-95.
- 44. Ptolemy, A.S. and N. Rifai, *What is a biomarker? Research investments and lack of clinical integration necessitate a review of biomarker terminology and validation schema.* Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation, 2010. **70**(sup242): p. 6-14.

- 45. Wang, Y., et al., *Detection of somatic mutations and HPV in the saliva and plasma of patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinomas.* Science Translational Medicine, 2015. **7**(293): p. 293ra104-293ra104.
- 46. Braakhuis, B., et al., *Expression signature in peripheral blood cells for molecular diagnosis of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma*. Oral Diseases, 2013. **19**(5): p. 452-455.
- 47. Principe, S., et al., *Tumor-derived exosomes and microvesicles in head and neck cancer: Implications for tumor biology and biomarker discovery*. Proteomics, 2013. **13**(10-11): p. 1608-1623.
- 48. Diamandis, E.P., *The failure of protein cancer biomarkers to reach the clinic: why, and what can be done to address the problem?* BMC Medicine, 2012. **10**(1): p. 87.
- 49. Schreiber, R.D., L.J. Old, and M.J. Smyth, *Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion.* Science, 2011. **331**(6024): p. 1565-1570.
- 50. De Visser, K.E., A. Eichten, and L.M. Coussens, *Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2006. **6**(1): p. 24.
- 51. Balkwill, F. and A. Mantovani, *Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow?* The Lancet, 2001. **357**(9255): p. 539-545.
- 52. Coussens, L.M. and Z. Werb, *Inflammation and cancer*. Nature, 2002. **420**(6917): p. 860.
- 53. Colotta, F., et al., *Cancer-related inflammation, the seventh hallmark of cancer: links to genetic instability.* Carcinogenesis, 2009. **30**(7): p. 1073-1081.
- 54. Ferris, R.L., *Immunology and immunotherapy of head and neck cancer*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2015. **33**(29): p. 3293.
- 55. Whiteside, T., *The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth*. Oncogene, 2008. **27**(45): p. 5904.
- 56. Tlsty, T.D. and L.M. Coussens, *Tumor stroma and regulation of cancer development*. Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease, 2006.
 1: p. 119-150.
- 57. Wilson, J. and F. Balkwill. *The role of cytokines in the epithelial cancer microenvironment.* in *Seminars in cancer biology.* 2002. Elsevier.
- 58. Balkwill, F., *Cancer and the chemokine network*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2004. **4**(7): p. 540.
- 59. Dunn, G.P., L.J. Old, and R.D. Schreiber, *The three Es of cancer immunoediting*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2004. **22**: p. 329-360.
- 60. Fridman, W.H., et al., *The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2012. **12**(4): p. nrc3245.
- Gabrilovich, D.I., S. Ostrand-Rosenberg, and V. Bronte, *Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2012. 12(4): p. 253.

- 62. den Haan, J.M., R. Arens, and M.C. van Zelm, *The activation of the adaptive immune system: cross-talk between antigen-presenting cells, T cells and B cells.* Immunology Letters, 2014. **162**(2): p. 103-112.
- 63. Ruffell, B., et al., *Lymphocytes in cancer development: polarization towards pro-tumor immunity*. Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews, 2010. **21**(1): p. 3-10.
- 64. Mosser, D.M. and J.P. Edwards, *Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2008. **8**(12): p. 958.
- 65. Lewis, C. and C. Murdoch, *Macrophage responses to hypoxia: implications for tumor progression and anti-cancer therapies.* The American Journal of Pathology, 2005. **167**(3): p. 627-635.
- 66. Mandal, R., et al., *The head and neck cancer immune landscape and its immunotherapeutic implications*. JCI Insight, 2016. **1**(17): p. e89829.
- 67. Tong, C.C., J. Kao, and A.G. Sikora, *Recognizing and reversing the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment of head and neck cancer*. Immunologic Research, 2012. **54**(1-3): p. 266-274.
- 68. Koontongkaew, S., *The tumor microenvironment contribution to development, growth, invasion and metastasis of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas.* Journal of Cancer, 2013. **4**(1): p. 66.
- 69. Quail, D.F. and J.A. Joyce, *Microenvironmental regulation of tumor* progression and metastasis. Nature Medicine, 2013. **19**(11): p. 1423.
- 70. Pages, F., et al., *Immune infiltration in human tumors: a prognostic factor that should not be ignored.* Oncogene, 2010. **29**(8): p. 1093.
- 71. Gajewski, T.F. *The next hurdle in cancer immunotherapy: Overcoming the non–T-cell–inflamed tumor microenvironment.* in *Seminars in Oncology.* 2015. Elsevier.
- Woo, S.-R., L. Corrales, and T.F. Gajewski, *The STING pathway and the T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment*. Trends in Immunology, 2015. 36(4): p. 250-256.
- 73. Mandal, R., et al., *The head and neck cancer immune landscape and its immunotherapeutic implications*. JCI Insight, 2016. **1**(17).
- 74. Crespo, J., et al., *T cell anergy, exhaustion, senescence, and stemness in the tumor microenvironment*. Current Opinion in Immunology, 2013. **25**(2): p. 214-221.
- 75. Zandberg, D.P. and S.E. Strome, *The role of the PD-L1: PD-1 pathway in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck*. Oral Oncology, 2014. **50**(7): p. 627-632.
- 76. Keir, M.E., et al., *PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2008. **26**: p. 677-704.
- 77. Ferris, R.L., et al., *Nivolumab for recurrent squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2016. **375**(19): p. 1856-1867.

- 78. Seiwert, T.Y., et al., Safety and clinical activity of pembrolizumab for treatment of recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (KEYNOTE-012): an open-label, multicentre, phase 1b trial. The Lancet Oncology, 2016. **17**(7): p. 956-965.
- 79. Aloisi, F. and R. Pujol-Borrell, *Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic inflammatory diseases*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2006. **6**(3): p. 205.
- 80. Drayton, D.L., et al., *Lymphoid organ development: from ontogeny to neogenesis*. Nature Immunology, 2006. **7**(4): p. 344.
- 81. Kratz, A., et al., *Chronic inflammation caused by lymphotoxin is lymphoid neogenesis*. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1996. **183**(4): p. 1461-1472.
- 82. Cupedo, T. and R.E. Mebius. *Role of chemokines in the development of secondary and tertiary lymphoid tissues.* in *Seminars in Immunology.* 2003. Elsevier.
- 83. Dieu-Nosjean, M.-C., et al., *Tertiary lymphoid structures in cancer and beyond*. Trends in Immunology, 2014. **35**(11): p. 571-580.
- 84. Hiraoka, N., Y. Ino, and R. Yamazaki-Itoh, *Tertiary lymphoid organs in cancer tissues*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2016. 7: p. 244.
- 85. Neyt, K., et al., *Tertiary lymphoid organs in infection and autoimmunity*. Trends in Immunology, 2012. **33**(6): p. 297-305.
- 86. Engelhard, V.H., et al., *Immune Cell Infiltration and Tertiary Lymphoid Structures as Determinants of Antitumor Immunity*. The Journal of Immunology, 2018. **200**(2): p. 432-442.
- 87. Girard, J.-P. and T.A. Springer, *High endothelial venules (HEVs): specialized endothelium for lymphocyte migration.* Immunology Today, 1995. **16**(9): p. 449-457.
- 88. Veerman, K.M., F. Lafouresse, and J.-P. Girard, *Tumor High Endothelial Venules and Lymphocyte Trafficking*, in *Molecular Mechanisms of Angiogenesis*. 2014, Springer. p. 339-352.
- 89. Ager, A. and M.J. May, *Understanding high endothelial venules: lessons for cancer immunology*. Oncoimmunology, 2015. **4**(6): p. e1008791.
- 90. Anderson, N., A. Anderson, and R. Wyllie, *Specialized structure and metabolic activities of high endothelial venules in rat lymphatic tissues*. Immunology, 1976. **31**(3): p. 455.
- Hendriks, H.R., A.M. Duijvestijn, and G. Kraal, *Rapid decrease in lymphocyte adherence to high endothelial venules in lymph nodes deprived of afferent lymphatic vessels*. European Journal of Immunology, 1987. 17(12): p. 1691-1695.
- 92. Lee, S.Y., et al., *Changes in specialized blood vessels in lymph nodes and their role in cancer metastasis.* Journal of Translational Medicine, 2012. **10**(1): p. 206.
- 93. Qian, C.-N., et al., *Preparing the "soil": the primary tumor induces* vasculature reorganization in the sentinel lymph node before the arrival of metastatic cancer cells. Cancer Research, 2006. **66**(21): p. 10365-10376.

- 94. Browning, J.L., et al., Lymphotoxin-β receptor signaling is required for the homeostatic control of HEV differentiation and function. Immunity, 2005. 23(5): p. 539-550.
- 95. Moussion, C. and J.-P. Girard, *Dendritic cells control lymphocyte entry to lymph nodes through high endothelial venules*. Nature, 2011. **479**(7374): p. 542.
- 96. Martinet, L. and J.-P. Girard, *Regulation of tumor-associated highendothelial venules by dendritic cells: A new opportunity to promote lymphocyte infiltration into breast cancer?* Oncoimmunology, 2013. **2**(11): p. e26470.
- 97. Allen, E., R. Missiaen, and G. Bergers, *Therapeutic induction of high* endothelial venules (*HEVs*) to enhance *T*-cell infiltration in tumors. Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(59): p. 99207.
- 98. He, B., et al., Vascular targeting of LIGHT normalizes blood vessels in primary brain cancer and induces intratumoural high endothelial venules. The Journal of Pathology, 2018. **245**(2): p. 209-221.
- 99. McShane, L.M., et al., *REporting recommendations for tumour MARKer* prognostic studies (*REMARK*). European Journal of Cancer, 2005. **41**(12): p. 1690-1696.
- 100. Altman, D.G., et al., *Reporting recommendations for tumor marker prognostic studies (REMARK): explanation and elaboration.* BMC Medicine, 2012. **10**(1): p. 51.
- 101. Rikardsen, O.G., et al., *Clinicopathological characteristics of oral squamous cell carcinoma in Northern Norway: a retrospective study.* BMC Oral Health, 2014. **14**(1): p. 103.
- 102. Beahrs, O.H. and M.H. Myers, *Manual for staging of cancer. 2nd ed.* Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott, 1983: p. 27-32.
- 103. Beahrs, O.H., et al., *Manual for staging of cancer. 3rd ed.* Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott, 1988: p. 27-32.
- 104. Beahrs, O.H., et al., *Manual for staging of cancer. 4th ed.* Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott, 1992: p. 25-30.
- 105. Zini, A., R. Czerninski, and H.D. Sgan-Cohen, Oral cancer over four decades: epidemiology, trends, histology, and survival by anatomical sites. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine, 2010. 39(4): p. 299-305.
- 106. Søland, T.M. and I.J. Brusevold, *Prognostic molecular markers in cancer-quo vadis?* Histopathology, 2013. **63**(3): p. 297-308.
- 107. Ramqvist, T. and T. Dalianis, *Oropharyngeal cancer epidemic and human papillomavirus*. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 2010. **16**(11): p. 1671.
- Ackerman, L.V., Verrucous carcinoma of the oral cavity. Surgery, 1948.
 23(4): p. 670-678.
- 109. Bordeaux, J., et al., *Antibody validation*. Biotechniques, 2010. **48**(3): p. 197.

- 110. Lipman, N.S., et al., Monoclonal versus polyclonal antibodies: distinguishing characteristics, applications, and information resources. ILAR Journal, 2005. 46(3): p. 258-268.
- 111. Webster, J. and R. Dunstan, *Whole-slide imaging and automated image analysis: considerations and opportunities in the practice of pathology*. Veterinary Pathology, 2014. **51**(1): p. 211-223.
- 112. Landolt, L., et al., *RNA extraction for RNA sequencing of archival renal tissues.* Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation, 2016. **76**(5): p. 426-434.
- 113. Abramovitz, M., et al., *Optimization of RNA extraction from FFPE tissues* for expression profiling in the DASL assay. Biotechniques, 2008. **44**(3): p. 417.
- 114. Denisov, V., et al., Development and validation of RQI: an RNA quality indicator for the Experion automated electrophoresis system. Bio-Rad Bulletin, 2008. **5761**.
- 115. Fleige, S. and M.W. Pfaffl, *RNA integrity and the effect on the real-time qRT-PCR performance*. Molecular Aspects of Medicine, 2006. **27**(2-3): p. 126-139.
- 116. Rentoft, M., et al., Tubulin α-6 chain is a stably expressed reference gene in archival samples of normal oral tissue and oral squamous cell carcinoma. Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine, 2010. 1(3): p. 419-423.
- 117. Vandesompele, J., et al., *Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes.* Genome Biology, 2002. **3**(7): p. research0034. 1.
- 118. Livak, K.J. and T.D. Schmittgen, Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta CT$ method. Methods, 2001. **25**(4): p. 402-408.
- 119. Moher, D., et al., *Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses: the PRISMA statement*. PLoS Medicine, 2009. **6**(7): p. e1000097.
- 120. Moher, D., et al., *Epidemiology and reporting characteristics of systematic reviews*. PLoS Medicine, 2007. **4**(3): p. e78.
- 121. Dickersin, K. and Y.I. MIN, *Publication bias: the problem that won't go away*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1993. **703**(1): p. 135-148.
- 122. Fanelli, D., *Negative results are disappearing from most disciplines and countries.* Scientometrics, 2012. **90**(3): p. 891-904.
- 123. Kyzas, P.A., D. Denaxa-Kyza, and J.P. Ioannidis, *Almost all articles on cancer prognostic markers report statistically significant results*. European Journal of Cancer, 2007. **43**(17): p. 2559-2579.
- 124. Jadad, A. and H. McQuay, *Searching the literature. Be systematic in your searching.* BMJ: British Medical Journal, 1993. **307**(6895): p. 66.

- 125. Dickersin, K., R. Scherer, and C. Lefebvre, *Identifying relevant studies for systematic reviews*. BMJ: British Medical Journal, 1994. **309**(6964): p. 1286.
- 126. Greenland, S., et al., *Statistical tests, P values, confidence intervals, and power: a guide to misinterpretations.* European Journal of Epidemiology, 2016. **31**(4): p. 337-350.
- 127. Kirkwood, B.R. and J.A. Sterne, *Essential medical statistics*. 2010: John Wiley & Sons.
- 128. Leeflang, M.M., et al., *Bias in sensitivity and specificity caused by datadriven selection of optimal cutoff values: mechanisms, magnitude, and solutions.* Clinical Chemistry, 2008. **54**(4): p. 729-737.
- 129. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. Journal of the American Medical Association, 2013. **310**(20): p. 2191-4.
- 130. Faden, R.R. and T.L. Beauchamp, *A history and theory of informed consent*. 1986: Oxford University Press.
- 131. Syse, A., Norway: valid (as opposed to informed) consent. The Lancet, 2000. **356**(9238): p. 1347-1348.
- 132. Schulte, P. and M.H. Sweeney, *Ethical considerations, confidentiality issues, rights of human subjects, and uses of monitoring data in research and regulation.* Environmental Health Perspectives, 1995. **103**(Suppl 3): p. 69.
- 133. Brener, N.D., J.O.G. Billy, and W.R. Grady, Assessment of factors affecting the validity of self-reported health-risk behavior among adolescents: evidence from the scientific literature. Journal of Adolescent Health. 33(6): p. 436-457.
- 134. Sterne, J.A., et al., *Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls.* BMJ, 2009. **338**: p. b2393.
- 135. Xie, R., et al., *Factors influencing the degradation of archival formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue sections*. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 2011. **59**(4): p. 356-365.
- 136. Bustin, S.A., et al., *The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments.* Clinical Chemistry, 2009. **55**(4): p. 611-622.
- 137. Miller, R.T., *Technical immunohistochemistry: achieving reliability and reproducibility of immunostains*. Society for Applied Immunohistochemistry, 2001 Annual Meeting.
- 138. Bertheau, P., et al., *Variability of immunohistochemical reactivity on stored paraffin slides.* Journal of Clinical Pathology, 1998. **51**(5): p. 370-374.
- 139. Olapade-Olaopa, E.O., et al., Further characterization of storage-related alterations in immunoreactivity of archival tissue sections and its implications for collaborative multicenter immunohistochemical studies.

Applied Immunohistochemistry & Molecular Morphology, 2001. **9**(3): p. 261-266.

- 140. Hewitt, S.M., et al., Controls for immunohistochemistry: the Histochemical Society's standards of practice for validation of immunohistochemical assays. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 2014. **62**(10): p. 693-697.
- 141. Samulowitz, U., et al., *Human endomucin: distribution pattern, expression on high endothelial venules, and decoration with the MECA-79 epitope.* The American Journal of Pathology, 2002. **160**(5): p. 1669-1681.
- 142. Streeter, P.R., B. Rouse, and E.C. Butcher, *Immunohistologic and functional characterization of a vascular addressin involved in lymphocyte homing into peripheral lymph nodes*. The Journal of Cell Biology, 1988. **107**(5): p. 1853-1862.
- 143. Michie, S.A., et al., *The human peripheral lymph node vascular addressin. An inducible endothelial antigen involved in lymphocyte homing.* The American Journal of Pathology, 1993. **143**(6): p. 1688.
- 144. Srinivasan, M., D. Sedmak, and S. Jewell, *Effect of fixatives and tissue processing on the content and integrity of nucleic acids*. The American Journal of Pathology, 2002. **161**(6): p. 1961-1971.
- 145. Masuda, N., et al., Analysis of chemical modification of RNA from formalinfixed samples and optimization of molecular biology applications for such samples. Nucleic Acids Research, 1999. **27**(22): p. 4436-4443.
- 146. Giulietti, A., et al., *An overview of real-time quantitative PCR: applications to quantify cytokine gene expression.* Methods, 2001. **25**(4): p. 386-401.
- 147. Overbergh, L., et al., *The use of real-time reverse transcriptase PCR for the quantification of cytokine gene expression*. Journal of Biomolecular Techniques: JBT, 2003. **14**(1): p. 33.
- 148. Godfrey, T.E., et al., *Quantitative mRNA expression analysis from formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded tissues using 5' nuclease quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction.* The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics, 2000. **2**(2): p. 84-91.
- 149. Kong, H., et al., *Quantitative assessment of short amplicons in FFPEderived long-chain RNA*. Scientific Reports, 2014. **4**: p. 7246.
- 150. Antonov, J., et al., *Reliable gene expression measurements from degraded RNA by quantitative real-time PCR depend on short amplicons and a proper normalization*. Laboratory Investigation, 2005. **85**(8): p. 1040.
- 151. Wirsing, A.M., Hadler-Olsen, E., and M. Seppola, *Efficient and reliable real time PCR quantification from formalin fixed paraffin-embedded tissues depends on short amplicons.* Manuscript in preparation.
- 152. Vogel, C. and E.M. Marcotte, *Insights into the regulation of protein abundance from proteomic and transcriptomic analyses*. Nature Reviews Genetics, 2012. **13**(4): p. 227.
- 153. Van der Loos, C., *A focus on fixation*. Biotechnic & Histochemistry, 2007.
 82(3): p. 141-154.
- Counsell, C., Formulating questions and locating primary studies for inclusion in systematic reviews. Annals of Internal Medicine, 1997. 127(5): p. 380-387.
- Falagas, M.E., et al., Comparison of PubMed, Scopus, web of science, and Google scholar: strengths and weaknesses. The FASEB Journal, 2008.
 22(2): p. 338-342.
- 156. Wilkins, T., R.A. Gillies, and K. Davies, *EMBASE versus MEDLINE for family medicine searches: Can MEDLINE searches find the forest or a tree?* Canadian Family Physician, 2005. **51**(6): p. 849-849.
- 157. Nieminen, P. and M. Isohanni, *Bias against European journals in medical publication databases*. The Lancet, 1999. **353**(9164): p. 1592.
- 158. Moher, D., et al., Completeness of reporting of trials published in languages other than English: implications for conduct and reporting of systematic reviews. The Lancet, 1996. **347**(8998): p. 363-366.
- 159. Almangush, A., et al., *Prognostic biomarkers for oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* British Journal of Cancer, 2017. **117**(6): p. 856.
- 160. Ogundimu, E.O., D.G. Altman, and G.S. Collins, *Adequate sample size for developing prediction models is not simply related to events per variable.* Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 2016. **76**: p. 175-182.
- Buettner, P., C. Garbe, and I. Guggenmoos-Holzmann, *Problems in defining cutoff points of continuous prognostic factors: Example of tumor thickness in primary cutaneous melanoma*. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 1997. 50(11): p. 1201-1210.
- 162. Wasserstein, R.L. and N.A. Lazar, *The ASA's statement on p-values: context, process, and purpose.* 2016, Taylor & Francis.
- Nakagawa, S. and I.C. Cuthill, *Effect size, confidence interval and statistical significance: a practical guide for biologists.* Biological Reviews, 2007. 82(4): p. 591-605.
- Shalapour, S. and M. Karin, *Immunity, inflammation, and cancer: an eternal fight between good and evil.* The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2015. 125(9): p. 3347-3355.
- 165. Salo, T., et al., *Insights into the role of components of the tumor microenvironment in oral carcinoma call for new therapeutic approaches.* Experimental Cell Research, 2014. **325**(2): p. 58-64.
- 166. Sautès-Fridman, C., et al., *Tertiary lymphoid structures in cancers:* prognostic value, regulation, and manipulation for therapeutic intervention. Frontiers in Immunology, 2016. **7**: p. 407.
- Dieu-Nosjean, M.C., et al., *Tertiary lymphoid structures, drivers of the anti-tumor responses in human cancers*. Immunological Reviews, 2016. 271(1): p. 260-275.

- 168. Di Caro, G., et al., Occurrence of tertiary lymphoid tissue is associated with *T*-cell infiltration and predicts better prognosis in early-stage colorectal cancers. Clinical Cancer Research, 2014. **20**(8): p. 2147-2158.
- 169. Nelson, B.H., *CD20+ B cells: the other tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes*. The Journal of Immunology, 2010. **185**(9): p. 4977-4982.
- 170. Hayasaka, H., et al., *Neogenesis and development of the high endothelial venules that mediate lymphocyte trafficking*. Cancer Science, 2010. **101**(11): p. 2302-2308.
- 171. Brahmer, J.R., et al., *Safety and activity of anti–PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2012. **366**(26): p. 2455-2465.
- 172. Ibrahim, R., R. Stewart, and A. Shalabi. *PD-L1 blockade for cancer treatment: MEDI4736.* in *Seminars in Oncology.* 2015. Elsevier.
- 173. Topalian, S.L., et al., *Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti–PD-1 antibody in cancer.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2012. **366**(26): p. 2443-2454.
- 174. Cho, Y.-A., et al., *Relationship between the expressions of PD-L1 and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in oral squamous cell carcinoma*. Oral Oncology, 2011. **47**(12): p. 1148-1153.
- 175. Spranger, S., et al., *Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and Tregs in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8+ T cells.* Science Translational Medicine, 2013. **5**(200): p. 200ra116-200ra116.
- 176. Shi, F., et al., *PD-1 and PD-L1 upregulation promotes CD8+ T-cell apoptosis and postoperative recurrence in hepatocellular carcinoma patients.* International Journal of Cancer, 2011. **128**(4): p. 887-896.
- 177. Mu, C.-Y., et al., *High expression of PD-L1 in lung cancer may contribute to poor prognosis and tumor cells immune escape through suppressing tumor infiltrating dendritic cells maturation*. Medical Oncology, 2011. 28(3): p. 682-688.
- 178. Good-Jacobson, K.L., et al., *PD-1 regulates germinal center B cell survival and the formation and affinity of long-lived plasma cells.* Nature Immunology, 2010. **11**(6): p. 535.
- 179. Kanojia, D. and M.M. Vaidya, 4-nitroquinoline-1-oxide induced experimental oral carcinogenesis. Oral Oncology, 2006. **42**(7): p. 655-667.
- 180. Hawkins, B.L., et al., *4NQO carcinogenesis: a mouse model of oral cavity squamous cell carcinoma*. Head & neck, 1994. **16**(5): p. 424-432.
- Tang, X.-H., et al., Oral cavity and esophageal carcinogenesis modeled in carcinogen-treated mice. Clinical Cancer Research, 2004. 10(1): p. 301-313.

Appendices

Letter of approval from REK for the use of patient data and tissue (2007)

Renewal of approval from REK for the use of patient data and tissue (2015)

Paper I

Paper II

Paper III

Paper IV

Uhlin-Hansen Lars Avdeling for patologi Institutt for medisinsk biologi, Med fak, UiT 9037 TROMSØ

Deres ref.: 5.2007.32

Vår ref.: 200700623-7/IAY/400

Dato: 27.03.2007

P REK NORD 22/2007 MUNNHULEKREFT KLINISKE OG BIOLOGISKE ASPEKTER - SLUTTVURDERING - KOMITEEN HAR INGEN INNVENDINGER MOT AT PROSJEKTET GJENNOMFØRES

Vi viser til prosjektleders elektroniske brev av 26.3.2007 med vedlegg.

Prosjektleders tilbakemelding på komiteens merknader til prosjektet, sist i brev av 19.3.2007 tas til etterretning.

Regional komité for medisinsk forskningsetikk, Nord-Norge (REK Nord) har ingen innvendinger mot at prosjektet gjennomføres.

Det forutsettes at prosjektet er godkjent av aktuelle formelle instanser før det settes i gang.

Det forutsettes at prosjektet forelegges komiteen på nytt, dersom det under gjennomføringen skjer komplikasjoner eller endringer i de forutsetninger som komiteen har basert sin avgjørelse på.

Komiteen ber om å få melding dersom prosjektet ikke blir sluttført.

Komiteen oversender dokumenter til Sosial- og helsedirektoratet for behandling av søknad om oppretting av forskningsbiobank.

ennlig hils

førstekonsulent 77645347

Kopi:

Sosial- og helsedirektoratet (<u>postmottak@shdir.no</u>) vedlagt biobankskjema og forespørsel om deltakelse i forskningsprosjektet.

REGIONAL KOMITÉ FOR MEDISINSK FORSKNINGSETIKK, NORD-NORGE REK NORD Postadresse: Det medisinske fakultet, Universitetet i Tromsø, N-9037 Tromsø telefon sentralbord 77 64 40 00 telefon direkte 77644876 / 77645347 e-post rek-nord@fagmed.uit.no www.etikkom.no



Region: REK nord Saksbehandler:

Telefon:

Vår dato: 24.08.2015 Deres dato: 16.06.2015 Vår referanse: 2015/1383/REK nord Deres referanse:

Vår referanse må oppgis ved alle henvendelser

Lars Uhlin-Hansen

Institutt for medisinsk biologi

2015/1383 Munnhulekreft, -en retrospektiv studie av prognostiske biomarkører

Forskningsansvarlig: UiT Norges arktiske universitet Prosjektleder: Lars Uhlin-Hansen

Vi viser til søknad om forhåndsgodkjenning av ovennevnte forskningsprosjekt. Søknaden ble behandlet av Regional komité for medisinsk og helsefaglig forskningsetikk (REK nord) i møtet 13.08.2015. Vurderingen er gjort med hjemmel i helseforskningsloven (hfl.) § 10, jf. forskningsetikkloven § 4.

Prosjektleders prosjektomtale

Munnhulekreft er forbundet med plagsomme, behandlingsrelaterte bivirkninger og relativt høy dødelighet. Det er imidlertid stor variasjon i aggressivitet i disse svulstene. Av og til vokser små svulster fort og fører til død innen 1-2 år, mens andre pasienter med svulster i samme stadium blir varig helbredet. Det er derfor nødvendig med bedre individtilpasset behandling som tar høyde for at svulstene oppfører seg forskjellig. Hovedmålet med prosjektet er å påvise molekyler i kreftcellene som kan brukes som grunnlag for valg av behandling, både for å begrense de behandlingsrelaterte bivirkningene og for å bedre sjansen for helbredelse. Prosjektet er en videreføring av PhD-prosjektet til overlege Oddveig Rikardsen som disputerte i 2014. De innsamlede data er svært verdifulle og er godt egnet for videre studier. Flere undersøkelser er allerede påbegynt og disse bør fullføres. Prosjektet vil inngå som en del av doktorgradsarbeidene til de 3 studentene som er oppført som medarbeidere.

Vurdering

Design

Målet med prosjektet er å kartlegge biomarkører som kan benyttes til å gi fremtidige pasienter med munnhulekreft en mer individtilpasset behandling. Dette innebærer at man hos noen pasienter kan redusere bivirkningene, mens andre pasienter får ekstra behandling som øker sjansen for helbredelse.

Unntak fra samtykke

Prosjektet er en videreføring av prosjektet" Munnhulekreft, -en histopatologisk studie av tumorstroma interaksjoner" som dannet grunnlaget for PhD-prosjektet til overlege Oddveig Rikardsen. Hun laget et prosjektregister for pasienter behandlet for munnhulekreft ved UNN i perioden 1986- 2002. Alle pasientopplysninger er avidentifiserte og det er kun overlegene Oddveig Rikardsen og Sonja Steigen som har tilgang på koblingsnøkkelen. Det samme prosjektregisteret og kodenøkkel skal brukes i dette prosjektet.

Det søkes om fritak fra å innhente samtykke for alle pasientene som inngår i studien, med unntak av de som

Beseksadresse: Telefon: 77646140	All post og e-post som inngår i	Kindly address all mail and e-mails to
MH-bygget UiT Norges arktiske E-post: rek-nord@asp.uit.no	saksbehandlingen, bes adressert til REK	the Regional Ethics Committee, REK
universitet 9037 Tromsø Web: http://helseforskning.etikkom.no/	nord og ikke til enkelte personer	nord, not to individual staff

eventuelt inngår i registeret «Biologisk forskningsreservasjon».

Fritak gjelder for nye analyser på biologisk materiale som er samlet inn 1986-2002.

Vurdering av unntak fra å innhente samtykke for bruk av biologiske materiale i studien

Helseforskningslovens § 28 regulerer adgang til bruk av biologisk materiale som er innsamlet i helsetjenesten til forskning. Vilkårene for å kunne gi unntak fra å innhente samtykke er at forskningen er av vesentlig interesse for samfunnet, at hensynet til deltagernes velferd og integritet er i varetatt. Det må også innfortolkes et krav om at det vil være vanskelig å innhente samtykke. Komiteen vurderer prosjektet til å være av vesentlig interesse for samfunnet. I vurderingen av om hensynet til deltagernes integritet er i varetatt har komiteen lagt vekt på at prøvene behandles avidentifisert. I vurdering av om det vil være" vanskelig å innhente samtykke", fremgår det både av forarbeider og av kommentarer til helseforskningsloven at kvalifiserte og legitime årsaker til dette kan være dersom deltager er død, flyttet, sykdom, stort antall deltagere, samt at et stort frafall vil svekke forskingens validitet. Det kan også tas hensyn til hvor gamle prøvene er. I dette prosjektet er det omsøkte materialet hentet inn mellom 1986 og 2002. Prøvene er samlet inn før helseforskningsloven trådte i kraft. Selv om det ikke foreligger samtykke åpner loven for at materialet kan brukes. Munnhulekreft er en kreftform som i hovedsak rammer eldre personer. Den er dessuten forbundet med høy dødelighet (kun 50-60% overlever 5 år). De aller fleste pasientene som inngår i studien er døde, enten på grunn av kreften eller av annen årsak. Nesten alle de som fortsatt lever er svært gamle, for noen av pasientene vil det være ca. 13-29 år siden prøvene var tatt. Det må også forventes at mange av disse ikke responderer på henvendelsen om samtykke. Dersom det kreves samtykke må en derfor anta at det det blir en betydelig skjevfordeling av kohorten i forhold til tidligere undersøkelser som er gjennomført på dette materialet i prosjektet.

Unntak samtykke for gjenbruk av helseopplysninger

Det fremgå av hfl §15 «Dersom det er vanskelig å innhente nytt samtykke, kan den regionale komiteen for medisinsk og helsefaglig forskningsetikk godkjenne ny eller endret bruk av tidligere innsamlet humant biologisk materiale eller helseopplysninger uten at nytt samtykke innhentes. Dette kan bare skje dersom slik forskning er av vesentlig interesse for samfunnet og hensynet til deltakernes velferd og integritet er ivaretatt. Den regionale komité for medisinsk og helsefaglig forskningsetikk kan sette vilkår for bruken.

Vilkårene for å kunne gi unntak fra å innhente samtykke er at forskningen er av vesentlig interesse for samfunnet, at hensynet til deltagernes velferd og integritet er i varetatt. Det må også innfortolkes et krav om at det vil være vanskelig å innhente samtykke. Komiteen vurderer prosjektet til å være av vesentlig interesse for samfunnet.

I vurderingen av om hensynet til deltagernes integritet er i varetatt har komiteen lagt vekt på at opplysningene behandles avidentifisert. I vurdering av om det vil være" vanskelig å innhente samtykke", fremgår det både av forarbeider og av kommentarer til helseforskningsloven at kvalifiserte og legitime årsaker til dette kan være dersom deltager er død, flyttet, sykdom, stort antall deltagere, samt at et stort frafall vil svekke forskingens validitet. Det kan også tas hensyn til hvor gamle opplysningene er. I dette prosjektet er de omsøkte opplysninger hentet inn mellom 1986 og 2002. Opplysningene er samlet inn før helseforskningsloven trådte i kraft. Munnhulekreft er en kreftform som i hovedsak rammer eldre personer. Den er dessuten forbundet med høy dødelighet (kun 50-60% overlever 5 år). De aller fleste pasientene som inngår i studien er døde, enten på grunn av kreften eller av annen årsak. Nesten alle de som fortsatt lever er svært gamle, for noen av pasientene vil det være ca. 29 år siden prøvene var tatt. Det må også forventes at mange av disse ikke responderer på henvendelsen om samtykke. Dersom det kreves samtykke må en derfor anta at det det blir en betydelig skjevfordeling av kohorten i forhold til tidligere undersøkelser som er gjennomført på dette materialet i prosjektet.

Komiteen har vurdert at prosjektet har stor samfunnsnytte, risikoen for at prosjektet skal krenke deltagernes integritet ert liten og det er en reell fare for betydelig skjevfordeling dersom man skal innhente et aktivt samtykke. Fritak fra samtykke etter

Helseforskningsloven, gjelder personopplysningslovens bestemmelser om opplysningsplikt, jf. personopplysningsloven § 20. Hovedregelen ved unntak fra samtykke er at de involverte opplyses om

bruken av personopplysninger. Informasjon om registrering, her inklusjon i et forskningsprosjekt, er et viktig prinsipp det skal gode grunner til for å fravike.

Når det gjelder vilkåret om at informasjon skal være «umulig eller uforholdsmessig vanskelig», jf. § 20 annet ledd b), vurderer komiteen se at dette vilkår ikke er oppfylt for de av deltagerne som er i livet.

REK nord setter derfor som vilkår at deltagerne som er i live skal informeres om bruken av helseopplysningene og det biologiske materialet, samt informeres om muligheten til å reserverer seg.

Oppbevaring av data

Det fremgår av søknaden at data skal oppbevares i 10 år. Opplysninger skal ikke oppbevares lenger enn det som er nødvendig for å gjennomføre prosjektet. Den regionale komiteen for medisinsk og helsefaglig forskningsetikk kan bestemme at dokumenter som er nødvendig for etterkontroll av prosjektet, skal oppbevares i fem år etter at sluttmelding er sendt komiteen, jf hfl.38.

Komiteen imøteser en eventuell nærmere begrunnelse for hvorfor data skal oppbevares i 10 år.

Vedtak

Med hjemmel i helseforskningsloven §§ 2,9 10, samt forskningsetikkloven § 4 godkjennes prosjektet. Før prosjektet kan settes i gang ber REK nord om å få seg forelagt informasjonsskrivet til deltagerne.

Sluttmelding og søknad om prosjektendring

Prosjektleder skal sende sluttmelding til REK nord på eget skjema senest 30.06.2021, jf. hfl. § 12. Prosjektleder skal sende søknad om prosjektendring til REK nord dersom det skal gjøres vesentlige endringer i forhold til de opplysninger som er gitt i søknaden, jf. hfl. § 11.

Klageadgang

Du kan klage på komiteens vedtak, jf. forvaltningsloven § 28 flg. Klagen sendes til REK nord. Klagefristen er tre uker fra du mottar dette brevet. Dersom vedtaket opprettholdes av REK nord, sendes klagen videre til Den nasjonale forskningsetiske komité for medisin og helsefag for endelig vurdering.

Med vennlig hilsen

May Britt Rossvoll sekretariatsleder

Kopi til:terje.larsen@uit.no

Paper I

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Open Access

Characterisation and prognostic value of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma

Anna M Wirsing¹, Oddveig G Rikardsen^{1,2}, Sonja E Steigen^{1,3}, Lars Uhlin-Hansen^{1,3} and Elin Hadler-Olsen^{1*}

Abstract

Background: Oral squamous cell carcinomas are often heavily infiltrated by immune cells. The organization of B-cells, follicular dendritic cells, T-cells and high-endothelial venules into structures termed tertiary lymphoid structures have been detected in various types of cancer, where their presence is found to predict favourable outcome. The purpose of the present study was to evaluate the incidence of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinomas, and if present, analyse whether they were associated with clinical outcome.

Methods: Tumour samples from 80 patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma were immunohistochemically stained for B-cells, follicular dendritic cells, T-cells, germinal centre B-cells and high-endothelial venules. Some samples were sectioned at multiple levels to assess whether the presence of tertiary lymphoid structures varied within the tumour.

Results: Tumour-associated tertiary lymphoid structures were detected in 21 % of the tumours and were associated with lower disease-specific death. The presence of tertiary lymphoid structures varied within different levels of a tissue block.

Conclusions: Tertiary lymphoid structure formation was found to be a positive prognostic factor for patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. Increased knowledge about tertiary lymphoid structure formation in oral squamous cell carcinoma might help to develop and guide immune-modulatory cancer treatments.

Keywords: Oral squamous cell carcinoma, Prognostic factor, Tertiary lymphoid structure, B-cell, High-endothelial venule, Follicular dendritic cell, Germinal centre

Background

Oral squamous cell carcinomas (OSCCs) are tumours known to metastasize to lymph nodes at an early stage of their development [1]. Despite current improvements in clinical management of this cancer type, mortality and morbidity rates of OSCC patients have remained high over the last decades, with an average 5-year survival rate of about 50% [2,3]. The TNM staging of the tumour, and especially the presence and extent of lymph node metastasis (N stage), have considerable prognostic importance for patients with OSCC [4] and are used to guide treatment strategies. However, tumours of the same clinical stage may respond differently to the same treatment and may also have distinct clinical outcomes [5].

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article





© 2014 Wirsing et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

^{*} Correspondence: elin.hadler-olsen@uit.no

¹Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø, Tromsø 9037, Norway

referred to as high-endothelial venules (HEVs) [9]. HEVs express the lymphoid chemokine peripheral node addressin (PNAd), which binds to L-Selectin on naive lymphocytes and thus promote lymphocyte recruitment to sites of chronic inflammation [10]. Furthermore, a complex interplay between different lymphotoxin- and chemokineinduced signalling pathways is required for the initiation of TLS formation [9]. In contrast to lymph nodes, TLSs are not encapsulated, resulting in constitutive, direct antigenic stimulation from their surrounding microenvironment [11]. Lymphatic vessels have also been found in association with TLSs, but their functional interplay is not vet fully clarified [12]. The presence of ongoing germinal centre (GC) reactions in B-cell clusters of ectopic lymphoid structures has been reported, indicating that adaptive immunity can be triggered at sites different from SLOs [11]. In autoimmune disorders, formation of ectopic lymphoid tissue is associated with disease progression [11], whereas TLS development in breast, ovarian, nonsmall-cell lung, renal and colorectal cancer is reported to be associated with a favourable prognosis [13-23].

The aim of the present study was to evaluate the incidence of TLSs in OSCCs, and if present, analyse whether they were associated with clinical outcome. The study included tissue samples and clinical data from 80 patients diagnosed with OSCCs between 1986 and 2002 at the Diagnostic Clinic - Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway (UNN). The presence of TLSs was determined based on immunohistochemical staining patterns of B-cells, FDCs, GC B-cells, T-cells and HEVs. We established that the presence of TLSs is a positive prognostic factor for patients with OSCC. Understanding and interpreting TLS formation in OSCC might help to implement and guide immunotherapeutic interventions. In terms of individual clinical management, reliable prognostic markers together with targeted anticancer therapies might improve the consistently low survival rates in patients with oral cancer.

Methods

Patients

The study broadly follows the REMARK recommendations for tumour marker prognostic studies [24]. Eighty patients with histologically verified primary SCC of the oral cavity in the period 1986–2002 were selected from the archives of the Diagnostic Clinic – Clinical Pathology, UNN. The last day of follow-up was January 1st, 2012. The specimens were formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tumour resections or biopsies from the mobile tongue, floor of the mouth, buccal mucosa, gingiva and soft and hard palate. We excluded specimens from the base of the tongue and the tonsils – sites naturally rich in lymphatic tissue. Patients with a history of former head and neck cancer were also excluded from the study. Clinical data, including tumour staging according to the TNM-classification and treatment modalities, were retrieved from the patients' hospital files, pathology reports and the Statistics of Norway, Cause of Death Registry, and are listed in Table 1. Information on the HPV status determined by p16 immunohistochemical staining was obtained from the Diagnostic Clinic – Clinical Pathology, UNN, and is also presented in Table 1. In addition to the patient samples, formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded normal oral tissue was used as control. The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Northern Norway (REK-number 22/2007), which also gave the permission to access patient files containing the clinical data. All clinical data were kept anonymous.

Immunohistochemistry

Four-micrometer-thick sections of formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tissue of patients with OSCC on Superfrost Plus slides were subjected to immunohistochemical staining. From patients where several tumour-containing paraffinblocks were available, a block with representative material, based on H/E staining, was chosen without specific evaluation of the inflammatory infiltrate. Before staining, all specimens were incubated overnight at 60°C, deparaffinised in xylene, rehydrated in graded alcohol baths and subjected to heat-induced antigen retrieval in 0.01 M sodium citrate buffer at pH 6.0. Prior to antibody incubation, inherent peroxidase activity in the tissue was blocked with 3% H₂O₂ (Ventana Medical Systems, France or Dako Glostrup, Denmark). The following primary antibodies were used: Mouse anti-CD20, clone L26; Mouse anti-CD21, clone 2G9; Mouse anti-bcl-6, clone GI191E/A8; Mouse anit-CD34, clone QBEnd/10; Rabbit anti-CD3, clone 2GV6 (all from Ventana Medical Systems, France); Mouse anti-Podoplanin, clone D2-40 (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) and Rat anti-PNAd, clone MECA-79, (Biolegend, San Diego). Dilutions and incubation times are listed in Table 2. Except for the PNAd antibody, all immunohistochemical stainings were done in the automated slide stainer Ventana Benchmark, XT (Ventana) at the Diagnostic Clinic - Clinical Pathology, UNN, which is accredited according to the ISO/IEC 15189 standard for the respective stainings, using the same protocols, positive and negative controls as in the clinical routines. For these automated stainings, a cocktail of HRP labelled goat anti-mouse IgG/IgM and mouse anti-rabbit secondary antibodies together with diaminobenzidine from the Ventana UltraView Universal DAB Detection Kit (#760-500, Ventana) were applied for visualization.

Manual staining with the PNAd primary antibody was performed as previously described [25], using HRP-labelled goat anti-rat light chain secondary antibody (#AP202P, Millipore, Temecula, CA) and diaminobenzidine (Dako EnVision + System-Horseradish Peroxidase,

Table 1 Comparison of clinicopathological variablesbetween 80 OSCC patients with and without TLSs usingPearson's Chi-square test

	TLS- TLS-		P-value
	negative	positive	
	(N = 63) (no. (%))	(N = 17) (no. (%))	
Gender			
Male	35 (55.6)	11 (64.7)	0.498
Female	28 (44.4)	6 (35.3)	
Age at diagnosis, years			
Mean	63.19	63.71	0.178
0-59	23 (36.5)	6 (35.3)	0.926
≥ 60	40 (63.5)	11 (64.7)	
Smoking history			
Never smoker	14 (22.2)	4 (23.5)	
Former smoker	10 (15.9)	1 (5.9)	0.722
Current smoker	34 (54.0)	11 (64.7)	
Unknown	5 (7.9)	1 (5.9)	
Alcohol consumption			
Never	12 (19.0)	1 (5.9)	
\leq 1 times weekly	24 (38.1)	6 (35.3)	0.114
> 1 times weekly or daily	17 (27.0)	3 (17.6)	
Unknown	10 (15.9)	7 (41.2)	
Tumour site			
Mobile tongue	29 (46.0)	9 (52.9)	
Floor of mouth	17 (27.0)	5 (29.4)	
Soft palate	1 (1.6)	0 (0.0)	0.956
Buccal mucosa	7 (11.1)	1 (5.9)	
Alveolar ridge	8 (12.7)	2 (11.8)	
Unknown	1 (1.6)	0 (0.0)	
Tumour differentiation			
Well	20 (31.7)	10 (58.8)	
Moderate	39 (61.9)	5 (29.4)	0.058
Poor	4 (6.3)	2 (11.8)	
T stage			
T1	23 (36.5)	6 (35.3)	
T2	18 (28.6)	9 (52.9)	0.187
T3, T4	21 (33.3)	2 (11.8)	
Unknown	1 (1.6)	0 (0.0)	
N stage			
NO	41 (65.1)	13 (76.5)	
			0.670
N+	17 (27.0)	3 (17.6)	
Unknown	5 (7.9)	1 (5.9)	
M stage			
MO	57 (90.5)	17 (100.0)	

Table 1 Comparison of clinicopathological variablesbetween 80 OSCC patients with and without TLSs usingPearson's Chi-square test (Continued)

M+	1 (1.6)	0 (0.0)	0.417
Unknown	5 (7.9)	0 (0.0)	
Treatment			
Surgery local +/- neck resection	7 (11.1)	2(11.8)	
Surgery and radiotherapy	41 (65.1)	12 (70.6)	
Radiotherapy +/- chemotherapy	8 (12.7)	3 (17.6)	0.700
None or palliative	5 (7.9)	0 (0.0)	
Unknown	2 (3.2)	0 (0.0)	
HPV/p16			
Negative	52 (82.5)	16 (94.1)	
Positive	5 (7.9)	1 (5.9)	0.386
Unknown	6 (9.5)	0 (0.0)	

Dako) for detection. Counterstaining was done with Harris hematoxylin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Finally, the sections were dehydrated in graded alcohol and xylene baths, and mounted with Histokit (Chemiteknikk, Oslo, Norway). Negative controls were treated identically but with the primary antibodies replaced by the antibody diluting solution. Formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded human lymph nodes served as positive controls for the PNAd staining. Negative control sections never showed any staining, whereas the positive control sections (lymph nodes) always showed positive staining confined to the cells that were supposed to be positive (data not shown). The specificity of the PNAd antibody was evaluated on consecutive sections from six different OSCC samples and three samples of normal oral mucosa. These OSCC and normal tissue sections were assessed for

Table 2 Antibodies	for	immunohistochemistr	у
--------------------	-----	---------------------	---

Antibody	Dilution	Incubation time
Mouse anti-CD20, clone L26, Ventana Medical Systems, France	Pre-diluted	16 min
Mouse anti-CD21, clone 2G9, Ventana	Pre-diluted	32 min
Mouse anti-bcl-6, clone Gl191E/A8, Ventana	Pre-diluted	40 min
Mouse anti-Podoplanin, clone D2-40, Dako, Glostrup, Denmark	1:25	32 min
Mouse anit-CD34, clone QBEnd/10, Ventana	Pre-diluted	32 min
Rabbit anti-CD3, clone 2GV6, Ventana	Pre-diluted	16 min
Rat anti-PNAd, clone MECA-79, Biolegend, San Diego	1:25	30 min
Goat anti-rat light chain antibody, #AP202P, Millipore, Temecula, CA	1:250	30 min

overlapping immunohistochemical staining for the PNAd antibody, the blood vessel marker CD34 and the lymphatic endothelial cell marker D2-40. In the OSCC samples, sporadic CD34+ blood vessels were to a minor degree positive for PNAd, whereas no D2-40+ lymphatic vessels were positive, indicating a high degree of antibody specificity. No HEV staining was seen in the three samples from normal oral mucosa.

Immunohistochemical evaluation

Eighty patients were included in the study. In 25 of the patients, the presence of TLSs was evaluated at a single level in the tumour tissue block. In 45 of the patients – randomly chosen from the 80 patients – TLS formation was evaluated at two discrete levels at about 100 μ m distance in the tissue block. Additionally, tumour tissue blocks from 10 of the patients – nine of them negative for TLSs in the superficial level – were cut down completely and presence of TLSs was evaluated at 100 μ m distance throughout the tumour sample.

We used a two-step method for TLS detection. First, the tissue sections were immunohistochemically stained for the pan B-cell marker CD20 and assigned to three different groups based on their staining pattern: obvious B-cell aggregates, indistinct aggregates of B-cells and no or scattered B-cells. Second, staining for the FDC marker CD21, the T-cell marker CD3 and the HEV marker PNAd was performed on consecutive sections of those with obvious and indistinct B-cell aggregates. For FDC evaluation, areas with clusters of B-cells were examined at high-power magnification (400×). All tumours that had one or several accumulations of B-cells containing CD21 positive FDCs were defined as TLS-positive. All TLSs also contained HEVs and T-cells. The TLS-positive tumours were further subdivided into classical and nonclassical TLSs. A classical TLS was defined as a B-cell aggregate containing a continuous FDC meshwork, and a non-classical TLS as a B-cell aggregate with a more diffuse distribution of the FDCs. Sections from seven of the TLSpositive tumours were stained with BCL-6 to verify the presence of GC B-cells in B-cell clusters of TLSs.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with the SPSS software version 22.0 for Windows (IBM, Armonk, NY). The association between various clinicopathological variables was examined by the Pearson's Chi-square test. Disease-specific death (DSD) and disease-specific survival (DSS) curves were estimated in univariate analyses and by Kaplan Meier method. The log-rank test was used to evaluate significant differences between the groups of patients. Variables that were statistically significant in the univariate analysis were entered into multivariate Cox

regression analyses to identify independent prognostic factors in the presence of other variables. Validity of the proportionality assumption was verified by plotting log-minus-log plots. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

Presence of TLSs in OSCC

TLSs are highly organized structures that typically appear as clusters of B-cells containing FDCs. These clusters are then surrounded by T-cells and HEVs as shown schematically in Figure 1. We investigated the presence of TLSs in tumour specimens from 80 patients with OSCCs using immunohistochemistry. Sections with distinct or more diffuse B-cell aggregates were considered likely to have TLSs, and their consecutive sections were stained for FDCs, T-cells and HEVs, whereas sections without B-cell aggregates were not further analysed. At the first level assessed, TLSs were found in 13 of the 80 specimens. Eleven of these TLSs were found in sections with distinct B-cell aggregates, and only two in sections with diffuse B-cell aggregates. Pictures of a classical TLS are shown in Figure 2. One more TLS-positive tumour was identified by staining for TLSs at an additional level about 100 µm deeper in the tissue blocks from 45 of the patients. Three additional TLS-positive tumours were detected by assessing the whole tissue sample from 10 patients. These three TLS-positive tumours showed TLSs at multiple levels. Altogether, TLSs were found in 17 (21 %) of the 80 patients included in the study. The maximum number of TLSs in a single section was four, but usually not more than two TLSs were detected in each of the positive sections. The TLSs were mainly found in the peri-tumoural stroma within 0.5 mm distance from the tumour front, in lymphocyterich subepithelial areas.

Within the B-cell aggregates, FDCs were found in either of two patterns: distinct meshworks (Figure 3A) or diffuse accumulations (Figure 3B) of CD21 positive cells. Only Bcell aggregates with contiguous FDC meshworks showed distinct accumulations of BCL6+ GC B-cells (Figure 3C) and are here referred to as *classical TLSs*. In the B-cell aggregates with diffuse accumulations of FDCs, GC B-cells were either absent (Figure 3D) or dispersed throughout the follicle, and these are here referred to as *non-classical TLSs*. Sometimes both classical and non-classical TLSs were found in the same section. Analyses of multiple tissue levels showed that some TLSs classified as non-classical on one tissue level presented a classical pattern on another tissue level and vice versa.

Clinicopathological characteristics and prognostic value of TLSs

Clinicopathological data of the patients were analysed for correlation with the presence of TLSs, and the





Figure 2 Tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma. The pictures show representative immunohistochemical stainings on consecutive sections of the same oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) tissue sample for detection of classical tertiary lymphoid structures (TLSs). A section that presents clusters of CD20+ B-cells (A) typically shows organized accumulations of follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) in a consecutive section stained for CD21 (B). T-cell areas within and around the B-cell follicle are found by staining another consecutive section for CD3 (C). High-endothelial venules (HEVs) adjacent to the B-cell follicle are detected when staining a consecutive section for PNAd, as shown in (D). CD20+, CD21+ and CD3+ cells as well as PNAd + vessels are stained brown, and cell nuclei are stained blue by hematoxylin. Germinal centres are labelled "GC" and stroma surrounding the TLS is labelled "S" in the micrographs. Scale bars indicate 40 µm.



results are presented in Table 1. Although not statistically significant, the majority of TLSs were found in patients with well-differentiated tumours. Further, there were more TLSs in T1 and T2 tumours compared to T3/T4 tumours. TLSs showed no statistically significant association with the other variables examined. The prognostic value of various clinicopathological variables in OSCC was investigated in univariate analysis using the log-rank test (Table 3). Based on the assessment of one tissue level, TLS-positive tumours indicated a trend toward improved survival. When the assessment of TLSs was based on multiple tissue levels, a significant association between the presence of TLSs and favourable outcome in OSSC patients was found, as shown in Figure 4. As patients presented various TLS subtypes (either classical, non-classical or both classical and non-classical), we analysed whether the TLS subtype influenced 5-year DSD. As presented in Additional file 1: Table S1, there was a tendency towards lower 5-year DSD for all patients with TLSs, regardless of the subtype. However, the differences were not statistically significant. Presence of classical TLSs alone or in combination with nonclassical TLSs seemed to be associated with better prognosis compared to the presence of only non-classical TLSs, but again, no statistical significant difference between the subtypes was found (P = 0.304; data not shown). Furthermore, our results also confirmed the prognostic value of the T, N and M stages. The variables that showed statistically significant association with DSD in the univariate analyses (T, N stage and TLS) were entered into multivariate Cox regression analyses. The M status was excluded from multivariate analyses as there was only one M + patient. Proportional hazards assumptions were satisfied for multivariate analyses as shown by parallel curves for different categories of prognostic variables on log-minus-log plots (Additional file 1: Figure S1). In multivariate analyses, only the T status remained independently associated with disease-specific death (P < 0.001, Table 4).

Discussion

In the present study, we have demonstrated TLSs in OSCC by immunohistochemical analyses. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of TLSs in OSCCs. TLSs were found in 16% of the patients when a single level of the tumour was assessed, and in 21% of the patients when multiple levels of the tumours were analysed. This is a rather low occurrence compared to what

Table 3 Clinicopathologic variables as predictors for 5-year disease-specific death in univariate analysis for 80 patients with OSCC

	Patients (N = 80)	5-Year	P-value
	(no. (%))	death (%)	
Gender			
Male	46 (57.5)	37.0	0.403
Female	34 (42.5)	29.4	
Age at diagnosis, years			
0-59	29 (36.3)	31.0	0.637
≥ 60	51 (63.8)	35.3	
Smoking history			
Never smoker	18 (22.5)	27.8	
Former smoker	11 (13.8)	27.3	0.897
Current smoker	45 (56.3)	37.3	
Unknown	6 (7.5)	33.3	
Alcohol consumption			
Never	13 (16.3)	23.1	
≤ 1 times weekly	30 (37.5)	33.3	0.633
> 1 times weekly or daily	20 (25.0)	35.0	
Unknown	17 (21.3)	41.2	
Tumour site			
Mobile tongue	38 (47.5)	21.1	
Floor of mouth	22 (27.5)	40.9	0.074
All others*	20 (25.0)	50.0	
Tumour differentiation			
Well	30 (37.5)	26.7	
Moderate	44 (55.0)	36.4	0.296
Poor	6 (7.5)	50.0	
T stage**			
T1	29 (36.7)	20.7	
T2	27 (34.2)	11.1	< 0.001
T3, T4	23 (29.1)	78.3	
N stage			
NO	54 (67.5)	22.2	
N+	20 (25.0)	70.0	< 0.001
Unknown	6 (7.5)	16.7	
M stage			
MO	74 (92.5)	33.8	
M+	1 (1.3)	100.0	0.021
Unknown	5 (6.3)	20.0	
HPV/p16			
Negative	68 (85.0)	35.3	
Positive	6 (7.5)	16.7	0.720
Unknown	6 (7.5)	33.3	
TLS single level			

Table 3 Clinicopathologic variables as predictors for5-year disease-specific death in univariate analysis for 80patients with OSCC (Continued)

Negative	67 (83.8)	37.3	0.156
Positive	13 (16.3)	15.4	
TLS multiple level			
Negative	63 (78.8)	39.7	0.039
Positive	17 (21.3)	11.8	

P-values were calculated using the log-rank test.

*For univariate survival analysis, the tumour sites were grouped into three categories.

**Only 79 patients were analysed because the unknown case was taken out from the calculations.

has previously been reported in colorectal cancer and lung cancer, suggesting that the occurrence of TLSs varies among different types of tumours [14,19,26]. When assessed at a single level, presence of TLSs was not a significant predictor of survival. However, when analysed at multiple levels, their presence in the tumour was a positive prognostic factor. This indicates that the prognostic value of TLSs depends on the type of analysis, probably due to their rather infrequent occurrence and tumour heterogeneity. In multivariate analyses, only T stage turned out to be an independent prognostic factor. TLS status, however, performed better than N stage, which is recognized as one of the best prognostic factors in OSCCs [4]. In the TLS-positive tumours, either single or multiple TLSs were found in the same tissue section. In some of the TLSs, GC B-cells and FDC meshworks were



Figure 4 Results from multiple level analysis: Kaplan Meier analysis of 5-year disease-specific survival for 80 patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma with and without tertiary lymphoid structures. The presence of tertiary lymphoid structures (TLSs) is associated with improved survival in patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) (P = 0.039). The Kaplan-Meier curve shows a 5-year disease-specific survival rate of 88.2% for TLS-positive patients and 60.3% for TLS-negative patients. The P-value was calculated using the log-rank test.

Table 4 Results from multiple level analysis: multivariate analysis of 5-year disease-specific death according to Cox's proportional hazards model*

Variable	Hazard ratio	95% C.I.	P-value
T stage	_	_	< 0.001
T stage (1) (T1 [n = 29] v. T2 [n = 27])	0.538	0.134 - 2.151	0.381
T stage (2) (T1 [n = 29] v. T3/T4 [n = 23])	7.237	2.814 - 18.612	< 0.001
N stage	—	—	0.359
N stage (1) (N0 [n = 54] v. N + [n = 20])	1.820	0.742 - 4.461	0.191
N stage (2) (N0 [n = 54] v. unknown [n = 5])	2.342	0.290 - 18.900	0.424
TLS (negative [n = 62] v. positive [n = 17])	2.409	0.556 - 10.448	0.240

*Only 79 patients were analysed because the case with unknown T stage was taken out from the calculations.

observed, providing evidence that the TLSs comprised all cells needed to generate a functional immune response. We called lymphoid structures with defined FDC meshworks and GCs classical TLSs, as this phenotype has been mostly described for TLSs in literature. Besides the classical TLSs, we also found TLSs with diffuse accumulations of FDCs and scattered or absent GC B-cells that we termed non-classical TLSs. It remains elusive whether non-classical TLSs have the same immunological properties as classical TLSs. Immunohistochemistry on multiple tissue planes of the same tumour showed in some cases that classical and non-classical phenotypes corresponded to the same ectopic lymphoid structure. This implies that the two different patterns may be artefacts of the methodical approach of TLS detection. This is also supported by the fact that both classical and non-classical TLSs were found on the same tissue plane. Moreover, patients with TLSs showed prolonged survival regardless of TLS subtype, indicating that none of the TLS subtypes alone are particularly associated with survival. However, we found a trend towards better prognosis for patients with classical TLSs or with both classical and non-classical TLSs compared to patients with non-classical TLSs only. This indicates that, in some cases, non-classical TLSs could also represent immature follicles that may later develop into classical TLSs with full immunogenic properties. Previous studies have already reported the presence of fully and not fully mature TLSs in cancer and other inflammatory diseases [27].

Many questions about TLS development in oral cancer remain to be elucidated. Ectopic lymphoid formation is a common feature in chronically inflamed tissues and has been found in a number of different diseases at various anatomical sites [11]. After the switch from acute to chronic inflammation, gradual accumulation of lymphocytes as well as promotion of lymphangiogenesis and transformation of blood vessels into lymphocyte-guiding HEVs has been observed [28]. In oral cancer, chronically inflamed tissue precedes most of the tumours [29], providing favourable sites for TLS formation. In our OSCC samples, the TLSs were mainly located in the subepithelial lymphocytic infiltrate close to the tumour front. It would be of great interest to find out why the chronic infiltrate sometimes organizes into these structures. Disclosing the mechanisms that regulate TLS development may give important information on how to improve immune-modulating cancer therapy. Lymphoid neogenesis has been most extensively studied in autoimmune disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis, Sjögrens' syndrome and Hashimoto's thyroiditis, where TLSs might contribute to disease progression [11]. In some ectopic GCs, B-cells producing antibodies against self-antigens have been recognized, but data are still sparse [28]. In OSCC, it is not yet clear which antigenic targets the lymphocytes might react to and whether auto-antigens play a role in the induction of TLSs. In terms of viral agents that are linked to human tumours, human papillomavirus (HPV) has become a topic of interest during the last years. While HPV is a known risk factor for oropharyngeal cancer, it probably plays only a minor role in cancers arising in the oral cavity [30]. In the present study, there was no correlation between HPV-status and TLS formation. Although the antigenic stimuli directing TLS formation in OSSC are unknown, it seems likely that the immune-modulating factors that promote TLS development derive from the cancer cells rather than from autoimmunity or infection. Our results show that TLSs are most likely to form in well-differentiated tumours. It has been proposed that tumour growth might be related to stem and amplifying cell patterns, and that dedifferentiation may play a role in the origin of cancer stem cells (CSCs) in OSCC [31]. CSCs are a minority of malignant cells that are thought to be able to attenuate host anti-tumour immune responses [32]. Thus, one could speculate that dedifferentiation makes the tumour cells less antigenic and thereby elicits a milder inflammatory reaction with lower induction of TLSs. Previous studies on lymphoid neogenesis have revealed that clearance of the inflammation-inducing antigen or clinical therapy are able to cause a complete remission of the ectopic lymphoid structure [9]. This might be advantageous in autoimmune diseases to stop aggravation of the disease. However, as TLSs are thought to be conducive for patient survival in OSCC, characterization of stimulating agents might be used therapeutically to promote TLS formation by presentation of the causative agent. Investigation of circulating lymphocytes in blood samples of OSCC patients may provide new insights into the

involvement of the host immune reaction in TLS development. A long-lasting chronic inflammation, as in larger tumours, could promote TLS development. In the present study, however, more TLSs were found in smaller tumours, clearly indicating that TLS formation can also take place in the early phases of tumour growth.

Conclusion

We found TLS formation to be a positive prognostic factor for patients with OSSC when tumours were analysed at multiple levels. Thus, patients with TLS-positive tumours might benefit from more restrictive treatment while a closer follow-up and more aggressive therapy should be considered for patients with TLS-negative tumours. However, before we can envisage TLSs as prognostic factors in individual clinical management of OSCC patients, larger studies on ectopic lymphoid structures are needed. Our study shows that correct assessment of TLS by immunohistochemistry requires careful analyses. When assessing CD20 B-cell staining, both dense and more diffuse aggregates of B-cells should be considered as putative TLSs. We found however, that about a third of the TLSpositive patients were missed when analysing only one level in the tissue block. This may be due to the fact that we selected blocks with representative tumour material rather than the tumour blocks with most intense inflammation. By selecting differently, the chance of discovering TLSs on a single tissue level might have increased. PCR-based approaches, such as combining analyses of a combination of mature FDC markers, HEV markers and TLS associated chemokines such as CCL19, CCL21 and CXCL13 [21], could also decrease the chance of missing TLS-positive tumours. Furthermore, analyses of TLS associated chemokines in serum from cancer patients could be a possible indicator of TLS formation.

The future trend in clinical cancer management points to personalized treatment. The use of biomarkers to guide treatment decisions along with development of immunotherapy may benefit the patient. Thus, understanding TLS formation in OSCC might help to guide targeted anti-cancer therapies and improve the dismal survival rates of patients with oral cancer.

Additional file

Additional file 1: Table S1. Results from multiple level analysis: Univariate Kaplan Meier analysis of 5-year disease-specific death for 80 patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma with various subtypes of tertiary lymphoid structures (TLSs). Figure S1. Results: Log minus log plots for proportional hazards checking; (A) T stage; (B) N stage; (C) tertiary lymphoid structure (TLS).

Abbreviations

OSCCs: Oral squamous cell carcinomas; TILs: Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes; SLO: Secondary lymphoid organ; TLS: Tertiary lymphoid structure; FDCs: Follicular dendritic cells; HEV: High-endothelial venule; PNAd: Peripheral node addressin; GC: Germinal centre; CSC: Cancer stem cell.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interest.

Authors' contributions

AW carried out the manual immunohistochemical staining, participated in interpretation and scoring of the immunohistochrmical stainings and the statistical analyses and drafted the manuscript. OR retrieved the clinical information from patient journals, participated in the statistical analyses and critically reviewed the manuscript. SES participated in interpretations of the immunohistochemical stainings and the statistical analyses, and critically reviewed the manuscript. LUH participated in design of the study and in interpretations of the immunohistochemical stainings and the statistical stainings, and critically reviewed the manuscript. EHO participated in design of the study, scoring of the immunohistochemical stainings and helped to draft the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grants from The Norwegian Cancer Society, The North Norwegian Regional Health Authorities and The Erna and Olav Aakre Foundation for Cancer Research. We are also grateful for advice from Dr. Kristin A. Fenton, Dr. Elin Mortensen and M.Sc. Stine Figenshou at the Department of medical Biology, UiT, and for excellent technical help from Anne-Lise Klodiussen at the Diagnostic Clinic - Clinical Pathology, UNN and Bente Mortensen and Marit Nina Nilsen at the Department of Medical Biology, UiT. We also thank Dr. Gunbjørg Svineng and M.Sc. Maarten Beerepoot for advice and critical revision of the manuscript.

Author details

¹Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø, Tromsø 9037, Norway. ²Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University Hospital of North Norway, Tromsø 9038, Norway. ³Diagnostic Clinic – Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway, Tromsø 9038, Norway.

Received: 31 March 2014 Accepted: 18 August 2014 Published: 23 August 2014

References

- Barnes L: Pathology And Genetics Of Head And Neck Tumours. vol. 9th edition. Lyon: IARC Press; 2005.
- Funk GF, Karnell LH, Robinson RA, Zhen WK, Trask DK, Hoffman HT: Presentation, treatment, and outcome of oral cavity cancer: a National Cancer Data Base report. *Head Neck* 2002, 24(2):165–180.
- Massano J, Regateiro FS, Januário G, Ferreira A: Oral squamous cell carcinoma: Review of prognostic and predictive factors. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontol 2006, 102(1):67–76.
- Woolgar JA: Histopathological prognosticators in oral and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol 2006, 42(3):229–239.
- Shah NG, Trivedi TI, Tankshali RA, Goswami JV, Jetly DH, Shukla SN, Shah PM, Verma RJ: Prognostic significance of molecular markers in oral squamous cell carcinoma: a multivariate analysis. *Head Neck* 2009, 31(12):1544–1556.
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J: The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer 2012, 12(4):298–306.
- Freiser ME, Serafini P, Weed DT: The immune system and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: from carcinogenesis to new therapeutic opportunities. *Immunol Res* 2013, 57(1–3):52–69.
- Mebius RE: Organogenesis of lymphoid tissues. Nat Rev Immunol 2003, 3(4):292–303.
- Drayton DL, Liao S, Mounzer RH, Ruddle NH: Lymphoid organ development: from ontogeny to neogenesis. Nat Immunol 2006, 7(4):344–353.
- Martinet L, Garrido I, Girard J-P: Tumor high endothelial venules (HEVs) predict lymphocyte infiltration and favorable prognosis in breast cancer. Oncolmmunol 2012, 1(5):61–60.
- 11. Aloisi F, Pujol-Borrell R: Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic inflammatory diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2006, 6(3):205–217.
- Stranford S, Ruddle NH: Follicular dendritic cells, conduits, lymphatic vessels, and high endothelial venules in tertiary lymphoid organs: parallels with lymph node stroma. Front Immunol 2012, 3:article 350.

- Coppola D, Nebozhyn M, Khalil F, Dai H, Yeatman T, Loboda A, Mule JJ: Unique ectopic lymph node-like structures present in human primary colorectal carcinoma are identified by immune gene array profiling. *Am J Pathol* 2011, **179**(1):37–45.
- Dieu-Nosjean MC, Antoine M, Danel C, Heudes D, Wislez M, Poulot V, Rabbe N, Laurans L, Tartour E, de Chaisemartin L, Lebecque S, Fridman WH, Cadranel J: Long-term survival for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with intratumoral lymphoid structures. J Clin Oncol 2008, 26(27):4410–4417.
- Remark R, Alifano M, Cremer I, Lupo A, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Riquet M, Crozet L, Ouakrim H, Goc J, Cazes A, Fléjou JF, Gibault L, Verkarre V, Régnard JF, Pagès ON, Oudard S, Mlecnik B, Sautès-Fridmaan C, Fridman WH, Damotte D: Characteristics and clinical impacts of the immune environments in colorectal and renal cell carcinoma lung metastases: influence of tumor origin. *Clin Cancer Res* 2013, **19**(15):4079–4091.
- 16. Nelson BH: CD20+ B cells: the other tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 2010, **185**(9):4977–4982.
- Nzula S, Going JJ, Stott DI: Antigen-driven clonal proliferation, somatic hypermutation, and selection of B lymphocytes infiltrating human ductal breast carcinomas. *Cancer Res* 2003, 63(12):3275–3280.
- Ogino S, Nosho K, Irahara N, Meyerhardt JA, Baba Y, Shima K, Glickman JN, Ferrone CR, Mino-Kenudson M, Tanaka N, Dranaoff G, Giovannucci EL, Fuchs CS: Lymphocytic reaction to colorectal cancer is associated with longer survival, independent of lymph node count, microsatellite instability, and CpG island methylator phenotype. *Clin Cancer Res* 2009, 15(20):6412–6420.
- Di Caro G, Bergomas F, Grizzi F, Doni A, Bianchi P, Malesci A, Laghi L, Allavena P, Mantovani A, Marchesi F: Occurrence of tertiary lymphoid tissue is associated with T-cell infiltration and predicts better prognosis in early-stage colorectal cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* 2014, 20(8):2147–2158.
- Goc J, Germain C, Vo-Bourgais TK, Lupo A, Klein C, Knockaert S, de Chaisemartin L, Ouakrim H, Becht E, Alifano M, Validire P, Remark R, Hammond SA, Cremer I, Damotte D, Fridman WH, Sautès-Fridman C, Dieu-Nosjean MC: Dendritic cells in tumor-associated tertiary lymphoid structures signal a Th1 cytotoxic immune contexture and license the positive prognostic value of infiltrating CD8+ T cells. *Cancer Res* 2014, 74(3):705–715.
- Goc J, Fridman WH, Sautes-Fridman C, Dieu-Nosjean MC: Characteristics of tertiary lymphoid structures in primary cancers. *Oncoimmunol* 2013, 2(12):e26836.
- Germain C, Gnjatic S, Tamzalit F, Knockaert S, Remark R, Goc J, Lepelley A, Becht E, Katsahian S, Bizouard G, Validire P, Damotte D, Alifano M, Magdeleinat P, Cremer I, Teillaud JL, Fridman WH, Sautès-Fridman C, Dieu-Nosjean MC: Presence of B cells in tertiary lymphoid structures is associated with a protective immunity in patients with lung cancer. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2014, 189(7):832–844.
- Bergomas F, Grizzi F, Doni A, Pesce S, Laghi L, Allavena P, Mantovani A, Marchesi F: Tertiary intratumor lymphoid tissue in colo-rectal cancer. *Cancers* 2011, 4(1):1–10.
- McShane LM, Altman DG, Sauerbrei W, Taube SE, Gion M, Clark GM: REporting recommendations for tumour MARKer prognostic studies (REMARK). Br J Cancer 2005, 93(4):387–391.
- Hadler-Olsen E, Wetting HL, Rikardsen O, Steigen SE, Kanapathippillai P, Grénman R, Winberg J-O, Svineng G, Uhlin-Hansen L: Stromal impact on tumor growth and lymphangiogenesis in human carcinoma xenografts. *Virchows Arch* 2010, 457(6):677–692.
- Fridman WH, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Pages F, Cremer I, Damotte D, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J: The immune microenvironment of human tumors: general significance and clinical impact. *Cancer Microenvironment* 2013, 6(2):117–122.
- Page G, Lebecque S, Miossec P: Anatomic localization of immature and mature dendritic cells in an ectopic lymphoid organ: correlation with selective chemokine expression in rheumatoid synovium. *J Immunol* 2002, 168(10):5333–5341.
- Neyt K, Perros F, van Geurts Kessel CH, Hammad H, Lambrecht BN: Tertiary lymphoid organs in infection and autoimmunity. *Trends Immunol* 2012, 33(6):297–305.
- Lu S-L, Reh D, Li AG, Woods J, Corless CL, Kulesz-Martin M, Wang X-J: Overexpression of transforming growth factor β1 in head and neck epithelia results in inflammation, angiogenesis, and epithelial hyperproliferation. *Cancer Res* 2004, 64(13):4405–4410.

- Chaturvedi AK, Anderson WF, Lortet-Tieulent J, Curado MP, Ferlay J, Franceschi S, Rosenberg PS, Bray F, Gillison ML: Worldwide trends in incidence rates for oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers. J Clin Oncol 2013, 31(36):4550–4559.
- Costea D, Tsinkalovsky O, Vintermyr O, Johannessen A, Mackenzie I: Cancer stem cells-new and potentially important targets for the therapy of oral squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Dis 2006, 12(5):443–454.
- 32. Schatton T, Frank MH: Antitumor immunity and cancer stem cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2009, **1176**(1):154–169.

doi:10.1186/1472-6890-14-38

Cite this article as: Wirsing *et al.*: **Characterisation and prognostic value of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma.** *BMC Clinical Pathology* 2014 **14**:38.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

) BioMed Central

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

Additional file

Table S1

Results from multiple level analysis: Univariate Kaplan Meier analysis of 5-year disease-specific death for 80 patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma with various subtypes of tertiary lymphoid structures (TLSs).

Patients	N=80	5-Year death	P-value
	(no. (%))	(%)	
classical TLS	5 (6.3)	0.0	0.150
all others	75 (93.8)	36.0	
non-classical TLSs	8 (10.0)	25.0	0.574
all others	72 (90.0)	34.7	
both classical and non-classical TLS	4 (5.0)	0.0	0.165
all others	76 (95.0)	35.5	

P-values were calculated using the log-rank test.



Results: Log minus log plots for proportional hazards checking; (A) T stage; (B) N stage; (C) tertiary lymphoid structure (TLS).

Paper II

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Presence of tumour high-endothelial venules is an independent positive prognostic factor and stratifies patients with advanced-stage oral squamous cell carcinoma

Anna M. Wirsing¹ · Oddveig G. Rikardsen^{1,2} · Sonja E. Steigen^{1,3} · Lars Uhlin-Hansen^{1,3} · Elin Hadler-Olsen^{1,3}

Received: 2 July 2015 / Accepted: 2 September 2015 / Published online: 17 September 2015 © International Society of Oncology and BioMarkers (ISOBM) 2015

Abstract Staging of oral squamous cell carcinoma is based on the tumour-node-metastasis (TNM) system, which has been deemed insufficient for prognostic purposes. Hence, better prognostic tools are needed to reflect the biological diversity of these cancers. Previously, high numbers of specialized blood vessels called high-endothelial venules have been reported to be associated with prolonged survival in patients with breast cancer. In this study, we analysed the prognostic value and morphological characteristics of tumour-associated high-endothelial venules in oral cancer. The presence of tumour-associated high-endothelial venules was evaluated by immunohistochemistry in 75 patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma and analysed with correlation to clinicopathological parameters, patients' survival and vessel morphology. Ten of the samples were analysed at multiple levels to evaluate intratumoural heterogeneity. The presence of tumourassociated high-endothelial venules was found to be associated with lower disease-specific death in multivariate regression analyses (P=0.002). High-endothelial venules were present in all (n=53) T1-T2 tumours, but only in two thirds (n=14) of

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s13277-015-4036-4) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Anna M. Wirsing anna.wirsing@uit.no

- ¹ Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø—The Arctic University of Norway, 9037 Tromsø, Norway
- ² Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University Hospital of North Norway, 9038 Tromsø, Norway
- ³ Department of Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway, 9038 Tromsø, Norway

the T3-T4 tumours. The morphology of high-endothelial venules was heterogeneous and correlated with lymphocyte density. High-endothelial venules were found to be distributed homogeneously within the tumours. We found the presence of tumour-associated high-endothelial venules to be an easyto-use, robust, and independent positive prognostic factor for patients with oral cancer. Absence of these vessels in advanced-stage tumours might identify patients with more aggressive disease. Evaluating the presence of tumourassociated high-endothelial venules might help to tailor the treatment of oral cancer patients to their individual needs.

Keywords Oral squamous cell carcinoma · Prognostic factor · High-endothelial venules · Peripheral node addressin · Inflammation · Lymphocyte trafficking

Introduction

The far majority (>90 %) of malignancies in the oral cavity and the oropharynx are squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs), which are generally aggressive and frequently metastasize to lymph nodes at an early phase [1]. The tumour-nodemetastasis (TNM) staging system, which describes tumours based on the size and invasion features of the primary tumour (T), the presence of lymph node metastases (N), and distant metastases (M) [2], is currently the most reliable way to predict the outcome for patients with oral SCCs (OSCCs) [3, 4]. However, the TNM grading does not reflect the considerable biological diversity of these tumours [5]. Numerous studies on potential prognostic markers to foresee the outcome and therapeutic needs of individual OSCC patients have been performed [6-8]. Despite concerted efforts, none of these biomarkers are routinely used in clinical practice. Thus, there is a great need to identify new and better prognostic tools that are both reliable and easy to implement in clinical routines. Furthermore, a better understanding of the biology of OSCCs could guide the development of new, targeted therapies for OSCC patients.

Angiogenesis is one of the hallmarks of cancer and, as such, generally associated with tumour progression and poor clinical outcome [9]. However, formation of specialized blood vessels called high-endothelial venules (HEVs) has recently been found to be associated with a favourable prognosis in breast cancer patients, probably by facilitating anti-tumour responses through recruitment of cytotoxic lymphocytes to the tumour site [10, 11]. HEVs appear normally in lymph nodes where they support high levels of lymphocyte extravasation from the blood [10, 12]. As their name implies, HEVs are characterized by cuboidal endothelial cells, which express specialized ligands for lymphocytes such as the chemokine peripheral node addressin (PNAd) on their luminal surface [13]. By binding to L-selectin, PNAd anchors circulating, naive lymphocytes to the HEV wall [14]. Lymphocyte extravasation is mediated through discontinuous, 'spot-welded' junctions, which are characteristic for HEV endothelial cells [12, 15, 16] and which differ from the tight junctions that characterize capillary and arterial endothelium [17]. High density of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) has earlier been shown to have beneficial effects on patient survival in several human solid tumours [18, 19]. TILs are sometimes organized in so-called tertiary lymphoid structures (TLSs), which resemble lymphoid follicles in lymph nodes, but typically appear in non-lymphoid tissue under terms of chronic inflammation [20]. HEVs are thought to be key players in the recruitment of lymphocytes to the TLSs, and TLS formation has been associated with improved survival rates in lung, breast, colorectal and oral cancer [11, 21–23]. In human cancers, presence of HEVs, both in TLSs and independent of these structures, is a recent discovery [10]. Tumour HEV density and phenotype have been found to be highly heterogeneous and dependent on the surrounding tissue, suggesting that HEVs shape their tissue microenvironment and vice versa [24]. HEVs were seen to form independently from T- and B-lymphocytes but strongly required signalling from dendritic cells [13, 25, 26]. Remodelling of tumour HEVs from lymphocyte-carrying vessels into dilated, blood-carrying vessels with thin walls has been proposed as an early prognostic marker of sentinel lymph node metastasis in breast and oral cancer patients [27, 28]. Different from their counterparts within peripheral lymph nodes, tumour-associated HEVs and HEVs within TLSs are still poorly understood [29]. However, a better understanding of the mechanisms regulating tumour HEVs might have a promising potential in modulating tumour growth and developing new therapeutic strategies for cancer patients [24].

The present study was performed to assess the morphology and prognostic value of tumour-associated HEVs in OSCCs as well as their correlation to clinicopathological characteristics. Immunohistochemical staining for HEVs was conducted on tumour samples from 75 OSCC patients. We found that the presence of HEVs is an independent prognostic marker for lower disease-specific death (DSD) and that lack of these vessels in advanced-stage tumours identifies patients with more aggressive disease. Thus, the presence of HEVs might be a useful hallmark to stratify OSCC patients and to help select patient subsets for individual therapeutic approaches.

Materials and methods

Patients

The study broadly adheres to the REMARK recommendations for tumour marker prognostic studies [30]. Formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded tumour samples from 75 patients with histologically verified primary SCC of the oral cavity were collected from the archives of the Department of Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway (UNN). Inclusion criteria were availability of both tissue from the primary tumour and clinical information. Patients with prior radiotherapy to the head and neck area and patients with previous oral and pharyngeal cancer were excluded from the study. Large biopsies covering the subepithelial areas were evaluated from the patients who were not resected. Data on clinicopathological features, including treatment procedures and the HPV status, were acquired from the patients' hospital files, pathology reports and the Statistics of Norway, Cause of Death Registry, and are presented in Table 1. The tumours were staged according to the newest TNM classification at the time of diagnosis [31–34]. The classification of cancers of the lip and oral cavity remained unchanged between the different editions during the registration periods thus giving no consequence for the study. The patients were diagnosed in the period 1986-2002, and the last day of follow-up was January 1, 2012. The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Northern Norway, approved the use of the patients' tissue and the collection of the clinical information (REK-number 22/2007).

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemical studies of HEVs were performed on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded, 4-µm-thick tumour tissue sections. Manual staining for HEVs, including evaluation of antibody specificity, were carried out as previously described [23, 35]. In brief, after rehydration, heat-induced antigen retrieval, and blocking steps, sections were incubated with the PNAd primary antibody (#120801, Rat anti-PNAd, clone MECA-79, Biolegend, San Diego, dilluted 1:25) for 30 min. Afterwards, HRP-labelled goat anti-rat light chain secondary _

Table 1 Comparison of clinicopathological variables between 75 OSCC patients with and without high-endothelial venules (HEVs) using Pearson's chi-squared test

	HEV-negative (<i>N</i> =7) (no. (%))	HEV-positive (<i>N</i> =68) (no. (%))	P value
Gender			
Male	6 (85.7)	37 (54.4)	
Female	1 (14.3)	31 (45.6)	0.227
Age at diagnosis, years			
Mean	68.29	62.26	0.795
0–59	2 (28.6)	26 (38.2)	
≥60	5 (71.4)	42 (61.8)	0.706
Smoking history			
Never smoker	1 (14.3)	16 (23.5)	
Former smoker	1 (14.3)	9 (13.2)	
Current smoker	4 (57.1)	39 (57.4)	
Unknown	1 (14.3)	4 (5.9)	0.821
Alcohol consumption			
Never	1 (14.3)	11 (16.2)	
≤ 1 times weekly	0 (0.0)	27 (39.7)	
>1 times weekly or daily	3 (42.9)	17 (25.0)	
Unknown	3 (42.9)	13 (19.1)	0.156
Tumour site			
Mobile tongue	1 (14.3)	34 (50.0)	
All others	6 (85.7)	34 (50.0)	0.071
Tumour differentiation			
Well	3 (42.9)	25 (36.8)	
Moderate	2 (28.6)	40 (58.8)	0.036
Poor	2 (28.6)	3 (4.4)	
T stage			
T1/T2	0 (0.0)	53 (77.9)	
T3/T4	7 (100.0)	14 (20.6)	
Unknown	0 (0.0)	1 (1.5)	< 0.001
N stage			
N0	3 (42.9)	48 (70.6)	
N+	3 (42.9)	15 (22.1)	
Unknown	1 (14.3)	5 (7.4)	0.326
M stage			
M0	6 (85.7)	63 (92.6)	
M+	0 (0.0)	1 (1.5)	
Unknown	1 (14.3)	4 (5.9)	0.668
HPV/p16			
Negative	4 (57.1)	61 (89.7)	
Positive	1 (14.3)	5 (7.4)	
Unknown	2 (28.6)	2 (2.9)	0.011

antibody (#AP202P, Millipore, Temecula, CA, dilluted 1:250, incubated 30 min) and diaminobenzidine (Dako EnVision + System-Horseradish Peroxidase, Dako) were used for detection. Counterstaining was done with Harris hematoxylin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). As previously described [23], formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded human lymph nodes served as positive controls. Antibody specificity was evaluated by immunohistochemical staining of consecutive sections of OSCC tissue from six different patients as well as three normal oral mucosa samples with the PNAd antibody, the blood vessel marker CD34 and the lymphatic endothelial cell marker D2-40. A few CD34+ vessels but no D2-40+ lymphatic vessels displayed sporadic PNAd staining in consecutive OSCC tissue sections, whereas the three normal oral mucosa tissue sections were entirely negative for the PNAd antibody. No other HEV markers were used for verification of PNAd-positive vessels, as the PNAd antibody displayed only little unspecific staining. Sections where the primary antibody was omitted were used as negative controls.

High-endothelial venule count and morphological analysis

Seventy-five patients were included in the study. In 65 of them, the presence of HEVs was assessed based on evaluation of the PNAd staining at a single level in the tumour tissue block. In the remaining 10 patients, the blocks were cut down completely and presence of HEVs was assessed at 100-µm distance throughout the tumour sample. All sections were stained with the endothelial cell marker PNAd as described above. The cut-off value for PNAd positivity was obtained from hot spot analyses, as a modification of the method published by Weidner et al. [36]. The sections were assessed by light microscopy at low power magnification ($100\times$) to recognize the areas with highest HEV density (hot spots). Only distinct brown PNAd staining in clusters of more than one cell were considered as HEVs. Micrographs of the five areas with highest HEV density were taken with a Leica DFC 420 camera on a Leica DM2000 microscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) at high power magnification ($400\times$), and the number of HEVs in the photographs was counted manually. For each tumour, the number of HEVs in each hot spot was added and the total number was then divided by five, giving a mean number of tumour-associated HEVs per section. Some tumours had less than five HEV-positive areas. In these cases, the total sum of HEVs was also divided by five. The median number of HEVs per hot spot for the whole group of patients was used as cut-off value for positive and negative HEV count, respectively. To verify PNAd staining, whole-slide digital images of the same tumour sections were manually reinvestigated for presence of HEVs at very high magnification under the virtual objective of the virtual microscope using the same cut-off value for HEV positivity as derived by hot spot analyses. This approach mainly aimed to avoid falsenegative results due to weak PNAd staining in sporadic sections, which might be hard to detect using conventional light microscopy. Moreover, there is a growing interest in using whole-slide imaging for different applications in pathology practice [37], and we wanted to test practical issues including efficiency of PNAd detection. For these reasons and for being able to study HEV morphology, all slides were scanned with a Zeiss Mirax Scanner at 400× magnification, and the wholeslide digital images were investigated at high magnification (up to 63.76×) using the image analysis Mirax Viewer Software (3DHISTECH, Budapest, Hungary). Digital line measurement tools, developed in the Mirax Viewer Software, were used to analyse (minimal) distances between outer vessel wall of HEVs and nearest tumour cells, vessel wall thickness and inner vessel diameter. For quantitative estimation of the association between morphologic alteration of HEVs and level of inflammation, vessel wall thickness and lumen diameter of 100 HEVs were analysed in areas with low and high levels of inflammation, respectively. Level of inflammation was evaluated semi-quantitatively in the digitized PNAd-stained sections with a cut-off of 50 lymphocytes/field of vision at high power magnification. Branched vessels and vessels without evident lumina were not taken into account when evaluating vessel wall thickness and inner lumen diameter. In general, no PNAd-positive single cells were counted as HEVs. HEVs have earlier been found in the same tissue sections in relation to TLSs [23], and these lymph node-like structures might also arise in the salivary glands, unrelated to the tumour. Thus, to exclude HEVs that were not tumour-associated, only HEVs within 700-µm distance from the tumour front were taken into account. A trained pathologist histologically evaluated this. All studies were carried out manually.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS software version 22.0 for Windows (IBM, Armonk, NY) and Microsoft Excel 2013 (Microsoft, Redmond, WA). Inter-observer variability for HEV count was quantified by the Spearman correlation test. Vessel wall and lumen diameter data produced by image analysis deviated from a normal distribution. Therefore, a Mann–Whitney U test was used to determine if there was a significant difference in vessel wall thickness and lumen diameter between HEVs found in areas with high and low levels of inflammation, respectively. Correlation analyses for possible associations between different variables were performed using the Pearson's chi-squared test. Univariate Kaplan-Meier analyses were used to evaluate disease-specific death (DSD) rates and disease-specific survival (DSS) curves. Significant differences between the groups of patients were estimated by the log-rank test. Statistically significant determinants in the univariate analysis were entered into multivariate Cox regression analyses. A stepwise forward multiple Cox regression analysis was carried out to determine independent prognostic factors. Validity of the proportional hazards assumption was tested by plotting log-minus-log plots. P values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

High-endothelial venules were present in the majority of oral squamous cell carcinomas and homogeneously distributed within each tumour

Seventy-five patients with SCC of the oral cavity were evaluated for presence of HEVs by immunohistochemical staining

for the MECA-79-reactive ligand PNAd. We first defined a cut-off value for PNAd positivity by analogue hot spot analysis. The total number of tumour-associated HEVs was counted in five hot spots from each section. According to a median count of 0.5 HEVs per hot spot, we defined tumours with a total number of <3 tumour-associated HEVs per section as HEV-negative and those with a total number of \geq 3 HEVs per section as HEV-positive. The reproducibility for hot spot analysis between the two investigators (EHO and AMW) was very good with the Spearman's rho correlation coefficient for mean HEV count per tumour section being 0.970. The cut-off value was subsequently applied to whole-slide digital images of the same tissue sections. Digital image analyses at highpower magnification using the designed cut-off value for PNAd positivity revealed that 68 (90.7 %) of the OSCC samples were positive and the remaining 7(9.3%) were negative. The final evaluation of the sections with high magnification revealed more vessels than the first hot spot analyses. We therefore recommend using high-power magnification to detect vessels with less intensive staining and avoid falsenegative results. HEVs were preferentially located peripherally in the tumour stroma within marked accumulations of inflammatory cells. The tissue samples that were investigated for HEVs on multiple levels showed a full correlation in HEV score (positive/negative) between the levels. Nine of the 10 tissue blocks were positive for HEVs on multiple levels throughout the tumour sample, whereas one tissue block was entirely negative for HEVs on multiple levels.

High-endothelial venules in oral squamous cell carcinoma displayed heterogeneous morphology related to the inflammatory tumour microenvironment

The HEVs in our OSCC patient cohort displayed a heterogeneous morphology, and the three main phenotypes were vessels with a thick wall and a small lumen (Fig. 1a), vessels with a thin wall and a larger lumen (Fig. 1b), and branched vessels (Fig. 1c). Dilated and especially branched vessels were characterized by a gradual loss of their specific marker PNAd (Fig. 1b, c, arrows). Morphologic alterations of HEVs were also evaluated in association to their surrounding tissue microenvironment (Fig. 2). In highly inflammatory regions, mainly HEVs with a thick wall and a small or no lumen were seen (Fig. 2a), whereas HEVs in regions with less infiltrating immune cells usually presented with thinner walls and a larger lumen (Fig. 2b). Quantitative analysis of vessel wall thickness and lumen diameter of 100 HEVs in areas with low and high level of inflammation, respectively, showed that vessel walls of HEVs were significantly thicker in areas with high compared to areas with low grade of inflammation (U=1724.5; P < 0.001; Fig. 2d). Lumen diameter, however, was significantly larger in HEVs located within low-grade inflammatory regions (U=3219.0; P<0.001; Fig. 2e). Branched vessels were found in locations with various levels of inflammation (Fig. 2, asterisks). Only few HEVs were seen in areas with very low inflammation (Fig. 2c). Each of the tumour samples usually contained a heterogeneous mixture of the three HEV morphologic phenotypes (Fig. 2, overview picture), and no single phenotype was exclusively found in any of the tumours. In association with the TLSs, however, only thick-walled HEVs with a very small or no lumen were found (data previously presented in [23]).

Presence of tumour-associated HEVs is an independent positive prognostic factor in patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma

Presence of HEVs was analysed with correlation to the patients' clinicopathological features and 5-year DSD (Tables 1 and 2). As presented in Table 1, presence of HEVs was significantly associated with tumour differentiation, T stage and HPV status. In univariate analysis, positive HEV status was significantly associated with longer 5-year survival rate (73.5 % compared to 14.3 % in HEV-negative patients, P<0.001; Fig. 3b). Significant adverse prognostic factors in univariate analysis included tumour site different from the mobile tongue as well as increasing T stage and positive N and M stages, as indicated in Table 2. The T and the N stages as well as the tumour site and the HEV status were entered



Fig. 1 Different phenotypes of high-endothelial venules in oral squamous cell carcinoma. The pictures show representative immunohistochemical stainings for high-endothelial venules (HEVs). Both HEVs with a thick wall and a small or no lumen (a) as well as HEVs with a thinner wall and a larger lumen (b) were found. Some of

the HEVs were also seen to branch out (c). Dilated and branched vessels gradually lost their specific marker PNAd (*arrows*, b, c). PNAd + vessels are stained *brown*, and cell nuclei are stained *blue* by hematoxylin. *Scale bars* indicate 50 µm



Fig. 2 Qualitative and quantitative analysis of distribution of morphologic altered high-endothelial venules in the tumour microenvironment of oral squamous cell carcinoma. **a**-**c** Representative immunohistochemical stainings for high-endothelial venules (HEVs) in areas with various levels of lymphocyte infiltration. In sections with high level of inflammation (**a**), HEVs had a significantly thicker wall (**d**) and smaller lumen (**e**) compared to sections with lower level of inflammation (**b**). In regions with very low or no inflammation, very few or no PNAd +

into multivariate Cox regression analyses. The cases with the unknown T and N stages as well as the M status were taken out from the calculations because of unequal group size. All variables satisfied the proportional hazards assumption (Fig. S1). Both the T stage (P<0.001) and the HEV status (P=0.002) were independently predictive for DSD (Table 3). HEVs were found in all (n=53) of the T1-T2 tumours, but only in two

vessels were seen, respectively (c). Branched vessels were found in areas with various levels of inflammation (*asterisks* in overview picture). PNAd + vessels are stained *brown*, and cell nuclei are stained *blue* by hematoxylin. *Scale bars* indicate 500 μ m in the overview picture and 50 μ m in the enlarged sections (**a**–c). *Columns* indicate average vessel wall thickness (**d**) and lumen diameter (**e**). *Error bars* represent one standard deviation. ***P*<0.001 relative to HEVs found in areas with low level of inflammation

thirds (n=14) of the T3-T4 tumours (Table 1). For this reason, separate univariate analyses were conducted on the 21 patients with T3-T4 OSCCs. In these tumours, the absence of HEVs was a statistically significant predictor for lower 5-year survival (14.3 % compared to 28.6 % in HEV-positive patients, P=0.004; Fig. 3a). No multivariate analyses were carried out on this patient subset due to small sample size.

Table 2Clinicopathologicvariables as predictors for 5-yeardisease-specific death inunivariate Kaplan–Meier analysisfor 75 patients with OSCC

	Patients (N=75) (no. (%))	5-Year DSD (%)	P value
Gender			
Male	43 (57.3)	37.2	0.206
Female	32 (42.7)	25.0	
Age at diagnosis, years			
0–59	28 (37.3)	28.6	0.578
≥60	47 (62.7)	34.0	
Smoking history			
Never smoker	17 (22.7)	23.5	0.654
Former smoker	10 (13.3)	20.0	
Current smoker	43 (57.3)	37.2	
Unknown	5 (6.7)	40.0	
Alcohol consumption			
Never	12 (16.0)	16.7	0.347
≤ 1 times weekly	27 (36.0)	29.6	
>1 times weekly or daily	20 (26.7)	35.0	
Unknown	16 (21.3)	43.7	
Tumour site			
Mobile tongue	35 (46.7)	17.1	0.024
All others	40 (53.3)	45.0	
Tumour differentiation			
Well	28 (37.3)	28.6	0.679
Moderate	42 (56.0)	33.3	
Poor	5 (6.7)	40.0	
T stage			
T1/T2	53 (70.7)	15.1	< 0.001
T3/T4	21 (28.0)	76.2	
Unknown	1 (1.3)	0.0	
N stage			
N0	51 (68.0)	21.6	< 0.001
N+	18 (24.0)	66.7	
Unknown	6 (8.0)	16.7	
M stage			
M0	69 (92.0)	31.9	0.014
M+	1 (1.3)	100.0	
Unknown	5 (6.7)	20.0	
HPV/p16			
Negative	65 (86.7)	32.3	0.570
Positive	6 (8.0)	16.7	
Unknown	4 (5.3)	50.0	
HEV			
Negative	7 (9.3)	85.7	< 0.001
Positive	68 (90.7)	26.5	

P values were calculated using the log-rank test

Discussion

In this study, we have presented tumour-associated HEVs as a robust and easy-to-use, independent positive prognostic marker for patients with oral cancer. Sixty eight (90.7 %) of the 75 OSCC samples were defined as HEV-positive and the remaining 7 (9.3 %) were negative. Univariate analysis showed that

patients with HEVs had a significantly lower 5-year DSD rate compared to patients without HEVs (P<0.001). In multivariate analyses, both the HEV status and the T stage were significant independent predictors of DSD (P=0.002 and P<0.001, respectively). HEVs were found in all T1-T2 tumours, but only in two thirds of the T3-T4 tumours, suggesting tumourassociated HEV status as a promising prognostic factor in



Fig. 3 Kaplan–Meier analysis of 5-year disease-specific survival for patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma with and without high-endothelial venules. The presence of high-endothelial venules (HEVs) is associated with improved survival in a 21 patients with T3-T4 oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) (P=0.004) and in b all 75 OSCC

patients with advanced cancer. Previously, tumour HEVs were found to be independently associated with favourable clinical outcome in breast cancer [10]. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to report HEVs as an independent positive prognostic factor for primary OSCC cancer patients.

Tumour HEVs have earlier been shown to display a broad heterogeneity [10, 38]. Previously, tumour HEVs were observed in human solid cancers, such as melanomas, breast cancers, colon, lung and ovarian carcinomas in approximately 70 % of the patients [10, 11, 24, 39]. In oral cancer, however, we found approximately 90 % of the patients to be HEVpositive. This might be due to inter-tumoural heterogeneity as well as different methodical approaches including individual cut-off points for HEV positivity. The majority of the HEV negative tumours were found in oral locations other than the tongue, suggesting that HEVs may form more readily in some environments than others. In non-small-cell lung cancer, HEVs have been exclusively associated with ectopic lymphoid accumulations of immune cells called TLSs [40]. We have previously reported the presence of HEVs in association with TLSs in the same OSCC patient cohort as in the present study [23]. In contrast to the report from non-small-cell lung cancer, we here demonstrate that the majority of HEVs were unrelated to TLSs, as 68 of the 75 patients were HEV-positive while TLSs were only found in 17 of the tumours [23]. Presence of HEVs was significantly associated with HPV status, assessed by p16 immunohistochemical staining, where a

patients in our cohort (P < 0.001). In the T3-T4 tumours (**a**), the Kaplan–Meier curve shows a 5-year disease-specific survival (DSS) rate of 28.6 % for HEV-positive patients and 14.3 % for HEV-negative patients. The 5-year DSS rate for all HEV-positive patients in our cohort (**b**) was 73.5 %. The *P* value was calculated using the log-rank test

higher proportion of the HPV-negative tumours were HEVpositive. Due to the low number of HPV-positive tumours in our study, this correlation needs to be confirmed in larger studies. Intratumour heterogeneity displays great challenges for the identification of suitable prognostic markers [41]. In our study, we therefore performed multiple level assessments of 10 tissue blocks showing that analysis for HEV positivity on a single level can be considered representative for the whole tumour. These results underpin the value of HEVs as a simple and robust, positive prognostic marker that might be easily implementable in clinical routines for patients with oral cancer.

Recent findings indicate that HEVs have an important role in cancer progression and that their plasticity might be a critical feature [24, 27, 28]. Martinet et al. conducted a study on breast carcinoma sections, where the highest density of tumour HEVs was found within the in situ and not the invasive component [42]. In our study, HEVs were found in all of the T1-T2 tumours but were not observed in one third of the T3-T4 tumours, suggesting that these vessels might play an important role for the progression of oral cancer, perhaps by suppressing tumour growth. HEVs have however been shown to be plastic and able to differentiate and dedifferentiate upon various stimuli, such as from the tumour microenvironment [13]. Thus, in larger tumours, HEVs might transdifferentiate to normal blood vessels and gradually lose their specific marker PNAd. Several studies have reported that such a remodelling is associated with poor prognosis [27, 28]. Dendritic cells

 Table 3
 Multivariate analysis of

 5-year disease-specific death
 according to Cox's proportional

 hazards model^a
 accordinal

Variable	Hazard ratio	95 % CI	P value
T stage (T1/T2 [n=49] vs. T3/T4 [n=20])	8.296	3.120-22.062	< 0.001
HEV (negative $[n=6]$ vs. positive $[n=63]$)	0.147	0.044-0.490	0.002

^a Only 69 patients were analysed because the cases with the unknown T and N stages were taken out from the calculations
are thought to be important regulators of HEV-mediated lymphocyte trafficking to lymph nodes [24]. In the absence of dendritic cells, mature HEVs were seen to revert to an immature phenotype, and HEV-mediated lymphocyte recruitment to lymph nodes was inhibited [26]. Thus, it might be that more advanced tumours have found ways to disarm the dendritic cells causing HEV regression. Generation and maturation of dendritic cells, however, might vary with tumour grade and also within the tumours, which might then result in heterogeneous HEV phenotypes. We found dilated and especially branched HEVs to be characterized by a gradual loss of their PNAd staining. Moreover, these morphologically altered HEVs were generally associated with low grade of inflammation. Accordingly, HEVs with a thick wall and a small lumen-resembling the lymphocyte trafficking functional phenotype-were mostly located in areas with more prominent lymphocytic infiltration. These findings are consistent with previous results, where HEVs lined by a cuboidal endothelium were surrounded by more lymphocytes than those lined by a flat endothelium [39]. In our patient cohort, HEVs with different morphologies were found in the same tumours. Tumour growth from a single cell is a stepwise progression, and the heterogeneity of HEV morphology within a single tumour might be due to transition processes in tumour immunogeneity.

It has earlier been shown that remodelling of HEVs in lymph nodes of human breast cancer and OSCC patients is a poor prognostic factor [27, 28]. In the present study, we have not investigated the presence and morphology of HEVs in metastatic lymph nodes of these patients. However, in future studies, it would be of great interest to investigate the HEV status in the respective lymphatic basin. Further, we did not evaluate the association between specific morphological phenotypes and clinicopathological characteristics, but rather, the presence of HEVs irrespective of their morphologic features, as many tumours displayed several morphological HEV phenotypes. Hence, we can only hypothesize that morphologically altered vessels might have adverse effects on tumour progression. Additionally, it would be interesting to see if HEVs with weak PNAd staining start expressing blood vessel markers and if HEV phenotype is associated with presence or absence of dendritic cells. Another weakness of our study is that we conducted semi-quantitative analyses of HEV surrounding lymphocytes but did not distinguish between different subsets of lymphocytic cells. However, future studies are needed to better characterize the inflammatory infiltrate in which HEVs arise, as cell-type-specific transcription factors are probably involved in the development and maintenance of HEVs [13]. Studying different subsets of immune cells and specific chemokines might be an interesting supplement to better understand possible interactions between HEVs and the tumour microenvironment. Finally yet importantly, our results have to be confirmed in larger studies.

In conclusion, we report that the presence of tumourassociated HEVs in OSCCs is significantly correlated with lower DSD. Tumour HEVs were commonly found in early stage OSCCs, but only in two thirds of the T3-T4 tumours. Thus, evaluation of this biomarker might be important to identify patients with more aggressive T3-T4 OSCCs. Our results on HEV morphology indicate an intricate relationship between HEVs and the surrounding microenvironment. HEVs are highly plastic, and shifting from a lymphocyte- to a bloodcarrying vessel might be associated with tumour progression. Thus, identification of markers and genes for HEV development and regulation in cancer-associated inflammation may open new opportunities for targeted therapies and genetic manipulation. As immunohistochemical detection of HEVs is simple, and the distribution of these vessels seems to be even throughout a tumour, this may be a valuable supplement to the TNM staging for prognosis assessment and treatment stratification in OSCC patients.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by grants from The North Norwegian Regional Health Authorities and The Erna and Olav Aakre Foundation for Cancer Research. We are also grateful for advice from Dr. Kristin A. Fenton, Professor Elin Mortensen and M.Sc. Stine Figenschau at the Department of Medical Biology, University of Tromsø-The Arctic University of Norway (UiT), and for excellent technical help from Anne-Lise Klodiussen at the Department of Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway (UNN), and Bente Mortensen as well as Marit Nina Nilsen at the Department of Medical Biology, UiT. We would also like to show our gratitude to Professor Tom Wilsgård at the Department of Community Medicine, UiT, for statistical advice. We further want to express our sincere thanks to Carol-Immanuel Geppert and the Department of Pathology at Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen-Nuremberg, Germany, for providing the scanning facilities. We also thank Dr. Gunbjørg Svineng, Dr. Peter McCourt and M.Sc. Maarten Beerepoot for advice and critical revision of the manuscript.

Ethical approval All procedures performed in this study involving human material were in accordance with the ethical standards of the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Northern Norway (REK-number 22/2007) and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. For this type of study, formal consent is not required. This article does not contain any studies with animals performed by any of the authors.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflicts of interest None

Research involving human participants and/or animals All procedures performed in this study involving human material were in accordance with the ethical standards of the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Northern Norway (REK-number 22/2007) and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. This article does not present any animal studies.

Informed consent The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Northern Norway approved the study without requiring informed consent from the patients, as many of them were dead when the study was initiated.

References

- Barnes L, Eveson JW, Reichart P, Sidransky D. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of head and neck tumours. Lyon: IARC Press; 2005.
- Sobin LH, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C. TNM classification of malignant tumours. 7th ed. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons; 2011.
- 3. Leemans CR, Braakhuis BJ, Brakenhoff RH. The molecular biology of head and neck cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(1):9–22.
- Rodrigues P, Miguel M, Bagordakis E, Fonseca F, de Aquino S, Santos-Silva A, et al. Clinicopathological prognostic factors of oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma: a retrospective study of 202 cases. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;43(7):795–801.
- Shah NG, Trivedi TI, Tankshali RA, Goswami JV, Jetly DH, Shukla SN, et al. Prognostic significance of molecular markers in oral squamous cell carcinoma: a multivariate analysis. Head Neck. 2009;31(12):1544–56.
- Valenciano A, Henríquez-Hernández L, Lloret M, Pinar B, Lara P. New biological markers in the decision of treatment of head and neck cancer patients. Clin Transl Oncol. 2014;16(10):849–58.
- Oliveira L, Ribeiro-Silva A. Prognostic significance of immunohistochemical biomarkers in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;40(3):298–307.
- Søland TM, Brusevold IJ. Prognostic molecular markers in cancerquo vadis? Histopathology. 2013;63(3):297–308.
- 9. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100(1):57–70.
- Martinet L, Garrido I, Filleron T, Le Guellec S, Bellard E, Fournie J-J, et al. Human solid tumors contain high endothelial venules: association with T- and B-lymphocyte infiltration and favorable prognosis in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71(17):5678–87.
- Martinet L, Garrido I, Girard J-P. Tumor high endothelial venules (HEVs) predict lymphocyte infiltration and favorable prognosis in breast cancer. OncoImmunology. 2012;1(5):789–90.
- Drayton DL, Liao S, Mounzer RH, Ruddle NH. Lymphoid organ development: from ontogeny to neogenesis. Nat Immunol. 2006;7(4):344–53.
- Hayasaka H, Taniguchi K, Fukai S, Miyasaka M. Neogenesis and development of the high endothelial venules that mediate lymphocyte trafficking. Cancer Sci. 2010;101(11):2302-8.
- Hwang ST, Singer MS, Giblin PA, Yednock TA, Bacon KB, Simon SI, et al. GlyCAM-1, a physiologic ligand for L-selectin, activates beta 2 integrins on naive peripheral lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1996;184(4):1343–8.
- Girard J-P, Springer TA. High endothelial venules (HEVs): specialized endothelium for lymphocyte migration. Immunol Today. 1995;16(9):449–57.
- Goc J, Fridman W-H, Sautès-Fridman C, Dieu-Nosjean M-C. Characteristics of tertiary lymphoid structures in primary cancers. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(12):e26836.
- Anderson AO, Shaw S. T cell adhesion to endothelium: the FRC conduit system and other anatomic and molecular features which facilitate the adhesion cascade in lymph node. Seminars in immunology. San Diego: Academic Press; 1993. p. 271–82.
- Pagès F, Galon J, Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Tartour E, Sautès-Fridman C, Fridman W-H. Immune infiltration in human tumors: a prognostic factor that should not be ignored. Oncogene. 2010;29(8):1093–102.
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):298–306.

- Mebius RE. Organogenesis of lymphoid tissues. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(4):292–303.
- Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Antoine M, Danel C, Heudes D, Wislez M, Poulot V, et al. Long-term survival for patients with non-smallcell lung cancer with intratumoral lymphoid structures. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(27):4410–7.
- Coppola D, Nebozhyn M, Khalil F, Dai H, Yeatman T, Loboda A, et al. Unique ectopic lymph node-like structures present in human primary colorectal carcinoma are identified by immune gene array profiling. Am J Pathol. 2011;179(1): 37–45.
- Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, Uhlin-Hansen L, Hadler-Olsen E. Characterisation and prognostic value of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma. BMC Clin Pathol. 2014;14(1):38.
- Veerman KM, Lafouresse F, Girard J-P. Tumor high endothelial venules and lymphocyte trafficking. Molecular Mechanisms of Angiogenesis. Paris: Springer; 2014. p. 339–52
- Liao S, Ruddle NH. Synchrony of high endothelial venules and lymphatic vessels revealed by immunization. J Immunol. 2006;177(5):3369–79.
- Moussion C, Girard J-P. Dendritic cells control lymphocyte entry to lymph nodes through high endothelial venules. Nature. 2011;479(7374):542–6.
- Lee SY, Qian C-N, Ooi AS, Chen P, Wong HMB, Myint SS, et al. Changes in specialized blood vessels in lymph nodes and their role in cancer metastasis. J Transl Med. 2012;10(1):206.
- Qian C-N, Berghuis B, Tsarfaty G, Bruch M, Kort EJ, Ditlev J, et al. Preparing the "soil": the primary tumor induces vasculature reorganization in the sentinel lymph node before the arrival of metastatic cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66(21):10365–76.
- Rosen SD, Daneman R. High endothelial venules through a transcriptomics lens. Nat Immunol. 2014;15(10):906–8.
- Altman DG, McShane LM, Sauerbrei W, Taube SE. Reporting recommendations for tumor marker prognostic studies (REMARK): explanation and elaboration. BMC Med. 2012;10(1):51.
- 31. Beahrs OH, Myers MH. Manual for staging of cancer. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott; 1983. p. 27–32.
- Beahrs OH, Henson DE, Hutter RVP, Myers MH. Manual for staging of cancer. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott; 1988. p. 27–32.
- Beahrs OH, Henson DE, Hutter RVP, Kennedy BJ. Manual for staging of cancer. 4th ed. Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott; 1992. p. 25–30.
- Fleming ID, Cooper JS, Henson DE, Hutter RVP, Kennedy BJ, Murphy GP, et al. AJCC Cancer staging manual. 5th ed. Philadelphia, New York: Lippincott-Raven; 1997. p. 24–30.
- 35. Hadler-Olsen E, Wetting HL, Rikardsen O, Steigen SE, Kanapathippillai P, Grénman R, et al. Stromal impact on tumor growth and lymphangiogenesis in human carcinoma xenografts. Virchows Arch. 2010;457(6):677–92.
- Weidner N, Carroll P, Flax J, Blumenfeld W, Folkman J. Tumor angiogenesis correlates with metastasis in invasive prostate carcinoma. Am J Pathol. 1993;143(2):401.
- Ghaznavi F, Evans A, Madabhushi A, Feldman M. Digital imaging in pathology: whole-slide imaging and beyond. Annu Rev Pathol: Mech Dis. 2013;8:331–59.
- Martinet L, Le Guellec S, Filleron T, Lamant L, Meyer N, Rochaix P, et al. High endothelial venules (HEVs) in human melanoma lesions: major gateways for tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. OncoImmunology. 2012;1(6):829–39.
- 39. Avram G, Sánchez-Sendra B, Martín JM, Terrádez L, Ramos D, Monteagudo C. The density and type of MECA-79-positive high endothelial venules correlate with lymphocytic infiltration and

tumour regression in primary cutaneous melanoma. Histopathology. 2013;63(6):852–61.

- 40. de Chaisemartin L, Goc J, Damotte D, Validire P, Magdeleinat P, Alifano M, et al. Characterization of chemokines and adhesion molecules associated with T cell presence in tertiary lymphoid structures in human lung cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71(20):6391–9.
- Seoane J, Mattos-Arruda D. The challenge of intratumour heterogeneity in precision medicine. J Intern Med. 2014;276(1):41–51.
- 42. Martinet L, Filleron T, Le Guellec S, Rochaix P, Garrido I, Girard J-P. High endothelial venule blood vessels for tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are associated with lymphotoxin β-producing dendritic cells in human breast cancer. J Immunol. 2013;191(4):2001–8.

Supplementary material

Supplementary figure



Figure S1. Log minus log plots for proportional hazards checking; (A) T stage, (B) N stage, (C) tumour site, (D) high-endothelial venules (HEVs).

Paper III

ARTICLE





Presence of high-endothelial venules correlates with a favorable immune microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma

Anna Maria Wirsing¹ · Ida Korsnes Ervik¹ · Marit Seppola¹ · Lars Uhlin-Hansen^{1,2} · Sonja Eriksson Steigen^{1,2} · Elin Hadler-Olsen^{1,2}

Received: 9 October 2017 / Revised: 20 December 2017 / Accepted: 21 December 2017 © United States & Canadian Academy of Pathology 2018

Abstract

Oral squamous cell carcinomas are associated with a poor prognosis, which may be partly due to functional impairment of the immune response. Lymphocyte recruitment to the tumor site is facilitated by high-endothelial venules, whereas expression of programmed-death ligand 1 (PD-L1) can impair T-cell function. Thus, we hypothesize that these factors are important in shaping the immune response in oral squamous cell carcinoma. In the present study, we characterized the immune infiltrate in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tumor samples from 75 oral squamous cell carcinoma patients. We used immunohistochemistry to determine the distribution of immune cell subsets, high-endothelial venules, and PD-L1, as well as quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction to assess the expression of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines associated with lymphocyte trafficking. Finally, we calculated correlations between the presence of immune cell subsets, the gene expression patterns, high-endothelial venules, PD-L1, and the clinicopathological parameters, including patient survival. The presence of high-endothelial venules correlated with increased number of CD3+ T cells and CD20+ B cells, higher levels of the chemokines CXCL12 and CCL21, and lower levels of CCL20, irrespective of the tumors' T stage. In univariate analysis, high levels of CD20+ B cells and CD68+ macrophages, positive high-endothelial venule status, and low T and N stages predicted longer patient survival. However, only the presence of high-endothelial venules and a low T stage were independent positive prognosticators. This indicates that high-endothelial venules are important mediators and a convenient marker of an antitumor immune response in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Our findings suggest that these vessels are a potential immunomodulatory target in this type of cancer. PD-L1 staining in tumor cells correlated with lower T stage, increased infiltration of CD4+ cells, and higher expression of several inflammation-related cytokines. Thus, oral squamous cell carcinomas rich in CD4+ cells may preferentially respond to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade therapy.

Introduction

The majority of oral cancers are squamous cell carcinomas, and their incidence is increasing in many Western countries

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1038/s41379-018-0019-5) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Elin Hadler-Olsen elin.hadler-olsen@uit.no [1]. Oral squamous cell carcinomas are regarded as aggressive cancers, but tumors of the same stage show substantial heterogeneity in progression and response to treatment. Unlike many other cancers, such as breast, lung, and colorectal cancer, there are no reliable biomarkers that predict the aggressiveness or treatment response of an individual oral squamous cell carcinoma [2–4].

The immune system is an important and complex regulator of tumor evolution. Immune suppression promotes tumorigenesis in murine models [5]; and likewise, a number of cancers occur with increased frequency and aggressiveness in immunocompromised patients [6]. Mutated cells express altered proteins or tumor-specific antigens that usually evoke an immune response [7]. However, the intensity and composition of the tumor-associated inflammation vary between patients and may affect prognosis, as demonstrated in melanoma, breast, and ovarian cancer

¹ Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø—The Arctic University of Norway, 9037 Tromsø, Norway

² Department of Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway, 9038 Tromsø, Norway

Target	Primary antibody	Dilution	Incubation time (min)
T cells	Rabbit monoclonal anti-CD3, clone 2GV6; Ventana Medical Systems, Tucson, AZ	Pre-diluted	16
T helper and T regulatory cells	Rabbit monoclonal anti-CD4, clone SP35; Ventana Medical Systems	Pre-diluted	32
Cytotoxic T cells	Rabbit monoclonal anti CD8, clone SP57; Ventana Medical Systems	Pre-diluted	32
B cells	Mouse monoclonal anti-CD20, clone L26; Ventana Medical Systems	Pre-diluted	16
Macrophages	Mouse monoclonal anti-CD68, clone KP-1; Ventana Medical Systems	Pre-diluted	12
Dendritic cells	Mouse anti-DC-LAMP/CD208, clone 104G4, #DDX0190; Dendritics, Dardilly, France	1:50	32
PD-L1+ tumor cells	Rabbit monoclonal anti-PD-L1, clone SP263, #790–4905; Ventana Medical Systems	Pre-diluted	16
High-endothelial venules	Rat anti-PNAd, clone MECA-79; Biolegend, San Diego, CA	1:25	30

Table 1 Primary antibodies for immunohistochemistry

[8–10]. For some cancers, including melanoma and head and neck cancer, an inflamed and a non-inflamed phenotype have been described [11, 12]. Inflamed tumors are characterized by marked T-cell infiltration and high expression of chemokines that can recruit effector T cells, and are generally associated with a favorable prognosis [13]. Noninflamed tumors, on the other hand, may be linked to defective recruitment of immune cells to the tumor microenvironment, and predict a poor outcome. Lymphocyte extravasation can be regulated by high-endothelial venules, which are blood vessels expressing peripheral node addressin that binds L-selectin on circulating naive lymphocytes [14]. High-endothelial venules are present in secondary lymphoid organs, and develop regularly in chronically inflamed tissue [15]. We have previously reported that the presence of high-endothelial venules is associated with improved survival in oral squamous cell carcinomas [16], which is in line with results from studies on melanoma and breast cancer [17, 18]. However, these vessels are plastic, and their remodeling into regular blood vessels may impair lymphocyte recruitment and precede sentinel lymph node metastasis [19, 20].

Although oral squamous cell carcinomas are mostly of the inflamed phenotype suggesting effective immune surveillance [13], these cancers are generally associated with poor survival. This could be explained by immune editing mechanisms that impair infiltrating lymphocytes and allow tumor progression despite the apparent immune response [21]. Programmed-death ligand 1 (PD-L1)-expressing cells can induce immune suppression by binding the PD-1 receptor (PD-1) on activated T cells and downregulate effector T-cell functions [22-24]. Reversing immunosuppression through blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway has shown clinical efficacy in various cancers, including oral squamous cell carcinoma [25-27]. However, studies on the prevalence and prognostic role of PD-L1 expression in oral squamous cell carcinoma are limited, and conflicting results are reported [22, 28, 29]. To date, it remains unclear why only a subset of patients respond to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade treatment.

In a cohort of 75 oral squamous cell carcinoma patients, we recently demonstrated that advanced-stage tumors with high-endothelial venules present were associated with a more pronounced inflammatory response and longer patient survival compared to their high-endothelial venule-negative counterpart [16]. In the present study on the same patient cohort, we explored the hypothesis that high-endothelial venules are master regulators of tumor immunity in oral squamous cell carcinoma by characterizing the immune cell infiltration and cytokine expression in relation to presence of such vessels. Furthermore, we analyzed the association between the tumors' PD-L1 expression and the immune response, and examined a potential relationship between high-endothelial venules and PD-L1 statuses.

Materials and methods

Patients and material

In this retrospective study, we included 75 patients diagnosed with primary oral squamous cell carcinoma in the period 1986-2002 from the archives of the Department of Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway. Follow-ups were continued until January 1, 2012. Patients were included in the study if both clinical data and formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tumor specimens (biopsy or surgical resection) were available. Only patients with cancers in the oral cavity proper were included, and they were distributed among the following locations: mobile tongue (n = 36); floor of the mouth (n = 21); the alveolar ridge (n = 9); buccal mucosa (n = 7); palatal arches (n = 1) and unspecified oral cavity (n = 1). Exclusion criteria were prior radiotherapy to the head and neck area as well as previous oral or oropharyngeal cancer. Sixty-eight percent of the patients received surgery in combination with radiotherapy,

15% concomitant radiotherapy and chemotherapy, 11% surgery in combination with local neck-dissection, 5% none or palliative therapy, and 1% were unknown. We retrieved clinical and histopathologic information from the patients' hospital files, pathology reports, and the Statistics of Norway, Cause of Death Registry, and have earlier published these data in studies analyzing the same patient cohort [16, 30]. Pathological tumor staging was determined according to the most recent (second to fifth) TNM classification from the American Joint Committee on Cancer at the time of diagnosis. There were no changes in the classification of cancers of the lip and oral cavity between the different editions used, so that the description in the fifth edition is relevant for all cases [31]. We conducted the study in line with the REMARK guidelines for tumor marker prognostic studies [32], and following approval from the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Northern Norway (REK-number 22/2007).

Immunohistochemistry

We used 4-µm-thick sections of formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tumor specimens from oral squamous cell carcinoma patients for immunohistochemical analyses, and performed both automated and manual staining methods. Specifications of the primary antibodies as well as their incubation conditions are listed in Table 1. We used CD3 as a pan T-cell marker. Various subtypes of T helper and T regulatory (Treg) cells express CD4 strongly, whereas monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells may show weak expression. Cytotoxic T cells, and to less extent, natural killer cells and subsets of dendritic cells express CD8. CD20 is a pan B-cell marker, and CD68 is a pan macrophage marker, but it may also stain subsets of lymphocytes, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells. Mature dendritic cells and, to some extent, pneumocytes express DC-lamp/CD208.

Automated staining

Staining for CD3, CD4, CD8, CD20, CD68, and PD-L1 was done in the automated slide stainer Ventana Benchmark, XT (Ventana, Tucson, AZ, USA) at the Diagnostic Clinic—Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway, accredited according to the ISO/IEC 15189 standard for the respective staining, as previously published [30]. Briefly, for antigen retrieval, deparaffinized and blocked sections were heat-treated in 0.01 M sodium citrate buffer at pH 6.0. A cocktail of horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labeled goat anti-mouse IgG/IgM and mouse antirabbit secondary antibodies (Ventana UltraView Universal DAB Detection Kit, #760–500, Roche, Mannheim, Germany) were used for visualization with diaminobenzidine. As these procedures are automatized, the manufacturer

controls the incubation time of secondary antibodies. In every run, one slide with known positivity for the different antibodies (tonsil or lymph node) was added as control. Automated staining runs for PD-L1 included in addition a negative control slide with rabbit monoclonal negative control Ig (#790-4795, Ventana) for each patient. DC-lamp staining was performed in the Ventana Discovery ULTRA autostainer (Ventana). After dewaxing, cell conditioning-1 solution (#950-124, Ventana) was applied for antigen retrieval for 32 min at 95 °C. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked by discovery inhibitor CM (#760-4840, Ventana). After incubation with the DC-lamp primary antibody, the pre-diluted secondary antibody (OmniMap anti-mouse HRP; #760-4310, Ventana) was loaded for 20 min followed by HRP amplification and visualization by ChromoMap DAB (#760-159; Ventana). Counterstaining was performed using the hematoxylin II counterstain reagent (#790–2208, Ventana). Metastatic lymph node tissue microarray slides of lung cancer were used as positive control. Giemsa staining was performed using BenchMark Special Stains, an automated slide stainer from Ventana. In every run, one slide with known positivity for the stain was added as control.

Manual staining

Peripheral node addressin staining for the detection of highendothelial venules was performed as previously described [30]. In brief, sections were deparaffinized, rehydrated, subjected to heat-induced antigen retrieval, blocked, and incubated with the peripheral node addressin primary antibody. Next, the sections were incubated with HRP-labeled goat anti-rat light chain secondary antibody (#AP202P, Millipore, Temecula, CA, diluted 1:250, incubated 30 min) diaminobenzidine and (Dako EnVision+ System-Horseradish Peroxidase, Dako) before being counterstained with Harry's hematoxylin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Human lymph node specimens were used as positive control, and specimens with the primary antibody omitted served as negative control.

Immunohistochemical evaluation

Two trained, independent observers (either EHO and AMW, or SES and IKE) who were blinded to the clinical outcome evaluated the immunohistochemical staining quantitatively and semiquantitatively, as illustrated in the flow chart of Figure S1. We assessed inter-observer variations for all staining except DC-lamp and PD-L1, and the results are listed in Table S1. Agreement was reached by reevaluation and discussion in case of differing scores. For DC-lamp and PD-L1, the two investigators reached consensus when evaluating the slides together. Micrographs

were taken with a Leica DFC 420 camera on a Leica DM2000 microscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). Presence of high-endothelial venules was assessed as published earlier [16]. Briefly, we scanned the peripheral node addressin stained tumor-adjacent tissue at low power magnification $(\times 100)$ to identify five areas with high density of highendothelial venules (hotspots). Micrographs of these hotspots were taken at high power magnification ($\times 400$), and the mean number of high-endothelial venules per section was calculated for each patient by dividing the sum of these vessels in the five hotspots by five. The median number of high-endothelial venules per hotspot for all patients served as cutoff for positive and negative count. Figure S2 shows a micrograph of tumor-associated high-endothelial venules. Giemsa staining was used to identify mast cells and eosinophils as cells with round nuclei and blue/purple granules or cells with lobulated nuclei and bright orange/pink granules, respectively. For each of the cell types, five hotspots in the tumor stroma were identified at low power magnification, and micrographs were taken at $\times 400$ magnification. The total cell number in the hotspots was counted and the mean number calculated. The cutoff for high vs. low count was defined as the median number for the patient cohort, which was 10 for eosinophils and 3 for mast cells. We scored the CD3+, CD4+, CD8+, CD20+, and CD68+ staining semiquantitatively, as it was impossible to apply a quantitative scoring system in densely stained areas. First, we identified the invasive margin of the tumor at low power magnification ($\times 100$), and micrographs were taken at $\times 400$ magnification, capturing every second visual field of this area. Thus, the number of microscope fields depended on the tumor size. We developed a four-degree scoring scale for the different cell subsets as illustrated in Figure S3, and assigned each micrograph a score: 0 = no or almost no infiltration; 1 = mild infiltration; 2 = moderate infiltration; and 3 = heavy infiltration. In cases where evaluation was difficult because of weak staining or nonspecific background staining, the positively stained cells were counted, and the scores determined according to the respective cutoff. We calculated a mean score for each section before dichotomizing as low or high if it was 0-1.49 or 1.5-3, respectively. PD-L1 expression was assessed based on the percentage of positively labeled tumor cells in each section, and was classified as follows: 0 (labeling in ≤5% of cells), 1 (labeling in >5% and $\leq 10\%$ of cells), 2 (labeling in >10%) and $\leq 50\%$ of cells), and 3 (labeling in >50\% of cells). Expression of DC-lamp was found only in inflamed areas of the tumor stroma and was scored as not expressed (0), slightly expressed [1], moderately expressed [2], or strongly expressed [3] based on semiquantitative evaluation. Both PD-L1 and DC-lamp scores were subsequently grouped into two categories: low expression (0 or 1); and high expression (2 or 3).

RNA extraction and quality control

RNA extraction was performed to evaluate gene expression of cytokines. In cases with sufficient residual tumor material, we isolated total RNA from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded oral squamous cell carcinoma tissue blocks using the High Pure FFPET RNA Isolation Kit (Roche) following the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, up to four consecutive, 5–10 µm-thick sections from each block were deparaffinized and digested with proteinase K, followed by multiple silica-based column purification steps and DNAse I treatment. The RNA on the column was washed several times before being eluted in 20-35 µl elution buffer. We used a mixture of RNA isolated from three different fresh frozen (in liquid nitrogen) human lymphoma specimens as a positive control for further real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR) analyses. The RNeasy Fibrous Tissue mini Kit (Qiagen) was used for RNA isolation according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the tissue was homogenized using a TissueLyser (Oiagen) before digestion with proteinase K and centrifugation. The supernatant was washed and treated with DNAse I on a miniature column, and the RNA eluated in 50 µl nuclease-free water. We measured total RNA quantity and purity on the NanoDrop spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA), and assessed RNA integrity using the Experion automated electrophoresis system (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, USA).

Real-time quantitative PCR

We used the QuantiTect Reverse Transcription kit (Qiagen) to reverse transcribe 100-200 ng total RNA into cDNA, which was subsequently diluted 1:15 in nuclease-free water. QPCR was performed in duplicates or triplicates using the Light Cycler 96 instrument (Roche). Target cDNA was amplified through 40 cycles in 20 μ l reactions containing 1 \times FastStart Essential DNA Green Master (Roche), 10 µl diluted cDNA (1:15), and 300 nM primers (Table S2). Melting curve analysis was used to verify the specificity of the primers. Controls with the reverse transcriptase omitted and non-template controls were included to test for genomic DNA contamination and carry-over products, respectively. The qPCR amplification efficiency for each gene was calculated from the slope and correlation coefficient (R2) of regression curves from twofold serially diluted cDNA. The $\triangle \Delta Ct$ method [33] was used to calculate the relative amount of target mRNA normalized against the geometric mean of the reference genes elongation factor 1 alpha, ribosomal protein L27, and ribosomal protein S13. We used geNorm analyses [34] to select three stably expressed reference genes. For association with high-endothelial venules and PD-L1 statuses, we present the results as fold increase compared to the mean of the group with the lowest gene expression (±standard error of mean).

Presence of high-endothelial venules	s correlate	es with
--------------------------------------	-------------	---------

Table 2	Comparison of low vs	. high counts of infiltrating	g immune cells in OSCC	patients ^a with and withou	t HEVs using Fisher's exact test
					• /

	All tumors			T1/T2			T3/T	4		
	HEV+	HEV-		All HEV+	All (HEV+/-)		HEV+		HEV-	
	No. (%)	No. (%)	Р	No. (%)	No. (%)	Р	No. (%)	Р	No. (%)	P
CD3										
Low	15 (22.4)	6 (85.7)	0.002	11 (21.2)	10 (47.6)	0.026	4 (28.6)	0.396	6 (85.7)	0.002
High	52 (77.6)	1 (14.3)		41 (78.8)	11 (52.4)		10 (71.4)		1 (14.3)	
CD4										
Low	44 (65.7)	5 (100.0)	0.170	34 (65.4)	14 (73.7)	0.359	9 (64.3)	0.587	5 (100.0)	0.138
High	23 (34.3)	0 (0.0)		18 (34.6)	5 (26.3)		5 (35.7)		0 (0.0)	
CD8										
Low	35 (52.2)	5 (100.0)	0.061	28 (53.8)	12 (63.2)	0.336	7 (50.0)	0.517	5 (100.0)	0.057
High	32 (47.8)	0 (0.0)		24 (46.2)	7 (36.8)		7 (50.0)		0 (0.0)	
CD20										
Low	26 (38.2)	6 (85.7)	0.038	20 (37.7)	12 (57.1)	0.104	6 (42.9)	0.478	6 (85.7)	0.022
High	42 (61.8)	1 (14.3)		33 (62.3)	9 (42.9)		8 (57.1)		1 (14.3)	
CD68										
Low	33 (48.5)	6 (85.7)	0.109	22 (41.5)	17 (81.0)	0.002	11 (78.6)	0.014	6 (85.7)	0.034
High	35 (51.5)	1 (14.3)		31 (58.5)	4 (19.0)		3 (21.4)		1 (14.3)	
DC-lamp										
Low	32 (51.6)	5 (71.4)	0.279	25 (53.2)	11 (52.4)	0.579	6 (42.9)	0.354	5 (71.4)	0.314
High	30 (48.4)	2 (28.6)		22 (46.8)	10 (47.6)		8 (57.1)		2 (28.6)	
Eosinophil	s									
Low	37 (55.2)	6 (85.7)	0.227	26 (50.0)	16 (76.2)	0.035	10 (71.4)	0.129	6 (85.7)	0.082
High	30 (44.8)	1 (14.3)		26 (50.0)	5 (23.8)		4 (28.6)		1 (14.3)	
Mast cells										
Low	32 (47.8)	6 (85.7)	0.108	25 (48.1)	13 (61.9)	0.209	7 (50.0)	0.568	6 (85.7)	0.068
High	35 (52.2)	1 (14.3)		27 (51.9)	8 (38.1)		7 (50.0)		1 (14.3)	
PD-L1										
Low	23 (59.0)	4 (66.7)	0.544	15 (50.0)	12 (85.7)	0.024	8 (100.0)	0.010	4 (66.7)	0.386
High	16 (41.0)	2 (33.3)		15 (50.0)	2 (14.3)		0 (0.0)		2 (33.3)	

HEV high-endothelial venule

^aAnalyses for CD3+ cells, eosinophils, and mast cells were carried out in 74 patients, for CD4+ and CD8+ cells in 72 patients, for DC-lamp+ cells in 69 patients, and for PD-L1+ cells in 45 patients. All other analyses included 75 patients

For survival and correlation analyses, we dichotomized the results in low and high expression based on the median of fold increase as cutoff.

Statistical analysis

We used SPSS software version 22.0 for Windows (IBM, Armonk, NY) and Microsoft Excel 2013 (Microsoft, Redmond, WA) for all calculations. Inter-observer variability for the various quantitative and semiquantitative cell counts was analyzed using the Spearman correlation test, and correlation between two variables was assessed by the Fisher's exact test. We used univariate Kaplan–Meier analyses to calculate disease-specific death rates and plot disease-specific survival curves, and the log-rank test to evaluate the statistical significance. Multivariate analyses were done using a stepwise forward multiple Cox regression model. Linear regression analyses of standard curves derived from serially diluted cDNA were used to estimate qPCR amplification efficiency. The significance level was set at P < 0.05, and the borderline significance level at P < 0.09.

Results

High-endothelial venules predict T- and B-cell infiltration into oral squamous cell carcinomas

We recently demonstrated a correlation between the presence and morphology of high-endothelial venules and the



Fig. 1 Log2-fold gene expression of various chemokines in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded oral squamous cell carcinoma tissue samples. Comparison of the following groups: **a** high-endothelial venule (HEV)-positive vs. HEV-negative tumors; **b** T1/T2 vs. T3/T4 tumors; **c** T1/T2 vs. T3/T4 tumors with HEVs; and **d** T1/T2 vs. T3/T4 tumors without HEVs. All T1/T2 tumors were HEV-positive. Error bars indicate \pm standard error of the mean, and **P* < 0.05. The *P*-value was calculated using two sample *T*-test

intensity of the inflammatory infiltrate in oral squamous cell carcinomas [16]. Now, to determine the composition of the immune infiltrate, we immunohistochemically stained tumor sections from 75 oral squamous cell carcinoma patients with antibodies against the following immune cell markers: CD3 (pan T cell); CD4 (T helper, Treg cell); CD8 (cytotoxic T cell); CD20 (pan B cell); CD68 (pan macrophage), and DC-lamp/CD208 (mature dendritic cell). We also performed Giemsa staining to identify eosinophils and mast cells. The high-endothelial venule-negative tumors were generally less infiltrated with immune cells compared to the high-endothelial venule-positive tumors (Table 2). The differences were statistically significant for CD3+ (P = 0.002) and CD20+ (P = 0.038) cells, and borderline significant for CD8+ cells (P = 0.061).

To determine cytokines associated with high-endothelial venules, we conducted qPCR analysis of 42 of the 75 oral squamous cell carcinoma tissue samples, of whom 36 were high-endothelial venule-positive and 6 were negative (Fig. 1a). The lymphoid chemokines CCL19, CCL21, and CXCL12 were significantly higher expressed in the high-endothelial venule-positive compared to the tumors without these vessels (P = 0.04, 0.02, and 0.001, respectively). The inflammatory chemokine CCL20, however, was significantly lower expressed in the high-endothelial venule-positive than in the -negative tumors (P = 0.02). Taken together, our results shows that high-endothelial venule-positive tumors are more heavily infiltrated with lymphocytes than tumors without such vessels, which may be promoted by the chemokines CCL19, CCL21, and CXCL12.

Oral squamous cell carcinomas with highendothelial venules retain an inflamed phenotype even at high T stage

In the same oral squamous cell carcinoma patient cohort, we have earlier found that high-endothelial venules were present in all T1/T2 tumors, compared to two-thirds of the T3/ T4 tumors [16], and hypothesized that absence of these vessels in advanced tumor stages may suppress the immune reaction. To elaborate this theory, we compared the immune cell infiltrate and cytokine expression in the T1/T2 tumors with the T3/T4 tumors, as well as the T3/T4 tumors subdivided into high-endothelial venule-positive and -negative. We found a significantly higher amount of infiltrating CD3 + T cells, CD68+ macrophages, and eosinophils in the T1/ T2 tumors (all high-endothelial venule-positive) compared to the T3/T4 tumors (high-endothelial venule-positive and -negative) as presented in Table 2 (P = 0.026, 0.002, and 0.035, respectively). Dividing the T3/T4 tumors into highendothelial venule-positive and -negative revealed that the positive had an immune cell infiltrate that resembled the T1/ T2 tumors, except for fewer CD68+ cells in the T3/T4 tumors (P = 0.014). In contrast, the high-endothelial venule-negative T3/T4 tumors showed lower scores than T1/T2 tumors for all immune cell subsets analyzed, except CD4+ cells and DC-lamp+ dendritic cells that were not significantly different.

QPCR analysis of 28 T1/T2 tumor samples (all highendothelial venule-positive) and 13 T3/T4 tumor samples (high-endothelial venule-positive, n = 7; high-endothelial



Fig. 2 Heatmaps of Pearson correlation coefficients. The heatmaps show results from bivariate correlation analyses of the following parameters in the oral squamous cell carcinomas: \mathbf{a} immune cell immunohistochemical scores; \mathbf{b} gene expression pattern; and \mathbf{c} gene

expression pattern and immune cell immunohistochemical scores. White crosses in the heatmaps show significant correlation between the different variables with P < 0.05

venule-negative, n = 6) revealed higher levels of CCL21 and CXCL12, and lower levels of CCL20 in the T1/T2 compared to the T3/T4 tumors (P = 0.04, 0.02, and 0.01, respectively; Fig. 1b). In accordance with the results from immune cell analyses, the high-endothelial venule-positive T3/T4 tumors displayed no statistically significant or borderline significant differences to the T1/T2 tumors' cytokine expression (Fig. 1c). The high-endothelial venule-negative T3/T4 tumors, however, had significantly lower expression of CCL21 and CXCL12 and higher expression of CCL20 (P = 0.02, 0.04, and 0.01, respectively; Fig. 1d) than the T1/T2 tumors. Together, our results suggest that the presence of high-endothelial venules supports an inflamed phenotype even in large (T3/T4) tumors.

T-cell infiltration predicts an immune cell-rich tumor microenvironment and is associated with CCL19, CXCL12, and lymphotoxin b expression

Cytokines, chemokines, and cells of the innate and adaptive immune system interact in complex attraction, activation, and inhibition networks. To reveal putative regulatory mechanisms in the oral squamous cell carcinoma immune infiltrate, we performed correlation analyses between the expression level of cytokines, the various immune cell scores, and the clinicopathological variables. The immunohistochemical score for CD3+ T cells showed statistically significant, positive correlations with all other immune cells analyzed except for mast cells (Fig. 2a). There were few significant correlations between the other immune cell subsets. With the exception of CXCL8, CCL20, and interleukin-1 β (IL1b), we found numerous positive, significant correlations between the expression levels of the different cytokines analyzed (Fig. 2b). Lymphocyte score (CD3+, CD4+, CD8+, and CD20+ cells) showed significant positive correlation with one or several of the cytokines CCL19, CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL12, CXCL13, and lymphotoxin b (LTb; Fig. 2c). None of the cytokines was significantly correlated with the number of CD68+ macrophages, DC-lamp+ dendritic cells, or mast cells, suggesting that these cells are regulated by mechanisms distinct from the other studied immune cell populations. Correlation data of the patients' clinicopathological variables with immune cell scores and cytokine expression levels are presented in Table S3. Of note, the group size for many of the variables is small, smoking history and alcohol consumption are patient-reported data, and treatment choice is strongly influenced by tumor stage and comorbidity. Altogether, our results show that high numbers of CD3+ T cells in oral squamous cell carcinoma are correlated with increased infiltration of a number of other immune cells, and suggest that the cytokines CCL19, CXCL12, and LTb may have a prominent role in promoting immune cell infiltration through their association with T cells.

PD-L1 expression in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells correlates with increased infiltration of CD4+ cells and small tumor size

Cancer cells may escape immune surveillance by expressing PD-L1, which induces apoptosis in PD-1 expressing T lymphocytes, most notably cytotoxic T cells. PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockade has shown promising results in various types of cancer, but only subgroups of patients respond to the treatment. To increase the understanding of PD-L1 expression and its association with the immune micro-environment, we analyzed PD-L1 expression in 45 tumors, randomly chosen from the 75 oral squamous cell carcinoma patient cohort, and determined correlation to infiltrating immune cells, cytokine expression, and the presence of high-endothelial venules. In all, 18 (40%) of the 45 tumor sections stained positive for PD-L1. The staining was either

 Table 3 Comparison of low vs. high numbers of infiltrating immune cells in oral squamous cell carcinoma patients^a with low and high PD-L1 scoring using Fisher's exact test

	PD-L1 low	PD-L1 high	Р
	No. (%)	No. (%)	
CD3			
Low	10 (37.0)	4 (22.2)	0.237
High	17 (63.0)	14 (77.8)	
CD4			
Low	21 (80.8)	8 (47.1)	0.025
High	5 (19.2)	9 (52.9)	
CD8			
Low	18 (69.2)	7 (41.2)	0.066
High	8 (30.8)	10 (58.8)	
CD20			
Low	11 (40.7)	9 (50.0)	0.379
High	16 (59.3)	9 (50.0)	
CD68			
Low	15 (55.6)	9 (50.0)	0.475
High	12 (44.4)	9 (50.0)	
DC-lamp			
Low	14 (58.3)	9 (50.0)	0.411
High	10 (41.7)	9 (50.0)	
Eosinophils			
Low	17 (63.0)	8 (44.4)	0.179
High	10 (37.0)	10 (55.6)	
Mast cells			
Low	13 (48.1)	8 (44.4)	0.525
High	14 (51.9)	10 (55.6)	

^aAnalyses for CD4+ and CD8+ cells were carried out in 43 patients and for DC-lamp+ cells in 42 patients. All other analyses included 45 patients

membranous and/or cytoplasmic as demonstrated in Figure S4. We did not assess PD-L1 positivity of stromal cells because of diffuse staining. Tumors with high PD-L1 expression showed increased infiltration of CD4+ and CD8 + cells compared to those with low PD-L1 expression (P =0.025 and 0.066, respectively; Table 3). They also expressed higher levels of a number of cytokines, including CCL19, CCL21, CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL13, and LTb (P = 0.006, P = 0.010, P < 0.001, P < 0.001, P < 0.001, andP = 0.011, respectively; Fig. 3). PD-L1 score was not correlated with patients' survival (P = 0.207; Table S4). The T3/T4 tumors had significantly lower PD-L1 immune score than the T1/T2 tumors (P = 0.024; Table 2). Dividing the T3/T4 tumors into high-endothelial venule-positive and -negative revealed that all positive T3/T4 tumors had low PD-L1 expression, whereas the negative showed no statistically significant difference in PD-L1 expression compared to the T1/T2 tumors (P = 0.010 and 0.386, respectively). Our results demonstrate that PD-L1 expression in tumor



Fig. 3 Comparison of log2-fold gene expression of various chemokines and cytokines in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded oral squamous cell carcinoma tissue samples with high and low programmeddeath ligand 1 (PD-L1) score. Error bars indicate \pm standard error of the mean, and **P* < 0.05. The *P*-value was calculated using two sample *T*-test

cells is associated with a tumor microenvironment rich in CD4+ cells and inflammatory cytokines, and that highendothelial venules are negatively correlated with PD-L1 in large tumors (T3/T4).

High-endothelial venules are more powerful prognosticators than the N stage and separate components of the oral squamous cell carcinoma immune infiltrate

Many components of the immune infiltrate have been suggested as potential prognosticators for oral cancer, but study results are contradictory. Univariate Kaplan-Meier survival analyses of the immune cell scores and cytokine expression levels in our oral squamous cell carcinoma cohort showed that high numbers of CD20+ B cells and CD68+ macrophages were significant prognosticators for longer 5-year survival (P = 0.002 and 0.027, respectively; Fig. 4 and Table S4). We have previously reported that the high-endothelial venule status, the tumor site as well as the T and N stages were significant prognostic factors in the same patient cohort [16]. All variables that were significantly associated with disease-specific death in univariate analyses were entered into multivariate Cox regression analyses. The proportional hazards assumption was fulfilled for all variables (Figure S5 and [16]). Only the T stage (P < 0.001) and the high-endothelial venule status (P = 0.002) were independent predictors for diseasespecific death (Table 4). These results suggest that highendothelial venules are more important prognostic factors than the N stage and the subsets of the immune infiltrate assessed in this study.

Discussion

In this study, we show that the presence of highendothelial venules is indicative of a favorable immune



Fig. 4 Kaplan–Meier analysis of 5-year disease-specific survival for patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. High counts of **a** CD20+ B cells and **b** CD68+ macrophages were associated with improved survival (P = 0.002 and 0.027, respectively). The Kaplan–Meier

curves show a 5-year disease-specific survival rate of 81.4% for CD20 high vs. 50% for CD20 low tumors (**a**), and 80.6% for CD68 high vs. 56.4% for CD68 low tumors (**b**). The *P*-value was calculated using the log-rank test

Table 4 Multivariate analysis of 5-year disease-specific death according to Cox's proportional hazards model^a

Variable	Hazard ratio	95% CI	Р
T stage (T1/T2 $(n = 49)$ vs. T3/T4 $(n = 20)$)	0.121	0.045-0.321	< 0.001
HEV (positive $(n = 63)$ vs. negative $(n = 6)$)	0.147	0.044-0.490	0.002

^aOnly 69 patients were analyzed because the cases with the unknown T and N stages were taken out from the calculations

microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma, and that these vessels seem to counter-act immunosuppressive mechanisms and improve patient survival irrespective of the tumors' T stage. PD-L1-expressing tumor cells correlated positively to a tumor microenvironment rich in CD4+ cells, but had no prognostic significance. Our results suggest that high-endothelial venules have a pivotal role in shaping an antitumor immune response in oral squamous cell carcinoma, and that PD-1/PD-L1-targeted immunotherapy might be specifically successful in patients with tumors rich in CD4+ cells. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate jointly the role of PD-L1 and highendothelial venules in oral squamous cell carcinoma, two components of the immune infiltrate with important regulatory functions.

High density of tumor-associated high-endothelial venules has earlier been associated with improved survival and inflammation in several cancers, including melanoma, oral, and breast cancers [16, 17, 35], and in the present study, we aimed to determine the composition of the high-endothelial venule associated immune infiltrate in oral squamous cell carcinoma. We found that the high-endothelial venule-positive tumors were heavily infiltrated by CD3+ T cells, CD8+ cytotoxic T cells, and CD20+ B cells, which is in accordance with previous findings in melanoma and breast cancer [17, 18]. Infiltration of CD8+ cytotoxic T cells, and especially a high CD8+/Treg ratio

have been associated with a favorable prognosis in a variety of human solid tumors including ovarian, cervical and oral cancer [36-38]. However, of the immune cell subsets analyzed in our study, only increased infiltration of CD20+ B cells and CD68+ macrophages were significantly correlated with improved patient outcome in univariate analyses. The presence of B cells has earlier been associated with positive outcome in head and neck cancer patients [39, 40]. B cells mediate a humoral immune response by producing tumorspecific antibodies, and these cells often localize and cooperate with T cells to facilitate potent, long-term antitumor responses [41]. In contrast to our results, previous studies have mainly found a negative association between macrophages and patient survival in oral cancer [42-44]. The conflicting results may be due to differences in immunohistochemical procedures and scoring. Besides, tumor-associated macrophages appear in different functional states that may vary between tumors and within specific tumor areas [45, 46], and the pan macrophage marker CD68 does not distinguish between these phenotypes. The CD68 antibody, as well as several of the other antibodies used in this study, is not strictly specific for a single cell type. Accurate assessment of immune cell subsets requires multiple markers for each subtype, which is laborious and costly to incorporate in a day-to-day routine clinical practice. In the present study, only the highendothelial venule- and T-statuses were independent positive prognosticators for 5-year disease-specific survival. This indicates that these vessels are more relevant as prognostic markers than other components of the tumor microenvironment analyzed, and strengthens their role as a potent surrogate marker of an effective antitumor immune response. Immunohistochemical detection of high-endothelial venules is simple and reliable [16], and implementation in clinical pathology practice could thus be straightforward.

Chemokines in and around high-endothelial venules are thought to be crucial for lymphocyte extravasation into lymphoid organs [47]. In the present study, the gene expression of the lymphoid chemokines CXCL12, CCL19, and CCL21 was upregulated in the high-endothelial venulepositive tumors. Expression of CXCL12 is an important attractant for naive T and B cells [48, 49], and has a potential role in high-endothelial venule-mediated T-cell trafficking into lymph nodes in vitro [50]. CCL19 and CCL21 interact with CCR7 on lymphocytes, and trigger efficient T-cell homing. Thus, increased expression of CCL19, CCL21, and CXCL12 in high-endothelial venulepositive tumors supports an important role for these vessels in homing of naive T cells into oral squamous cell carcinoma. Besides their role in lymphocyte homing, CCL19 and CCL21 stimulate migration and maturation of dendritic cells [51]. Through LT expression, dendritic cells promote maintenance of a mature high-endothelial venule phenotype [52]. Therefore, downregulation of CCL21 in T3/T4 tumors may be indicative of a tumor microenvironment with less infiltrating mature dendritic cells, causing dedifferentiation of high-endothelial venules into normal blood vessels [19, 20]. However, we did not find a significant association between DC-lamp, a marker for mature dendritic cells, and high-endothelial venule score. To further study the association between dendritic cells and these vessels, we also performed high-endothelial venule/dendritic cell double staining, but faced technical difficulties (data not shown). In future studies, assessing markers for tumor angiogenesis could be a valuable supplement to investigate high-endothelial venule plasticity, and to shed light on development and maintenance of these vessels in advanced tumors. Furthermore, validating the results of the present study in a larger patient cohort with a higher number of high-endothelial venule-negative tumors is important, as the low number of these tumors in the present study may skew the statistical results.

High-endothelial venule-negative tumors expressed higher levels of the chemokine CCL20 than -positive tumors. CCL20 attracts cells expressing the CCR6 receptor, such as dendritic cells and memory and effector T cells. Several studies have found that CCL20 is a chief attractant of Treg cells, a distinct lineage of CD4+ T cells that suppresses antitumor immune responses [53–55]. Interestingly, tumor cells may also express CCR6, and accordingly, CCL20 has been associated with migration and metastases of cancer cells [56]. We did not specifically stain for Treg cells nor CCR6, but speculate that the downregulation of CCL20 in high-endothelial venule-positive oral squamous cell carcinomas could help sustain an antitumor immune response by avoiding recruitment of Treg cells. This would be interesting to investigate in future studies. In summary, we show that both the early and the advanced highendothelial venule-positive tumors displayed higher levels of tumor-suppressive components of the immune infiltrate than the negative. Along with the vessels' independent prediction of improved survival, this suggests that highendothelial venules promote a tumor-suppressive immune response irrespective of the tumors' T stage.

Tumor progression often correlates with immune evasion. In several cancers, including oral squamous cell carcinoma, immune suppression may be facilitated by PD-L1 that inhibits T-cell functions [22, 23]. In the present study, tumors with high PD-L1 score showed a significant increase in CD4+ cell infiltration (P = 0.025). Increased numbers of immunosuppressive CD4+ Treg cells, as well as dysfunctional T lymphocytes have previously been found to predict immunosuppressive properties in oral cancer patients [57-59]. We also found a borderline significant association between PD-L1+ tumor cells and infiltrating CD8+ cells (P = 0.066), as well as the expression level of a number of inflammation-related cytokines. This suggests that PD-L1 expression by itself does not lead to a non-inflamed tumor environment, but may influence the efficacy of the immune reaction. This is in accordance with several other studies that report PD-L1 expression to be associated with cytotoxic T cells that can induce PD-L1 expression in an interferon (IFN)-y dependent manner [60-62]. CXCL9 is an IFN-yinducible chemokine, and we found a perfect linear relationship between PD-L1 score and CXCL9 expression (r =1; data not shown). Human papilloma virus (HPV)/p16positive tumors had significantly lower CXCL9 expression than HPV/p16-negative tumors. A correlation between HPV-positivity and PD-L1 expression has previously been reported in oropharyngeal cancer [63]. Due to the low number of HPV/p16-positive cancers in our study, the correlation between the virus, CXCL9, and PD-L1 expression in oral cancer needs validation in a study with a higher amount of HPV-positive patients.

Tumors in the floor of the mouth and tumors of cigarette smokers showed significantly lower PD-L1 expression than tumors at other subsites in the oral cavity and tumors of patients who were non-smokers. In the same patient cohort, we have previously reported a correlation between alcohol and tobacco consumption and tumors in the floor of the mouth [64]. Furthermore, tumors in the floor of the mouth expressed less CCL21 than tumors in the other anatomical

sites (Table S5), and tumors with low PD-L1 expression expressed lower levels of CCL21 than tumors with strong PD-L1 expression (Fig. 3). Whether there is a direct effect of CCL21 and/or tobacco on PD-L1 expression would be interesting to investigate in future studies. Interestingly, high PD-L1 expression was also correlated to a lower T stage (P = 0.037), and we found a significantly lower score of PD-L1-expressing tumor cells in the high-endothelial venule-positive T3/T4 compared to the T1/T2 tumors (P =0.010). This may suggest that high-endothelial venulepositive large tumors have overcome PD-L1-mediated immunosuppression, which could contribute to the increased survival of patients with high-endothelial venulepositive T3/T4 tumors. PD-1/PD-L1 blockade is a new immunotherapeutic approach in the combat against cancer, and the clinical success of this treatment correlates to some extent with the tumors' PD-L1 expression [25-27]. It can be speculated that PD-L1-expressing T1/T2 tumors and highendothelial venule-negative T3/T4 tumors with marked Tcell infiltration are good candidates for PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint-targeting therapies.

In conclusion, we show that high-endothelial venules are markers of a favorable antitumor immune microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma, and stronger prognosticators than other subsets of the immune infiltrate. As detection of these vessels is easy and reliable, highendothelial venule status may serve as a valuable supplement to stratify oral squamous cell carcinoma patients for targeted therapeutic approaches. Oral squamous cell carcinomas are generally immunosuppressive tumors with poor patient outcome. Understanding the mechanisms that drive immune cell recruitment and generate effective antitumor responses may provide opportunities to develop new immunomodulatory targets and thereby increase the consistently low survival rates of patients with oral cancer.

Acknowledgements The study was supported by grants from The North Norwegian Health Authorities. The authors thank the technical staff at the Department of Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway, Bente Mortensen, Mehrdad Rakaee Khanehkenari, and Kjersti Julin at the Department of Medical Biology, University of Tromsø—The Arctic University of Norway (UiT) for excellent technical help. We are also grateful for statistical advice from Professor Tom Wilsgård at the Department of Community Medicine, UiT.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

 Annertz K, Anderson H, Palmer K, et al. The increase in incidence of cancer of the tongue in the Nordic countries continues into the twenty-first century. Acta Otolaryngol. 2012;132:552–7.

- Soland TM, Brusevold IJ. Prognostic molecular markers in cancer —quo vadis? Histopathology. 2013;63:297–308.
- Holdenrieder S. Biomarkers along the continuum of care in lung cancer. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl. 2016;245:S40–5.
- Al-Hajeili M, Shields AF, Hwang JJ, et al. Molecular testing to optimize and personalize decision making in the management of colorectal cancer. Oncology (Williston Park). 2017;31:301–12.
- Swann JB, Smyth MJ. Immune surveillance of tumors. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:1137–46.
- Krisl JC, Doan VP. Chemotherapy and transplantation: the role of immunosuppression in malignancy and a review of antineoplastic agents in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2017;17:1974–91.
- Marcus A, Gowen BG, Thompson TW, et al. Recognition of tumors by the innate immune system and natural killer cells. Adv Immunol. 2014;122:91–128.
- Marrogi AJ, Munshi A, Merogi AJ, et al. Study of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and transforming growth factor-beta as prognostic factors in breast carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 1997;74:492–501.
- Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:203–13.
- Clemente CG, Mihm MC Jr, Bufalino R, et al. Prognostic value of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in the vertical growth phase of primary cutaneous melanoma. Cancer. 1996;77:1303–10.
- Gajewski TF. The next hurdle in cancer immunotherapy: overcoming the non-T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. Semin Oncol. 2015;42:663–71.
- 12. Woo SR, Corrales L, Gajewski TF. The STING pathway and the T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:250–6.
- Mandal R, Senbabaoglu Y, Desrichard A, et al. The head and neck cancer immune landscape and its immunotherapeutic implications. JCI Insight. 2016;1:e89829.
- van Zante A, Rosen SD. Sulphated endothelial ligands for Lselectin in lymphocyte homing and inflammation. Biochem Soc Trans. 2003;31:313–7.
- 15. Hayasaka H, Taniguchi K, Fukai S, et al. Neogenesis and development of the high endothelial venules that mediate lymphocyte trafficking. Cancer Sci. 2010;101:2302–8.
- Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, et al. Presence of tumour high-endothelial venules is an independent positive prognostic factor and stratifies patients with advanced-stage oral squamous cell carcinoma. Tumour Biol. 2016;37:2449–59.
- Martinet L, Garrido I, Girard JP. Tumor high endothelial venules (HEVs) predict lymphocyte infiltration and favorable prognosis in breast cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:789–90.
- Martinet L, Le Guellec S, Filleron T, et al. High endothelial venules (HEVs) in human melanoma lesions: major gateways for tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1: 829–39.
- Lee SY, Chao-Nan Q, Seng OA, et al. Changes in specialized blood vessels in lymph nodes and their role in cancer metastasis. J Transl Med. 2012;10:206.
- Qian CN, Berghuis B, Tsarfaty G, et al. Preparing the "soil": the primary tumor induces vasculature reorganization in the sentinel lymph node before the arrival of metastatic cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66:10365–76.
- 21. Tong CC, Kao J, Sikora AG. Recognizing and reversing the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment of head and neck cancer. Immunol Res. 2012;54:266–74.
- 22. Zandberg DP, Strome SE. The role of the PD-L1:PD-1 pathway in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Oral Oncol. 2014;50:627–32.

- 23. Lyford-Pike S, Peng S, Young GD, et al. Evidence for a role of the PD-1:PD-L1 pathway in immune resistance of HPV-associated head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2013;73:1733–41.
- 24. Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, et al. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2008;26:677–704.
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2455–65.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- Ibrahim R, Stewart R, Shalabi A. PD-L1 blockade for cancer treatment: MEDI4736. Semin Oncol. 2015;42:474–83.
- Hsu MC, Hsiao JR, Chang KC, et al. Increase of programmed death-1-expressing intratumoral CD8 T cells predicts a poor prognosis for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Mod Pathol. 2010;23:1393–403.
- Badoual C, Hans S, Merillon N, et al. PD-1-expressing tumorinfiltrating T cells are a favorable prognostic biomarker in HPVassociated head and neck cancer. Cancer Res. 2013;73:128–38.
- 30. Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, et al. Characterisation and prognostic value of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma. BMC Clin Pathol. 2014;14:38.
- American Joint Committee on Cancer. Staging of cancer at specific anatomic sites, lip and oral cavity. In: Fleming ID, Cooper JS, Henson DE, et al.,editors. AJCC cancer staging manual. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers; 1997. p. 24–30.
- 32. Altman DG, McShane LM, Sauerbrei W, et al. Reporting recommendations for tumor marker prognostic studies (REMARK): explanation and elaboration. BMC Med. 2012;10:51.
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods. 2001;25:402–8.
- 34. Pattyn F, Speleman F, De Paepe A, et al. RTPrimerDB: the realtime PCR primer and probe database. Nucleic Acids Res. 2003;31:122–3.
- 35. Martinet L, Garrido I, Filleron T, et al. Human solid tumors contain high endothelial venules: association with T- and B-lymphocyte infiltration and favorable prognosis in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71:5678–87.
- 36. Sato E, Olson SH, Ahn J, et al. Intraepithelial CD8+ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and a high CD8+/regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2005;102:18538–43.
- 37. Jordanova ES, Gorter A, Ayachi O, et al. Human leukocyte antigen class I, MHC class I chain-related molecule A, and CD8 +/regulatory T-cell ratio: which variable determines survival of cervical cancer patients? Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:2028–35.
- 38. Watanabe Y, Katou F, Ohtani H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, particularly the balance between CD8(+) T cells and CCR4(+) regulatory T cells, affect the survival of patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2010;109:744–52.
- van Herpen CM, van der Voort R, van der Laak JA, et al. Intratumoral rhIL-12 administration in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients induces B cell activation. Int J Cancer. 2008;123:2354–61.
- 40. Pretscher D, Distel LV, Grabenbauer GG, et al. Distribution of immune cells in head and neck cancer: CD8+ T-cells and CD20+ B-cells in metastatic lymph nodes are associated with favourable outcome in patients with oro- and hypopharyngeal carcinoma. BMC Cancer. 2009;9:292.
- Nelson BH. CD20+ B cells: the other tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2010;185:4977–82.

- 42. Fujii N, Shomori K, Shiomi T, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts and CD163-positive macrophages in oral squamous cell carcinoma: their clinicopathological and prognostic significance. J Oral Pathol Med. 2012;41:444–51.
- Marcus B, Arenberg D, Lee J, et al. Prognostic factors in oral cavity and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer. 2004;101:2779–87.
- 44. Ni YH, Ding L, Huang XF, et al. Microlocalization of CD68+ tumor-associated macrophages in tumor stroma correlated with poor clinical outcomes in oral squamous cell carcinoma patients. Tumour Biol. 2015;36:5291–8.
- Mantovani A, Sozzani S, Locati M, et al. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. Trends Immunol. 2002;23:549–55.
- 46. Lewis CE, Pollard JW. Distinct role of macrophages in different tumor microenvironments. Cancer Res. 2006;66:605–12.
- Miyasaka M, Tanaka T. Lymphocyte trafficking across high endothelial venules: dogmas and enigmas. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4:360–70.
- Pablos JL, Amara A, Bouloc A, et al. Stromal-cell derived factor is expressed by dendritic cells and endothelium in human skin. Am J Pathol. 1999;155:1577–86.
- Campbell JJ, Hedrick J, Zlotnik A, et al. Chemokines and the arrest of lymphocytes rolling under flow conditions. Science. 1998;279:381–4.
- Phillips R, Ager A. Activation of pertussis toxin-sensitive CXCL12 (SDF-1) receptors mediates transendothelial migration of T lymphocytes across lymph node high endothelial cells. Eur J Immunol. 2002;32:837–47.
- Marsland BJ, Battig P, Bauer M, et al. CCL19 and CCL21 induce a potent proinflammatory differentiation program in licensed dendritic cells. Immunity. 2005;22:493–505.
- Moussion C, Girard JP. Dendritic cells control lymphocyte entry to lymph nodes through high endothelial venules. Nature. 2011;479:542–6.
- 53. Liu JY, Li F, Wang LP, et al. CTL- vs Treg lymphocyte-attracting chemokines, CCL4 and CCL20, are strong reciprocal predictive markers for survival of patients with oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2015;113:747–55.
- Lee JJ, Kao KC, Chiu YL, et al. Enrichment of human CCR6+ regulatory T cells with superior suppressive activity in oral cancer. J Immunol. 2017;199:467–76.
- Chen KJ, Lin SZ, Zhou L, et al. Selective recruitment of regulatory T cell through CCR6-CCL20 in hepatocellular carcinoma fosters tumor progression and predicts poor prognosis. PLoS ONE. 2011;6:e24671.
- Frick VO, Rubie C, Keilholz U, et al. Chemokine/chemokine receptor pair CCL20/CCR6 in human colorectal malignancy: an overview. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:833–41.
- 57. Reichert TE, Strauss L, Wagner EM, et al. Signaling abnormalities, apoptosis, and reduced proliferation of circulating and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with oral carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8:3137–45.
- Hoffmann TK, Dworacki G, Tsukihiro T, et al. Spontaneous apoptosis of circulating T lymphocytes in patients with head and neck cancer and its clinical importance. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8:2553–62.
- 59. Gasparoto TH, de Souza Malaspina TS, Benevides L, et al. Patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma are characterized by increased frequency of suppressive regulatory T cells in the blood and tumor microenvironment. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59:819–28.
- 60. Spranger S, Spaapen RM, Zha Y, et al. Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5:200ra116.
- Iwai Y, Okazaki T, Nishimura H, et al. Microanatomical localization of PD-1 in human tonsils. Immunol Lett. 2002;83:215–20.

- Shi F, Shi M, Zeng Z, et al. PD-1 and PD-L1 upregulation promotes CD8(+) T-cell apoptosis and postoperative recurrence in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Int J Cancer. 2011;128:887–96.
- 63. Hong AM, Vilain RE, Romanes S, et al. PD-L1 expression in tonsillar cancer is associated with human papillomavirus positivity and improved survival: implications for anti-PD1 clinical trials. Oncotarget. 2016;7:77010–20.
- Rikardsen OG, Bjerkli IH, Uhlin-Hansen L, et al. Clinicopathological characteristics of oral squamous cell carcinoma in Northern Norway: a retrospective study. BMC Oral Health. 2014;14:103.

Supplementary information

Supplementary tables

Table S1. Spearman correlation coefficients for inter-observer agreement among EHO and AMW. Correlationcoefficients were interpreted as follows: 0.7-0.9, good agreement; 0.9-1.0 very good agreement.

Category	Spearman correlation coefficient	Interpretation
CD3+ cells	0.878	Good
CD4+ cells	0.905	Very good
CD8+ cells	0.868	Good
CD20+ cells	0.872	Good
CD68+ cells	0.724	Good
Eosinophils	0.817	Good
Mast cells	0.813	Good

Table S2. Accession numbers and primer sequences of reference and target RNAs.

Gene	Accession no.	Full name	Primer sequence (5' to 3')	Size
				(bp)
Reference R	NA			
eF1a	NM001402 5	Elongation factor 1 alpha	F: TATCCACCTTTGGGTCGCTTT	63
ci 1 a	1111001102.5		R: TGATGACACCCACCGCAACT	
RPL27	NM000988.3	Ribosomal protein L27	F: GCTGGACGCTACTCCGGAC	64
			R: CGATCTGAGGTGCCATCATCA	
RPS13	NM001017.2	Ribosomal protein S13	F: AGAGAGCCGGATTCACCGTTT	62
			R: CAATTGGGAGGGAGGACTCG	
Target RNA				
CCI 19	NM006274-2	C-C motif chemokine ligand 19	F: CCGGAGTCCGAGTCAAGCA	64
CCLI	1111000274.2		R: CCTTCCTTCTGGTCCTCGGTT	
CCL20	NM001130046.1	C-C motif chemokine ligand 20	F: TTTTCTGGAATGGAATTGGACA	62
	NM004591.2		R: AAACCTCCAACCCCAGCAA	
CCL21	NM002989.3	C-C motif chemokine ligand 21	F: GCAGCTACCGGAAGCAGGA	61
	XM 011518004.2		R: GGGCAAGAACAGGATAGCTGG	
CXCL8	NM000584.3	C-C motif chemokine ligand 8	F: CTCCAAACCTTTCCACCCCA	64
			R: CGCAGTGTGGTCCACTCTCA	
CXCL9	NM002416.2	C-C motif chemokine ligand 9	F: TGCTGGTTCTGATTGGAGTGC	62
			R: TGATGCAGGAACAGCGACC	
CXCL12	NM000609.6	CXC motif chemokine ligand 12	F: GCCTGAGCTACAGATGCCCAT	62
	L36033.1		R: GCTTGACGTTGGCTCTGGC	
	NM001277990.1			

	NM001033886.2			
	NM199168.3			
	U16752.1			
CXCL13	NM006419.2	CXC motif chemokine ligand 13	F: CCCTGATGCTGATATTTCCACTAAG	60
			R: AATCCAGAGCAGGGATAAGGGA	
IL1b	XM017003988.1	Interleukin 1 beta	F: AGTCTGCCCAGTTCCCCAAC	60
	NM000576.2		R: AAGACGGGCATGTTTTCTGCT	
LTb	NM009588.1	Lymphotoxin beta	F: GTCACCCCGATATGGTGGACT	78
	NM002341.1		R: GCACTCATATTCCCTCACCCC	
TNFa	NM000594.3	Tumor necrosis factor alpha	F: CACCACTTCGAAACCTGGGA	60
			R: TGGTTGCCAGCACTTCACTG	

Table S3. Comparison of clinicopathologic variables between oral squamous cell carcinoma patients* with low and high numbers of various immune cells using Pearson's Chi-square test.

	CD3*			CD4		CD4		CD8		CD20			CI)68		DC-	lamp		Eosinophils			Mast cells			PD-L1+ cells		
	low	high		low	high	_	low	high		low	high		low	high		low	high		low	high		low	high	_	low	high	_
	1	io –	Р	n	10	Р	1	10	Р	n	10	P	n	0	Р	n	0	Р	n	io	Р	n	io –	Р	n	0	Р
Gender																											
Male	11	31	0.632	27	14	0.645	24	17	0.558	19	24	0.758	26	17	0.089	19	19	0.504	27	15	0.217	23	19	0.501	17	10	0.619
Female	10	22		22	9		16	15		13	19		13	19		18	13		16	16		15	17		10	8	
Age at diagnosis, years																											
0-59	7	21	0.615	17	11	0.287	13	15	0.214	12	16	0.979	10	18	0.029	14	12	0.977	18	10	0.401	16	12	0.437	13	4	0.079
≥ 60	14	32		32	12		27	17		20	27		29	18		23	20		25	21		22	24		14	14	
Smoking history																											
Never smoker	2	15	0.178	12	5	0.306	9	8	0.946	3	14	0.053	5	12	0.127	7	9	0.376	9	8	0.771	6	11	0.480	7	3	0.022
Former smoker	3	7		7	3		5	5		5	5		5	5		3	5		6	4		5	5		1	3	
Current smoker	13	29		29	12		24	17		20	23		25	18		23	17		26	16		24	18		19	8	
Unknown	3	2		1	3		2	2		4	1		4	1		4	1		2	3		3	2		0	4	
Alcohol consumption																											
Never	2	9	0.541	10	1	0.108	8	3	0.005	4	8	0.567	5	7	0.168	5	5	0.548	7	4	0.793	5	6	0.007	4	2	0.079
≤ 1 times weekly	6	21		15	12		8	19		10	17		14	13		11	13		15	12		8	19		6	8	
> 1 times weekly or daily	7	13		15	4		15	4		9	11		8	12		10	9		13	7		16	4		10	1	
Unknown	6	10		9	6		9	6		9	7		12	4		11	5		8	8		9	7		7	7	
Tumor site																											
Mobile tongue	8	26	0.588	23	10	0.373	21	12	0.090	13	22	0.299	15	20	0.310	15	16	0.733	18	16	0.605	15	19	0.517	9	9	0.017
Floor of mouth	6	15		16	5		13	8		8	13		12	9		11	8		14	7		12	9		12	1	
All others**	7	12		10	8		6	12		11	8		12	7		11	8		11	8		11	8		6	8	
Tumor differentiation																											
Well	6	22	0.208	19	8	0.225	17	10	0.239	10	18	0.527	15	13	0.894	11	15	0.085	15	13	0.826	11	17	0.269	10	8	0.610
Moderate	12	29		25	15		19	21		19	23		21	21		22	17		25	16		24 (17		13	9	
Poor	3	2		5	0		4	1		3	2		3	2		4	0		3	2		3	2		4	1	
T stage																											
T1/T2	11	41	0.062	34	18	0.632	28	24	0.416	20	33	0.215	22	31	0.005	25	22	0.644	26	26	0.084	25	27	0.330	15	15	0.037
T3/T4	10	11		14	5		12	7		12	9		17	4		11	10		16	5		13	8		12	2	
Unknown	0	1		1	0		0	1		0	1		0	1		1	0		1	0		0	1		0	1	
N stage																											
NO	15	35	0.030	31	18	0.424	26	23	0.679	21	30	0.457	26	25	0.483	25	22	0.428	27	23	0.371	25	25	0.736	16	12	0.853
N+	2	16		13)	4		11	6		7	11		11	7		8	9		11	7		9	9		8	4	
Unknown	4	2		5	1		3	3		4	2		2	4		4	1		5	1		4	2		3	2	
M stage																											
M0	18	50	0.226	44	22	0.652	38	28	0.397	28	41	0.353	38	31	0.183	32	31	0.291	38	30	0.398	34	34	0.564	24	16	0.659
M+	0	1		1	0		0	1		1	0		0	1		1	0		1	0		1	0		1	0	
Unknown	3	2		4	1		2	3		3	2		1	4		4	1		4	1		3	2		2	2	
HPV/p16																											
Negative	16	48	0.265	43	21	0.133	35	29	0.401	26	39	0.430	31	34	0.096	31	29	0.141	36	28	0.691	33	31	0.996	22	15	0.095
Positive	3	3		5	0		4	1		4	2		4	2		2	3		4	2		3	3		4	0	
Unknown	2	2		1	2		1	2		2	2		4	0		4	0		3	1		2	2		1	3	

* Analyses for CD3+ cells, eosinophils and mast cells were carried out in 74 patients, for CD4+ and CD8+ cells in 72 patients, for DC-lamp+ cells in 69 patients, and for PD-L1+ cells in 45 patients. All other analyses included 75 patients.

** All other anatomical sites includes the following anatomical subsites: Alveolar ridge (n= 18); buccal mucosa (n= 10); unspecified oral cavity (n= 3).

	Patients (no. (%))	5-Year DSD (%)	Р
CD3	21 (22 1)	12.0	
Low	21 (28.4)	42.9	0.200
rign CD4	55 (71.0)	28.5	
Low	49 (68 1)	32.7	
High	23 (31.9)	26.1	0.691
CD8	25 (51.5)	20.1	
Low	40 (55.6)	25.0	0.204
High	32 (44.4)	37.5	0.304
CD20			
Low	32 (42.7)	50.0	0.002
High	43 (57.3)	18.6	0.002
CD68	20 (52 0)	10.6	
LOW	39 (52.0)	43.6	0.027
High DC-lamp	30 (48.0)	19.4	
Low	37 (53.6)	37.8	
High	32(464)	31.2	0.639
Eosinophils	02(1011)	0112	
Low	43 (58.1)	37.2	0 197
High	31 (41.9)	25.8	0.18/
Mast cells			
Low	38 (51.4)	34.2	0.625
High	36 (48.6)	30.6	0.025
PD-L1+ cells	27 ((0,0))	27.0	
LOW	27 (60.0)	37.0	0.207
	18 (40.0)	22.2	
Low	20 (50 0)	25.0	
High	20 (50.0)	40.0	0.592
CCL20	_= (= = = =)		
Low	13 (40.6)	23.1	0.109
High	19 (59.4)	47.4	0.198
CCL21			
Low	24 (66.7)	29.2	0.876
High	12 (33.3)	33.3	
	22 (76 2)	24.4	
Low	52(70.2) 10(23.8)	34.4	0.865
CXCL9	10 (23.8)	50.0	
Low	19 (52.8)	26.3	
High	17 (47.2)	35.3	0.724
CXCL10	· · ·		
Low	35 (89.7)	34.3	0.607
High	4 (10.3)	25.0	0.007
CXCL12			
Low	27 (64.3)	40.7	0.120
High	15 (35.7)	20.0	
	28 (70.0)	20.2	
High	12(30.0)	25.0	0.367
IL1b	12 (30.0)	23.0	
Low	33 (78.6)	33.3	0.750
High	9 (21.4)	22.2	0.759
LŤb			
Low	30 (73.2)	40.0	0.157
High	11 (26.8)	18.2	0.137
TNFa	00 (51 5)	10.0	
Low	20 (51.3)	40.0	0.349
нıgn	19 (48.7)	31.6	

Table S4. Infiltration of different immune cell subsets* and expression of various genes** in oral squamous cell carcinoma patients as predictors for 5-year disease-specific death in univariate Kaplan-Meier analysis.

* Analyses for CD3+ cells, eosinophils and mast cells were carried out in 74 patients, for CD4+ and CD8+ cells in 72 patients, for DC-lamp+ cells in 69 patients and for PD-L1+ cells in 45 patients. All other analyses included 75 patients.

** The number of patients included in the different analyses varied dependent on availability of patient material.

	CC	L19	_	CC	L20	_	CC	L21	_	CX	CL8	_	СХ	CL9	_	CXC	CL10	
	low	high	_	low	high	-	low	high	-	low	high	_	low	high	-	low	high	
	n	0	Р	n	ю	Р	r	10	Р	n	10	Р	r	ıo	Р	r	10	Р
Gender																		
Male	10	16	0.047	8	11	0.837	14	11	0.041	21	6	0.746	11	12	0.429	22	3	0.632
Female	10	4		5	8		10	1		11	4		8	5		13	1	
Age at diagnosis, year	S																	
0-59	5	10	0.102	5	7	0.926	8	6	0.334	10	5	0.280	6	7	0.549	10	4	0.005
≥ 60	15	10		8	12		16	6		22	5		13	10		25	0	
Smoking history																		
Never smoker	4	4	0.764	2	6	0.727	6	2	0.392	8	1	0.391	5	3	0.090	7	2	0.550
Former smoker	1	1		1	1		2	0		2	0		0	2		2	0	
Current smoker	12	14		9	10		14	10		20	7		14	9		23	2	
Unknown	3	1		1	2		2	0		2	2		0	3		3	0	
Alcohol consumption																		
Never	2	1	0.582	0	3	0.480	3	1	0.968	3	1	0.172	2	1	0.849	4	0	0.197
≤ 1 times weekly	5	9		5	5		8	5		13	1		6	7		9	3	
> 1 times weekly or	6	4		4	5		7	3		6	5		5	3		10	1	
daily																		
Unknown	7	6		4	6		7	3		10	3		6	6		12	0	
Tumor site																		
Mobile tongue	7	9	0.518	5	7	0.341	7	9	0.024	13	4	0.929	8	8	0.211	14	3	0.355
Floor of the mouth	7	8		6	5		12	3		11	4		9	4		13	1	
All others**	6	3		2	7		5	0		8	2		2	5		8	0	
Tumor differentiation	1																	
Well	10	10	0.329	8	8	0.450	11	6	0.589	16	5	0.658	11	8	0.519	19	1	0.399
Moderate	8	10		5	10		11	6		15	4		8	9		14	3	
Poor	2	0		0	1		2	0		1	1		0	0		2	0	
T stage																		
T1/T2	13	15	0.490	11	9	0.096	15	11	0.066	22	6	0.688	13	13	0.590	22	4	0.328
T3/T4	7	5		2	9		9	1		9	4		6	4		12	0	
Unknown	0	0		0	1		0	0		1	0		0	0		1	0	
N stage																		
NO	14	14	0.135	10	12	0.705	16	9	0.440	21	7	0.949	14	12	0.979	22	4	0.328
N+	3	6		2	5		5	3		8	2		4	4		9	0	
Unknown	3	0		1	2		3	0		3	1		1	1		4	0	
M stage	-						-	-		-								
MO	17	20	0.198	12	17	0.787	22	11	0.223	29	9	0.793	17	16	0.631	31	4	0.775
M+	1	0		0	0		0	1		1	0		1	0		1	0	
Unknown	2	Õ		1	2		2	0		2	1		1	1		3	0	
HPV/p16	-	~		-	-		-	~		-	-		-	-			-	
Negative	15	18	0.100	12	14	0.349	21	10	0.875	27	7	0.587	16	14	0.049	27	4	0.563
Positive	4	0		1	3		2	1		3	2		3	0		5	0	
Unknown	1	2		0	2		1	1		2	1		0	3		3	Õ	

Table S5. Comparison of clinicopathological variables between oral squamous cell carcinoma patients* with low and high expression of various genes using Pearson's Chi-square test.

	CXCL12			CXCL13			IL1b			LTb			TNFa		
	low high		_	low high			low high			low high			low high		-
		no	Р		no	Р	no		Р	no		Р	no		Р
Gender															
Male	15	12	0.113	18	8	0.885	23	4	0.161	18	8	0.453	13	13	0.821
Female	12	3		10	4		10	5		12	3		7	6	
Age at diagnosis, years															
0-59	6	9	0.014	9	5	0.563	10	5	0.161	8	7	0.029	8	7	0.839
≥ 60	21	6		19	7		23	4		22	4		12	12	
Smoking history															
Never smoker	6	3	0.236	5	4	0.071	7	2	0.899	5	4	0.305	4	4	0.927
Former smoker	2	0		0	2		2	0		2	0		1	1	
Current smoker	15	12		21	5		21	6		19	7		14	12	
Unknown	4	0		2	1		3	1		4	0		1	2	
Alcohol consumption															
Never	2	2	0.416	2	2	0.660	2	2	0.412	2	2	0.559	2	1	0.924
≤ 1 times weekly	7	7		9	5		12	2		9	4		7	6	
> 1 times weekly or daily	8	3		8	2		8	3		8	3		5	6	
Unknown	10	3		9	3		11	2		11	2		6	6	
Tumor site															
Mobile tongue	9	8	0.356	11	6	0.251	12	5	0.538	10	7	0.208	7	9	0.150
Floor of the mouth	10	5		12	2		13	2		12	2		10	4	
All others**	8	2		5	4		8	2		8	2		3	6	
Tumor differentiation															
Well	13	8	0.556	14	5	0.496	15	6	0.229	16	5	0.544	10	9	0.987
Moderate	12	7		12	7		17	2		12	6		9	9	
Poor	2	0		2	0		1	1		2	0		1	1	
T stage															
T1/T2	16	12	0.092	19	8	0.290	23	5	0.142	18	9	0.057	14	11	0.494
T3/T4	11	2		9	3		10	3		12	1		6	7	
Unknown	0	1		0	1		0	1		0	1		0	1	
N stage															
N0	16	12	0.387	18	9	0.799	22	6	0.257	18	9	0.362	14	11	0.513
N+	8	2		7	2		9	1		9	1		5	5	
Unknown	3	1		3	1		2	2		3	1		1	3	
M stage															
M0	24	14	0.747	25	11	0.799	31	7	0.127	27	10	0.806	18	17	0.512
M+	1	0		1	0		1	0		1	0		1	0	
Unknown	2	1		2	1		1	2		2	1		1	2	
HPV/p16															
Negative	20	14	0.266	23	9	0.331	29	5	0.061	24	10	0.616	18	14	0.262
Positive	4	1		4	1		2	3		4	1		2	3	
Unknown	3	0		1	2		2	1		2	0		0	2	

* The number of patients included in the different analyses varied dependent on availability of patient material

** All other anatomical sites includes the following anatomical subsites: Alveolar ridge (n=18); buccal mucosa (n=10); unspecified oral cavity (n=3).

Supplementary figures



Figure S1. Flow chart of scoring evaluation of various components of the immune infiltrate.



Figure S2. Representative immunohistochemical Peripheral node adressin staining for high-endothelial vessels in an oral squamous cell carcinoma tissue section. Peripheral node adressin staining is brown, and cell nuclei are stained blue by hematoxylin. Scale bars indicates 40 µm.



Figure S3. Four-degree scoring scale for semi-quantitative evaluation of different immunohistochemical stainings. A) CD3+ cells, B) CD4+ cells, C) CD8+ cells, D) CD20+ cells, E) CD68+ cells. Micrographs of the respective immunohistochemically stained cells were assigned to groups 0-3 of the respective scoring schemes. Groups 0-1 were evaluated as low and groups 2-3 as high count, respectively.



Figure S4. Representative immunohistochemical PD-L1 staining of A) tumor cells and B) stromal cells in an oral squamous cell carcinoma tissue section. PD-L1+ cells express membranous and/or cytoplasmatic brown staining, and cell nuclei are stained blue by hematoxylin. Scale bars indicate 40 μm.



Figure S5. Log minus log plots for proportional hazards checking. A) CD20+ cells, B) CD68+ cells.
Paper IV

Tissue-infiltrating immune cells as prognostic markers in oral squamous cell carcinoma – a systematic review

Running title: Immune cells as prognostic markers in oral cancer

Elin Hadler-Olsen^{1, 2} and Anna Maria Wirsing¹

¹Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Tromsø – The Arctic University of Norway, 9037 Tromsø, Norway

²Department of Clinical Pathology, University Hospital of North Norway, 9038 Tromsø, Norway

Corresponding author:

Elin Hadler-Olsen

Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences,

University of Tromsø – The Arctic University of Norway, 9037 Tromsø, Norway

Telephone: +47 77620912

E-mail: <u>elin.hadler-olsen@uit.no</u>

Keywords: Oral cancer, prognostic marker, systematic review, macrophage, dendritic cell, mast cell, natural killer cell, T cell, B cell

Abstract

Background: A variety of immune cells have been suggested as prognostic markers for cancer patients. In this article, we present a systematic review of the existing literature on the prognostic value of tissue-infiltrating immune cells in oral cancer, and discuss the quality of the methodological reporting in the published studies.

Methods: We performed a systematic literature search and included all studies with 40 or more oral squamous cell carcinoma patients where the prognostic value of tumour-associated T cells, B cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, mast cells and natural killer cells were assessed by immunohistochemical staining and survival analyses. We also investigated to what extent the articles adhered to the reporting recommendations for tumour marker prognostic studies (REMARK).

Results: Of the 1960 articles identified, 33 passed our inclusion criteria. Among the immune cells analysed, CD163+ M2 macrophages, and CD57+ mature natural killer cells were the most promising predictors of survival in OSCC patients. The reporting of study design and results was heterogeneous among the published articles.

Conclusion: Despite the large amount of immune biomarker studies in oral cancer, the reliability and prognostic relevance of the suggested markers are debatable due to incomplete information on the conduct of most of the studies.

Background

Squamous cell carcinomas (SCC) account for the vast majority of oral (O) cancer¹. Surgery is the standard treatment for these tumours, often accompanied by radiotherapy. The radiation causes severe, chronic side effects, including xerostomia and problems with speech, oral intake and dental health, making it important to avoid overtreatment². Currently, the TNM classification system that stages cancers according to the tumour size and depth of invasion (T), the presence and extent of regional lymph node metastases (N), and the presence of distant metastases (M) is the most reliable prognostic and predictive factor for OSCC patients³. For analytical purposes, the individual TNM categories can be grouped into stages I-IV reflecting improved survival for patients with early- compared to advanced-stage tumours³. Nevertheless, tumours of the same stage are heterogeneous with respect to aggressiveness and therapy response. Thus, to better tailor the treatment to the patient's need, the TNM classification needs reinforcement with biomarkers that more reliably reflect the biological diversity of these tumours.

The promising results of immuno-modulating therapies, such as PD1/PD-L1 blocking antibodies demonstrate that the immune system is significantly involved in tumour progression ^{4, 5}, and have boosted the interest in tumour immunology. A variety of infiltrating immune cells have been presented as putative prognostic markers in cancer. However, the immune system is a complex regulator of tumour development and progression, and infiltrating immune cells have been shown to exert variable roles in different types of cancer, as well as within tumours of the same type and at different sub locations of a single tumour^{6, 7}. So far, none of the suggested OSCC immune-biomarkers have been generally accepted and implemented in clinical practice.

Recognizing the involvement of the immune system in cancer and the need of reliable prognostic markers for OSCC, we decided to conduct a systematic review of studies assessing the prognostic value of tissue-infiltrating immune cells in OSCC by survival analyses. We included studies employing immunohistochemistry to detect one or several of the following immune cells: T cells, B cells, macrophages, dendritic cells (DC), mast cells and natural killer (NK) cells. In addition to reviewing the prognostic value of the immune cells, we assessed to what extent clinical and pathological data as well as immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures were adequately described, according to the reporting recommendations for tumour marker prognostic studies (REMARK)⁸. A critical evaluation of the reporting quality will help to assess the reliability of the suggested prognostic markers, and may guide research in the right direction.

Methods

Eligibility criteria

Included were original articles that fulfilled all of the following criteria:

- were written in English
- presented data from patients with SCC in the oral cavity proper that were not pooled with patients having cancer in other locations of the head- and neck area
- analysed tissue that had not been previously exposed to radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy
- used immunohistochemistry on tumour tissue sections to recognize the immune cells of interest
- addressed the prognostic value of tumour associated macrophages, DC, NK cells, mast cells T cells and/or B cells by univariate and/or multivariate survival analyses of at least 40 OSCC patients
- employed some kind of survival as end-point in the survival analyses

Sources of information, search terms and screening

We searched Embase and Medline 14th of March 2018 using the Ovid interface with the search terms described in Figure 1. If applicable, our entry terms were defined based on Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) from Pubmed⁹ to develop a controlled vocabulary. In addition to MeSH terms, we included relevant free-text entry terms. We defined three sets of entry terms describing 1. prognostic value, 2. selected immune cells, and 3. oral cancer, and combined the search terms in each set with the Boolean operator OR. The three sets were then combined with the Boolean operator AND. In addition, we searched the Cochrane Library and the reference lists of reviews on related topics^{4, 10-14} to look for relevant papers missed in the Medline and Embase searches. In Medline and Embase, we automatically discarded duplicate articles, all non-English literature and non-human studies. The two review authors independently read through the titles and abstracts of the remaining articles to extract those relevant. For all papers that appeared to meet the inclusion criteria, or where there were any uncertainty, the full text papers were screened. We designed a flow diagram with the excluded cases (Figure 2) adherent to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA)¹⁵.

Data collection

For all studies included, we retrieved information about the name of the first author, year of publication, number of patients, the tumour sizes or stages included, the country and period during which the patient cohort was gathered, the tumour compartment analysed for immune cell infiltration, the primary antibody used and survival data. If the papers reported survival data over time, e.g. by Kaplan-Meier curves, we recorded whether tumour infiltration of the various immune cells were associated with longer or shorter survival, independent of the statistical significance of the presented results. We further assessed to what extent the papers reported immunohistochemical staining and scoring protocols with sufficient details, as recommended in the REMARK guidelines⁸, as presented in an adapted checklist in the legend of Table 1. Due to lack of sufficient statistical data from many of the papers, along with variations in use of cellular markers and scoring protocols, meta-analyses were not performed.

Quantitative analyses

We assigned a quality score to each article based on the sum of scoring for reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures that we retrieved from our checklist, with C/c=1, B/b=2, and A/a=3 (Table 1). We explored if there was an association between the quality score and publication year, and additionally, if studies that used IHC as the only method were associated with a

higher quality score than studies employing a broader repertoire of methods. The SPSS software version 22.0 for Windows (IBM, Armonk, NY) was used to perform bivariate correlation analyses, and the Pearson correlation coefficient as well as the P-value were reported. P<0.05 was determined significant.

Results

After screening the 1960 records identified in our search (excluding duplicates), we were left with 33 studies that passed our inclusion criteria (Figure 2). Table 1 summarizes the studies included in this review, and Tables 2-4 present the data for the different immune cell subsets.

Prognostic value of different immune cell subsets

Macrophages

We found 11 evaluating the prognostic value of tumour associated macrophages by staining for the pan-macrophage marker CD68¹⁶⁻²⁶ and seven using the M2 macrophage marker CD163^{18, 19, 22, 23, 27-30} (Table 2). The majority of the studies reported lower survival for patients with a high number of macrophages in at least one of the tumour compartments analysed. The results were most consistent and more often statistically significant for studies using CD163 as the macrophage marker than for those using CD68, with four studies reporting CD163 as an independent negative prognostic marker. A few studies scored macrophages infiltrating the tumour islands and the tumour stroma separately, and found that the effect on survival differed between the compartments. However, there was no consistency in subsite specific effect of macrophage infiltration between these studies (Table 2).

Dendritic cells

Seven different studies assessed the prognostic value of DC, using seven different markers^{24, 31-36} (Table 3). High numbers of both immature CD209 +DC and plasmacytoid CD123+ DC were associated with decreased survival in one study, whereas high levels of the other subsets of DC tended to be mostly associated with improved survival, although the results often lacked statistical significance. Studies

that included tumour subsite specific survival analyses of DC infiltration showed contradictory results (Table 3).

Mast cells

Only two studies of mast cells passed our inclusion criteria, both using mast cell tryptase as the cell marker^{37, 38} (Table 3). One of these found a statistically significant negative effect of high mast cell numbers on survival in univariate analyses, the other found no statistically significant effect of mast cell number on survival, and did not report the direction of effect.

Lymphocytes

We found four studies evaluating the prognostic value of NK cells that passed our inclusion criteria^{26, 34, 39, 40} (Table 3). The only study that used CD56 as a marker, found no effect on survival, whereas two of the three studies using CD57 as the NK cell marker reported a statistically significant, independent survival benefit for patients with a high number of such cells.

Thirteen different studies assessed various subsets of T cells ^{19, 24, 26, 29, 34, 40-47} (Table 4). High numbers of tumour infiltrating CD3+ T cells, CD4+ T cells or CD8+ T cells were usually associated with somewhat longer survival. However, statistically significant results were only reported for CD8+ T cells in three studies. High numbers of tumour associated T-regulatory cells on the other hand, showed significant association with decreased survival in two of the five studies addressing this cell type.

B cells were analysed in five studies using four different markers^{19, 24, 44, 47, 48} (Table 4). B cells overall, recognized by the pan B-cell markers CD19 and CD20 were mostly associated with survival benefits, although statistically significant in only two of the four studies. The single study assessing plasma cells did not report the direction of effect on survival, but it was not statistically significant. B-regulatory

cells were significantly associated with decreased survival in a single study, but were not independent markers.

Reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures

We evaluated the completeness of reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures based on a checklist adapted from the REMARK guidelines⁸ (Table 1). Of the 33 studies included in this review, 31 were published after the REMARK guidelines were first introduced in 2005⁸. We explored the hypothesis that more recent publications might adhere more to our checklist than older publications, as it usually takes years before new quality guidelines are implemented in research practice. However, we found no significant association between the year of publication and the quality of reporting using bivariate correlation analyses (Pearson's correlation coefficient = -0.001; P = 0.994). Only two of the studies included in this systematic review showed complete adherence to our checklist, and there was a huge variance in amount of information given and how it was presented. In general, there was more information lacking in the descriptions of the scoring protocols compared to the immunohistochemical procedures. The information that was most often missing was the inter- and/or intra-observer variability for the different scorings, and the use of positive and negative controls for immunohistochemical staining. Of the 33 studies included in this review, 21 used immunohistochemistry as the only method. We analysed whether these "pure" prognostic marker studies reported immunohistochemical and scoring procedures more in line with our quality checklist than studies including more complex methods, but found no association (Pearson's correlation coefficient = 0.114; P = 0.529).

Discussion

The rationale for seeking prognostic markers in cancer is obvious and rarely debated. OSCC are highly immunogenic tumours^{4, 49}, and in this study, we have reviewed the current literature on the prognostic potential of tumour infiltrating macrophages, DC, mast cells and lymphocytes in this cancer type. We have also assessed the completeness of reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring protocols in the studies included, to facilitate critical judgement of the presented results.

Macrophages were the most studied immune cells in our review. These are phagocytic and antigen-presenting cells that dependent on environmental cues can differentiate into classically activated M1 macrophages or alternatively activated M2 macrophages. M1 macrophages are pro-inflammatory and are thought to be tumour suppressive, whereas M2 macrophages are immunosuppressive and may promote tumour growth⁵⁰. However, recent evidence suggests that there is a continuum of phenotypes between the pure M1 and M2 macrophages, where the cells can be redirected from one phenotype towards the other⁵¹. CD68 is a common pan macrophage marker, whereas CD163 more specifically labels M2 macrophages. Tumour-associated macrophages are often differentiated towards the tumour supporting M2 phenotype, which is indirectly supported by our results where both CD68+ and CD163+ cells were mostly associated with decreased survival. However, the results for CD163 were more consistent and more often statistically significant than for CD68 (Table 2), indicating that CD163 is a more reliable prognostic marker in OSCC than CD68. This suggests that there is a mixture of macrophage subtypes in the tumour, where some of those recognized by the CD68 antibody may have tumour-suppressive activities⁵².

A high number of tumour infiltrating CD57+ NK cells was an independent positive prognostic factor in two of the three studies using this marker (Table 3). NK cells

are important effector cells in the innate immune system. They can kill cells lacking the self-recognition marker major histocompatibility complex 1 without further activation, and produce cytokines that activate other immune cells⁵³, supporting their role as tumour suppressors and putative prognostic markers. CD57+ NK cells and CD163+ macrophages seemed to have most prognostic potential of the cells addressed in this review, however, all but one of the studies for each of these cell types were performed on an East-Asian patient cohort (Table 2 and 3). Ethnical and cultural differences along with varying access to health care and diverse treatment regimens call for care when extrapolating results based on patients from one part of the world to others. Thus, well-controlled studies are needed to confirm the robustness and relevance of CD163+ and CD57+ cells as prognostic markers in OSCC patient cohorts outside of Asia.

For the other cells addressed in this review, their potential as prognostic markers was not convincing. Most of these immune cells can be divided into a number of different subclasses with distinct functional properties. This was most notable for DC and T cells analysed with seven and five different markers, respectively (Table 3 and Table 4). Subgrouping of immune cells seems rational with regard to biological differences, but can become very complex and extensive as the number of subgroups keeps evolving. Precise immunohistochemical recognition of a broad variety of immune cell subtypes in clinical routine is not only methodologically challenging, but also impractical in terms of costs and effort. Whereas this review addresses the prognostic significance of individual immune cell subsets, other studies have focused on combinations of immune cells ^{43, 46, 54}, the organisation of the immune infiltrate ⁵⁵, or the inflammatory infiltrate as a whole ⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸. However, these approaches also show conflicting results or lack the evidence needed to be included in clinical practice.

In many studies, OSCC are grouped with SCC in the oropharynx, larynx, nasopharynx and nasal cavity under the term head and neck cancer. Due to

differences in anatomical features, etiological factors and aggressiveness⁵⁹, cancers from different sites of the head and neck region should be treated as separate entities. We therefore excluded studies that did not report specific survival data for patients with SCC in the oral cavity proper. In addition, the intraoral sub-site of the tumour as well as the localization of immune cells within a single tumour may affect their prognostic value. Most of the studies in this review included patients with cancers at various intraoral locations, but hardly any of them reported sub-site specific prognostic data. More often, various tumour compartments were analysed for immune cell infiltration, e.g. the invasive front, the tumour periphery or tumour nests (Tables 2-4). However, the definition of these compartments was often diffuse, making it difficult to compare the results. Furthermore, some studies used biopsy samples, some resection samples and others tissue microarrays, and these differences may affect how representative the results are for the complete tumour. For T-regulatory cells, some studies suggest that even the sub cellular localization of the marker FoxP3 may affect the functional properties of the cells⁶⁰, further emphasizing the importance of thorough reporting of how the scoring was performed.

To improve the quality and usefulness of prognostic marker studies, the REMARK guidelines were introduced in 2005 after recommendations from the US National Cancer Institute and the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer⁸. They outline the minimum information and analyses to include in prognostic marker studies to ensure quality, reproducibility and opportunity to pool studies in meta-analyses. We have made a checklist adapted from the REMARK guidelines to evaluate the quality of reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures, and noted that hardly any of the studies included in this review followed all of the criteria. Only two of the studies reported the inter- or intra observer variation in the immunhohistochemical scoring (marked as a in Table 1). Thus, it is difficult to estimate the reproducibility of the scoring, which is

essential if a marker is to be included in clinical practice. Importantly, some of the studies employed digital scoring, and specific quality criteria, different from the REMARK guidelines, may apply for these assessments. Many studies also lacked information on the use of positive and negative controls for immunohistochemical staining, which are important quality assessments to ensure sensitivity and specificity of the staining. The REMARK guidelines were intended to reach a broad spectrum of readers. However, our results demonstrate that the awareness of them does not seem to have increased significantly over time, and that they are yet to be implemented in research practice. Of note, we did systematic assessments of only a subset of the proposed REMARK guidelines that were of specific importance to ensure quality and reproducibility of the immunohistochemical staining and scoring, and this reporting may not reflect the overall quality of the studies. When retrieving data, we frequently noticed that other information such as inclusion and exclusion criteria, treatment regiment, inclusion period, TNM-stage, intraoral subsite and statistical information was missing in several studies, as reflected in Tables 2-4. When important information is missing or incomplete, comparison of studies is difficult, and conclusions derived from these studies will be hampered by uncertainty.

We chose to not do meta-analyses of the prognostic value of the different markers due to heterogeneity in data reporting and study design, along with incomplete reporting of statistical data in many studies. The most common measure of statistical significance is the p-value, and small differences in study design, such as the inclusion or exclusion of patients, can shift the p-value above or below the common 0.05 level of significance⁶¹. Most of the studies in this review encompassed less than 100 patients, with cancers of different stages and at various intraoral subsites. When controlling for important clinical parameters such as the tumour size, presence of metastases and intraoral site in such small patient cohorts, the group size may become critically small, and the prognostic value of a marker is

likely to be underestimated. Due to the widespread misinterpretation of p-values, evaluating the effect size and -direction on survival may be a more suitable approach to estimate the prognostic value of a marker ⁶¹. Thus, when extracting data from the papers, we tried to interpret whether infiltration of the various cell types were associated with longer or shorter survival, irrespective of the statistical significance of the association, as indicated in Tables 2-4. However, several of the reviewed papers merely stated the statistical significance of a marker, but not its size and direction of the effect on survival, and thus missed essential information. Importantly, the effect on survival in many of the studies was minor, if any, and conclusions derived from these studies may have poor reliability. However, providing statistical data that more directly reflect the effect size of a marker, such as the hazard ratio, may help to increase the value even of small studies, as it opens the possibility to pool data in meta-analyses. Performing and reporting studies according to best-practice guidelines allows transparency and reliability of prognostic marker studies, and emphasizing this need in the research community may help to ensure good scientific practice.

Conclusion

The completeness of the data reporting in the papers reviewed in this study was variable, and important clinical information or reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring protocols as well as statistical data were often missing. Thus, there still seems to be a need for journal editors and reviewers to focus more on the quality of data reporting in prognostic marker studies to increase their impact and usefulness. With these methodological limitations in mind, we conclude that M2 macrophages identified by CD163 and mature NK cells identified by CD57 seem to be the most promising prognostic factors of the immune cells analysed in this review. The rest of the cells evaluated showed conflicting or not statistically significant results, and their potential as prognostic markers is far from being established.

Additional Information

Availability of data and materials

All data reported in this manuscript are found in the literature as cited in the text.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that we have no competing interests, financial or non-financial, in relation to the work.

Funding

The study was supported by funding from the University of Tromsø – the Arctic University of Norway.

Authorship

EHO and AMW both contributed in study planning, literature searches, literature review and data retrieval as well as writing of the manuscript.

Acknowledgement

We thank PhD Eirik Reierth at the University library at UiT- the Arctic University of Norway for valuable guidance on literature searches.

References

1. Annertz K, Anderson H, Palmer K, Wennerberg J. The increase in incidence of cancer of the tongue in the Nordic countries continues into the twenty-first century. *Acta Otolaryngol* 2012;**132**:552-557.

2. Kraaijenga SA, Oskam IM, van der Molen L, Hamming-Vrieze O, Hilgers FJ, van den Brekel MW. Evaluation of long term (10-years+) dysphagia and trismus in patients treated with concurrent chemo-radiotherapy for advanced head and neck cancer. *Oral Oncol* 2015;**51**:787-794.

 O'Sullivan B MM, Asamura H, Lee A, Van Eycken E, Denny MB L, Amin MB, Gupta S, editor. TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours. 8 ed. Oxford, UK: Wiley Blackwell; 2017.

4. Ferris RL. Immunology and Immunotherapy of Head and Neck Cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2015;**33**:3293-3304.

5. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P *et al.* Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2012;**366**:2455-2465.

 Krisl JC, Doan VP. Chemotherapy and Transplantation: The Role of Immunosuppression in Malignancy and a Review of Antineoplastic Agents in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients. *Am J Transplant* 2017;**17**:1974-1991.

Capece D, Verzella D, Tessitore A, Alesse E, Capalbo C, Zazzeroni F.
 Cancer secretome and inflammation: The bright and the dark sides of NF-kappaB.
 Semin Cell Dev Biol 2017.

McShane LM, Altman DG, Sauerbrei W, Taube SE, Gion M, Clark GM.
 REporting recommendations for tumour MARKer prognostic studies (REMARK).
 Br J Cancer 2005;**93**:387-391.

9. Pubmed. [database on the Internet]. National Center for Biotechnology Information. 2017 [cited March 9th 2017]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/.

10. de Ruiter EJ, Ooft ML, Devriese LA, Willems SM. The prognostic role of tumor infiltrating T-lymphocytes in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oncoimmunology* 2017;**6**:e1356148.

11. Alves AM, Diel LF, Lamers ML. Macrophages and prognosis of oral squamous cell carcinoma: A systematic review. *J Oral Pathol Med* 2017.

12. Liu S, Liu D, Li J, Zhang D, Chen Q. Regulatory T cells in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *J Oral Pathol Med* 2016;**45**:635-639.

13. Wallis SP, Stafford ND, Greenman J. Clinical relevance of immune parameters in the tumor microenvironment of head and neck cancers. *Head Neck* 2015;**37**:449-459.

14. Uppaluri R, Dunn GP, Lewis JS, Jr. Focus on TILs: prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in head and neck cancers. *Cancer Immun* 2008;8:16.

15. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, Ioannidis JP *et al.* The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ* 2009;**339**:b2700.

16. Liu SY, Chang LC, Pan LF, Hung YJ, Lee CH, Shieh YS.

Clinicopathologic significance of tumor cell-lined vessel and microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol* 2008;**44**:277-285.

17. Lu CF, Huang CS, Tjiu JW, Chiang CP. Infiltrating macrophage count: a significant predictor for the progression and prognosis of oral squamous cell carcinomas in Taiwan. *Head Neck* 2010;**32**:18-25.

18. Fujii N, Shomori K, Shiomi T, Nakabayashi M, Takeda C, Ryoke K *et al.* Cancer-associated fibroblasts and CD163-positive macrophages in oral squamous cell carcinoma: their clinicopathological and prognostic significance. *J Oral Pathol Med* 2012;**41**:444-451.

19. Dayan D, Salo T, Salo S, Nyberg P, Nurmenniemi S, Costea DE *et al.*Molecular crosstalk between cancer cells and tumor microenvironment components

suggests potential targets for new therapeutic approaches in mobile tongue cancer. *Cancer Med* 2012;**1**:128-140.

20. Costa NL, Valadares MC, Souza PP, Mendonca EF, Oliveira JC, Silva TA *et al.* Tumor-associated macrophages and the profile of inflammatory cytokines in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol* 2013;**49**:216-223.

21. Ni YH, Ding L, Huang XF, Dong YC, Hu QG, Hou YY. Microlocalization of CD68+ tumor-associated macrophages in tumor stroma correlated with poor clinical outcomes in oral squamous cell carcinoma patients. *Tumour Biol* 2015;**36**:5291-5298.

22. Sakakura K, Takahashi H, Kaira K, Toyoda M, Murata T, Ohnishi H *et al.* Relationship between tumor-associated macrophage subsets and CD47 expression in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck in the tumor microenvironment. *Lab Invest* 2016;**96**:994-1003.

23. Hu Y, He MY, Zhu LF, Yang CC, Zhou ML, Wang Q *et al.* Tumorassociated macrophages correlate with the clinicopathological features and poor outcomes via inducing epithelial to mesenchymal transition in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* 2016;**35**:12.

24. Wirsing AM, Ervik IK, Seppola M, Uhlin-Hansen L, Steigen SE, Hadler-Olsen E. Presence of high-endothelial venules correlates with a favorable immune microenvironment in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Mod Pathol* 2018.

25. Sun H, Miao C, Liu W, Qiao X, Yang W, Li L *et al.* TGFbeta1/TbetaRII/Smad3 signaling pathway promotes VEGF expression in oral squamous cell carcinoma tumor-associated macrophages. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2018;**497**:583-590.

26. Fang J, Li X, Ma D, Liu X, Chen Y, Wang Y *et al.* Prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating immune cells in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* 2017;**17**:375.

27. Kubota K, Moriyama M, Furukawa S, Rafiul H, Maruse Y, Jinno T *et al.* CD163(+)CD204(+) tumor-associated macrophages contribute to T cell regulation

via interleukin-10 and PD-L1 production in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Sci Rep* 2017;**7**:1755.

28. Matsuoka Y, Yoshida R, Nakayama H, Nagata M, Hirosue A, Tanaka T *et al.* The tumour stromal features are associated with resistance to 5-FU-based chemoradiotherapy and a poor prognosis in patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. *APMIS* 2015;**123**:205-214.

29. Fujita Y, Okamoto M, Goda H, Tano T, Nakashiro K, Sugita A *et al.* Prognostic significance of interleukin-8 and CD163-positive cell-infiltration in tumor tissues in patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. *PLoS One* 2014;**9**:e110378.

30. Wang S, Sun M, Gu C, Wang X, Chen D, Zhao E *et al.* Expression of CD163, interleukin-10, and interferon-gamma in oral squamous cell carcinoma: mutual relationships and prognostic implications. *Eur J Oral Sci* 2014;**122**:202-209.

31. Ni YH, Huang XF, Ding L, Wang ZY, Hu QG, Hou YY. Accumulation of CD208(+) mature dendritic cells does not correlate with survival time in oral squamous cell carcinoma patients. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2014;**72**:2178-2185.

32. Reichert TE, Scheuer C, Day R, Wagner W, Whiteside TL. The number of intratumoral dendritic cells and zeta-chain expression in T cells as prognostic and survival biomarkers in patients with oral carcinoma. *Cancer* 2001;**91**:2136-2147.

33. Goldman SA, Baker E, Weyant RJ, Clarke MR, Myers JN, Lotze MT. Peritumoral CD1a-positive dendritic cells are associated with improved survival in patients with tongue carcinoma. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 1998;**124**:641-646.

34. Sakakura K, Takahashi H, Kaira K, Toyoda M, Oyama T, Chikamatsu K. Immunological significance of the accumulation of autophagy components in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Sci* 2015;**106**:1-8.

35. Jardim JF, Gondak R, Galvis MM, Pinto CAL, Kowalski LP. A decreased peritumoral CD1a+ cell number predicts a worse prognosis in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Histopathology* 2018;**72**:905-913.

36. O'Donnell RK, Mick R, Feldman M, Hino S, Wang Y, Brose MS *et al.* Distribution of dendritic cell subtypes in primary oral squamous cell carcinoma is inconsistent with a functional response. *Cancer Lett* 2007;**255**:145-152.

Akbarzadeh Baghban A, Taghavi N, Shahla M. Combined Analysis of
 Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Expression with Cyclooxygenase-2 and Mast
 Cell Density in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Pathobiology* 2017;84:80-86.

38. Ishikawa K, Yagi-Nakanishi S, Nakanishi Y, Kondo S, Tsuji A, Endo K *et al*. Expression of interleukin-33 is correlated with poor prognosis of patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the tongue. *Auris Nasus Larynx* 2014;**41**:552-557.

39. Taghavi N, Bagheri S, Akbarzadeh A. Prognostic implication of CD57,
CD16, and TGF-beta expression in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *J Oral Pathol Med* 2016;45:58-62.

40. Zancope E, Costa NL, Junqueira-Kipnis AP, Valadares MC, Silva TA, Leles CR *et al.* Differential infiltration of CD8+ and NK cells in lip and oral cavity squamous cell carcinoma. *J Oral Pathol Med* 2010;**39**:162-167.

41. Cho YA, Yoon HJ, Lee JI, Hong SP, Hong SD. Relationship between the expressions of PD-L1 and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol* 2011;**47**:1148-1153.

42. Mattox AK, Lee J, Westra WH, Pierce RH, Ghossein R, Faquin WC *et al.* PD-1 Expression in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinomas Derives Primarily from Functionally Anergic CD4(+) TILs in the Presence of PD-L1(+) TAMs. *Cancer Res* 2017;**77**:6365-6374.

43. Watanabe Y, Katou F, Ohtani H, Nakayama T, Yoshie O, Hashimoto K. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, particularly the balance between CD8(+) T cells and CCR4(+) regulatory T cells, affect the survival of patients with oral squamous

cell carcinoma. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2010;**109**:744-752.

44. Zhou X, Su YX, Lao XM, Liang YJ, Liao GQ. CD19(+)IL-10(+) regulatory B cells affect survival of tongue squamous cell carcinoma patients and induce resting CD4(+) T cells to CD4(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *Oral Oncol* 2016;**53**:27-35.

45. Kogashiwa Y, Yasuda M, Sakurai H, Nakahira M, Sano Y, Gonda K *et al.* PD-L1 Expression Confers Better Prognosis in Locally Advanced Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Anticancer Res* 2017;**37**:1417-1424.

46. Wu L, Deng WW, Huang CF, Bu LL, Yu GT, Mao L *et al.* Expression of VISTA correlated with immunosuppression and synergized with CD8 to predict survival in human oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 2017;**66**:627-636.

47. Ahn H, Yang JM, Kim H, Chung JH, Ahn SH, Jeong WJ *et al.*Clinicopathologic implications of the miR-197/PD-L1 axis in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget* 2017;**8**:66178-66194.

48. Lao XM, Liang YJ, Su YX, Zhang SE, Zhou XI, Liao GQ. Distribution and significance of interstitial fibrosis and stroma-infiltrating B cells in tongue squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncol Lett* 2016;**11**:2027-2034.

49. Freiser ME, Serafini P, Weed DT. The immune system and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: from carcinogenesis to new therapeutic opportunities. *Immunol Res* 2013;**57**:52-69.

50. Goswami KK, Ghosh T, Ghosh S, Sarkar M, Bose A, Baral R. Tumor promoting role of anti-tumor macrophages in tumor microenvironment. *Cell Immunol* 2017;**316**:1-10.

51. Zheng X, Turkowski K, Mora J, Brune B, Seeger W, Weigert A *et al.* Redirecting tumor-associated macrophages to become tumoricidal effectors as a novel strategy for cancer therapy. *Oncotarget* 2017;**8**:48436-48452.

52. Koy S, Plaschke J, Luksch H, Friedrich K, Kuhlisch E, Eckelt U *et al.* Microsatellite instability and loss of heterozygosity in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Head Neck* 2008;**30**:1105-1113.

53. Almangush A, Heikkinen I, Makitie AA, Coletta RD, Laara E, Leivo I *et al.* Prognostic biomarkers for oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Cancer* 2017;**117**:856-866.

54. Wolf GT, Chepeha DB, Bellile E, Nguyen A, Thomas D, McHugh J. Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) and prognosis in oral cavity squamous carcinoma: a preliminary study. *Oral Oncol* 2015;**51**:90-95.

55. Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, Uhlin-Hansen L, Hadler-Olsen E. Characterisation and prognostic value of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *BMC Clin Pathol* 2014;**14**:38.

56. Brandwein-Gensler M, Teixeira MS, Lewis CM, Lee B, Rolnitzky L, Hille JJ *et al.* Oral squamous cell carcinoma: histologic risk assessment, but not margin status, is strongly predictive of local disease-free and overall survival. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2005;**29**:167-178.

57. Maleki S, Schlecht NF, Keller C, Diaz J, Moss J, Prystowsky MB *et al.* Lymphocytic host response to oral squamous cell carcinoma: an adaptive T-cell response at the tumor interface. *Head Neck Pathol* 2011;**5**:117-122.

58. Sawazaki-Calone I, Rangel A, Bueno AG, Morais CF, Nagai HM, Kunz RP *et al.* The prognostic value of histopathological grading systems in oral squamous cell carcinomas. *Oral Dis* 2015;**21**:755-761.

59. Suh Y, Amelio I, Guerrero Urbano T, Tavassoli M. Clinical update on cancer: molecular oncology of head and neck cancer. *Cell Death Dis* 2014;5:e1018.

60. Weed DT, Walker G, De La Fuente AC, Nazarian R, Vella JL, Gomez-Fernandez CR *et al.* FOXP3 subcellular localization predicts recurrence in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *PLoS One* 2013;**8**:e71908. 61. Greenland S, Senn SJ, Rothman KJ, Carlin JB, Poole C, Goodman SN *et al.* Statistical tests, P values, confidence intervals, and power: a guide to misinterpretations. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2016;**31**:337-350.

Figure legends

Figure 1:

Search strategy for this systematic review of studies reporting the prognostic value of selected immune cells in oral cancer.

Figure 2:

Flow chart demonstrating reasons for exclusion of studies identified in the searches.

Table legends

Table 1: Studies included and assessment of reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures.

Abbreviations:

A= Includes information about antibody clone and/or product number, IHC procedures, positive and negative controls

B= Lacks/unclear information about one of the parameters in A

C= Lacks/unclear information about more than one of the parameters in A a= Information about number of observers, clear scoring criteria, inter- and/or intra-observer variability

b= Lacks/unclear information about one of the parameters in a

c= Lacks/unclear information about more than one of the parameters in a

¥ quality score equals sum of scoring for reporting of immunohistochemical staining and scoring procedures with C/c=1, B/b=2, and A/a=3

* employed digital scoring methods in addition to/as alternative to manual scoring methods

Table 2: Studies assessing the prognostic value of macrophages in OSCC.

* denotes that information about chemotherapy / radiation exposure of tissue prior to surgery was missing or ambiguous. Abbreviations: OS = overall survival, if survival was not specified it was interpreted as overall survival, DSS = diseasespecific survival, PFS= progression-free survival, RFS= recurrence-free survival, DFS = disease-free survival, HR = hazards ratio, RR = risk ratio, NA = Not applied

Table 3: Studies assessing the prognostic value of dendritic cells, mast cells and natural killer cells in OSCC.

* denotes that information about chemotherapy / radiation exposure of tissue prior to surgery was missing or ambiguous. Abbreviations: OS = overall survival, if survival was not specified it was interpreted as overall survival, DSS = diseasespecific survival, PFS= progression-free survival, DFS = disease-free survival, HR = hazards ratio, NA = Not applied

Table 4. Studies assessing the prognostic value of T cells and B cells in OSCC.

* denotes that information about chemotherapy / radiation exposure of tissue prior to surgery was missing or ambiguous. Abbreviations: OS = overall survival, if survival was not specified it was interpreted as overall survival, DSS = diseasespecific survival, PFS= progression-free survival, HR = hazards ratio, RR = risk ratio, NA = Not applied

Figure 1



(ectopic adj lymphoid organ*).ti,ab,kw.



Figure 2



Table 1

		Reporting of			
Authors, year	Relevant markers	Staining procedures	Scoring procedures	Quality score ¥	IHC only method used
Jardim <i>et al,</i> 2018	CD1a, CD83	В	с*	3	yes
Sun <i>et al,</i> 2018	CD68	С	С	2	no
Wirsing et al, 2018	CD68, CD208, CD3, CD4, CD8, CD20	А	a (b CD208)	6 (5 CD208)	no
Ahn <i>et al,</i> 2017	CD3, FoxP3, CD8, CD20	А	b	5	no
Fang <i>et al,</i> 2017	CD68, CD57, T-bet, CD4, CD8	В	b*	4	yes
Kogashiwa <i>et al,</i> 2017	CD8	В	с	3	yes
Kubota <i>et al,</i> 2017	CD163	В	с	3	no
Mattox <i>et al,</i> 2017	CD4, CD8	С	с	2	no
Wu et al, 2017	CD8	С	с*	2	yes
Akbarzadeh <i>et al,</i> 2016	Mast cell tryptase B		с	3	yes
Hu <i>et al,</i> 2016	Hu et al, 2016 CD68, CD163		b	3	no
Lao <i>et al,</i> 2016	CD19	В	С	3	yes
Sakakura <i>et al,</i> 2016	CD68, CD163	В	b	4	no
Taghavi <i>et al, 2</i> 016	Taghavi <i>et al, 2</i> 016 CD57		b	5	yes
Zhou <i>et al,</i> 2016 FoxP3 +/- CCR4, IL19/CD19		С	с	2	no
Matsuoka et al, 2015	CD163	С	b	3	yes
Ni <i>et al,</i> 2015	CD68	В	b	4	no
Sakakura <i>et al,</i> 2015	CD1a, CD56, CD3	В	b	4	yes
Fujita <i>et al,</i> 2014	Fujita et al, 2014 CD163, FoxP3 +/- CCR4		С	2	no
Ishikawa <i>et al,</i> 2014	Ishikawa et al, 2014 Mast cell tryptase		b	4	yes
Ni <i>et al,</i> 2014 CD208		С	с	2	yes
Wang <i>et al,</i> 2014	Wang et al, 2014 CD163		b*	5	yes
Costa <i>et al,</i> 2013	Costa <i>et al</i> , 2013 CD68		с	4	no
Dayan <i>et al,</i> 2012	Dayan <i>et al,</i> 2012 CD68, CD163, CD3, CD4, FoxP3, CD8, CD20, CD138		с	3	no
Fuji <i>et al,</i> 2012	CD68, CD163	В	С	3	yes
Cho <i>et al,</i> 2011 CD4, CD8		А	b	5	yes

Lu <i>et al,</i> 2010	Lu <i>et al,</i> 2010 CD68		а	6	yes
Watanabe et al, 2010 CD4, FoxP3 +/- CCR4, CD8		A (B CD4)	b	5 (4 CD4)	yes
Zancope <i>et al,</i> 2010	CD8, CD57	А	b	5	yes
Liu <i>et al,</i> 2008	CD68	С	С	2	yes
O'Donnell <i>et al,</i> 2007	CD123, CD209	В	С	3	yes
Reichert <i>et al,</i> 2001	S100, P55	В	b	4	yes
Goldman <i>et al,</i> 1998	CD1a, S100	С	С	2	yes

Table	2
-------	---

	Number of	-	Direction of	Statistical significance			
Authors, year	size/ stage, Inclusion period, Country	compartment analysed	effect on survival high cell count	UV	MV		
Marker: CD6	Marker: CD68, pan macrophage marker						
Sun <i>et al,</i> 2018	72*, Stage I-IV, 2009-2011, China	No info	Negative	OS:P=.034	OS:P=.015		
Wirsing <i>et</i> al, 2018	75, T1-T4, 1986 – 2002, Norway	Stroma at tumour front	Positive	DSS: P=.027	DSS: P>.05		
Fang <i>et al,</i> 2017	78*, Stage I-IV, 2007-2009, China	Stroma	Positive	OS: P=.293, HR= 0.733	OS: P=.177, HR= 1.533		
Hu et al,	127, Stage I-IV,	Nest	Negative	OS: P= .01, RR=3.08	NA		
2016	2007 – 2013, China	Stroma	Positive	OS: P=.3, RR=0.69	NA		
Sakakura <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2016	74, Stage I-IV, 2000-2012, Japan	Stroma	Negative	OS: P=.035	OS: P>.05		
Ni <i>et al,</i> 2015	91, T1 - T4, 2003- 2011, China	Stroma	Negative	OS: P=.033, HR=1.947 DFS: P= .435	OS: P=.736, HR=1.55 NA		
		Nest	Positive	OS:P=.802 , HR=.904 DFS: P=.562	NA NA		
Costa <i>et al,</i> 2013	45, T1-T4, Period missing, Brazil	Peritumour	Negative	OS: P=.08	NA		
Dayan <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2012	54, Stage I-IV, 1990-2006, Israel	Tumour-stroma interface	No info	OS: P>.05	NA		
Fujii <i>et al,</i> 2012	108, Stage I-IV, 1990 –2005, Japan	Stroma at invasive front	No info.	OS: P= .16	NA		
Lu et al,	92, Stage I-IV, 1995-2003, Taiwan	Stroma	Negative	OS:P< .001,	OS: P=.015		
2010				DFS: P= .001	DFS: P=.005		
Liu <i>et al,</i> 2008	112*, T1 -T4, Period missing, Taiwan	No info	Negative	DFS: P=.001	NA		

Marker: CD163, M2 macrophages					
				PFS: P=.21,	PFS: P=.64,
Kubota <i>et</i>	46, Stage I-IV,	Nost	Negativo	HR=1.53	HR=1.18
al, 2017	2005-2015, Japan	ivest	Negative	DSS: P=0.58,	DSS: P=.61,
				HR=1.22	HR=1.20
Hu et al,	127, Stage I-IV,	Nest	Negative	OS: P=.02,	NA
				RR=2.83	INA
2016	2007–2013, China	Character	Positive	OS: P=.48,	
		Stronia		RR=.78	NA
Sakakura <i>et</i>	74, Stage I-IV,	Charaman	Nogativo	OS: P=.025	OS: P=.034
<i>al,</i> 2016	2000-2012, Japan	Stroma	Negative	PFS: P=.011	PFS: P=.023
				OS: P= 003	OS: P=.195,
Matsuoka	60, Stage I-IV,	Stroma at	Negative	05.1 =.005	HR=2.299
et al, 2015	2003-2009, Japan	invasive front	Negative		DFS: P=.258,
				DF3. F=.007	HR=1.749
				OS: P=.006	OS:NA
	50*, Stage I-IV, 2006 - 2010,	Invasive front	Negative	DEC.D- 002	DFS:P=.006,
Fujita <i>et al,</i>				DF5:P=.002	RR=2.625
2014	Japan			OS: P>.05	NA
		Intratumour	NO INTO.	DFS: P>.05	NA
	240. Stage I-IV.				
Wang et al,	M0. 1982-2005.	Stroma	Negative	OS: P<.001,	OS: P=.001,
2014	China			HR=4.411	HR=3.561
Dayan <i>et</i>	54, Stage I-IV,	Tumour-stroma	No info	$OS \cdot P > OS$	NΔ
<i>al,</i> 2012	1990-2006, Israel	interface		00.17.00	
Fujii <i>et al,</i>	108, Stage I-IV,	Stroma at	Negative	OS: P=.007	OS:P=.045,
2012	1990-2005, Japan	invasive front	i tegative	23.1007	HR=2.636

Table 3

	Number of			Statistical significance				
Authors, year	patients, Tumor size/ stage, Inclusion period, Country	Tumour compartment analysed	Direction of effect on survival high cell count	UV	MV			
DENDRITIC CEL	DENDRITIC CELLS							
Marker: CD1a, immature DC								
Jardim et al, 2018	53, Stage I-IV, 2002-2010, Brazil	Intratumour	Positive	OS:P=.148 DFS:P=.089	NA NA			
		Peritumour	Positive	OS:P=.03	OS: P=.001, HR=3,61 DFS:			
				DFS:P=.007	P=.001, HR=4.23			
Sakakura <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2015	74, Stage I-IV, 2000- 2012, Japan	Tumour periphery	No info	OS:P=1.000 PFS:P=1.000	NA NA			
Goldman et	43, T1-T4,	Peritumour	Positive	DSS: P=.05	DSS: P=.23			
al, 1998	1987 – 1998, US	Intratumour	Negative	DSS: P=.21	DSS: P=.04			
Marker: S100,	pan DC marker							
Reichert <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2001	132, Stage I- IV, 1980 – 1993, Germany	Stroma	Positive	OS: P<.001	OS: P<=.001, HR=.422			
Goldman et	43, T1-T4,	Peritumour	Positive	DSS: P=.30	DSS: P=.07			
al, 1998	1987 – 1998, US	Intratumour	Negative	DSS: P=.24	DSS: P=.80			
Marker: CD83,	mature DC							
Jardim et al, 2018	53, Stage I-IV, 2002-2010, Brazil	Intratumour	Positive	OS:P=.274 DFS:P=.346	NA NA			
		Peritumour	Positive	OS:P=.276 DFS:P=.392	NA NA			
Marker: P55, fascin-expressing DC								
Reichert <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2001	129, Stage I- IV, 1980 – 1993, Germany	Stroma	Positive	OS: P<.001	OS: P>.05			
Marker: CD208/DClamp, mature DC								
		Stroma	Positive	DSS: P=.639	NA			
Wirsing <i>et al,</i> 2018	69, T1-T4, 1986 – 2002, Norway							
--	---	---------------------	----------------------	-----------------------------	------------------------	--		
	79, Stage I-IV,	Nest	Positive	OS:P>.05	NA			
Ni <i>et al,</i> 2014	2011-2012, China	Stroma	Negative	OS: P>.05	NA			
Marker: CD123	3, plasmacytoid D	oc						
O'Donnel <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2007	63*, T1-T4,	Extranestal	Negative/no info	OS: P<.0001,	NA			
	missing, US	Intratumour	Negative/no info.	Compartment unclear	NA			
Marker: CD209/DCsign, immature DC								
O'Donnel <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2007	63*, T1-T4,	Extranestal	Negative/ no info	OS: P<.0001,	NA			
	missing, US	Intratumour	Negative/no info.	Compartment unclear	NA			
MAST CELLS								
Marker: Mast	cell tryptase							
Akbarzadeh Baghban <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2016	57*, Stage missing, Period missing, Iran	Peritumour	No info	NA	OS:P=.719, HR=1.117			
lshikawa <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2014	81*, Stage I- IV, 1982-2007, Japan	Stroma	Negative	DFS: P=.038	NA			
NATURAL KILLER CELLS								
Marker: CD56,	pan NK cell mar	ker						
Sakakura <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2015	74, Stage I-IV, 2000-2012, Japan	Tumour periphery	No info	OS: P=1.000 PFS: P=1.000	NA			
Marker: CD57,	mature/activate	d NK cell marker						
Fang <i>et al.</i> 2017	78*, Stage I- IV, 2007-2009, China	Stroma	Positive	OS: P<.001, R=7.718	OS:P<.001, HR=6.576			
Taghavi <i>et al,</i> 2016	57*, Stage missing, Period missing, Iran	Intratumour	Positive	NA	OS:P<.001, HR=17.34			
Zancope et	40, Stage I-	Peritumour	No info	OS: P=.70	NA			
al, 2010	IV,Period missing, Brazil	Intratumour	No info	OS: P=.69				

	Number of patients, Tumor size/ stage, Inclusion period, Country	Tumour compartment analysed	Direction of effect on survival high cell count	Statistical significance	
Authors, year				UV	MV
T CELLS					
Marker: CD3, pan T cell marker					
Wirsing et al, 2018	74, T1-T4, 1986 – 2002, Norway	Stroma at tumour front	Positive	DSS: P=.200	NA
Ahn <i>et al,</i> 2017	68*, Stage I-IV, 2003-2011,	Stroma	Positive	OS: P=.142, HR=.99 DSS: P=.552,	NA
	South Korea		No effect	HR=1.00	NA
Sakakura <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2015	74, Stage I-IV, 2000 – 2012, Japan	Tumour periphery	No info	OS:P=.856, PFS:P=.981	NA
Dayan <i>et al,</i> 2012	54, Stage I-IV, 1990-2006, Israel	Tumour-stroma interface	No info	OS: P>.05	NA
Marker: CD4	, various T cell sul	osets			
Wirsing et al, 2018	72, T1-T4, 1986 – 2002, Norway	Stroma at tumour front	Positive	DSS:P=.691	NA
Fang <i>et al,</i> 2017	78*, Stage I-IV, 2007 – 2009, China	Stroma	Positive	OS:P=.207, HR= .686	OS:P=.909, R=1.038
Mattox <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2017	47*, T1/T2, N0- N2, Period missing, US	No info	Positive	OS:P=.18	NA
Dayan <i>et al,</i> 2012	54, Stage I-IV, 1990-2006, Israel	Tumour-stroma interface	No info	OS: P>.05	NA
Cho <i>et al,</i> 2011	45, Stage I-IV, Period missing, South Korea	Peritumour	Positive	OS:P=.571	NA
Watanabe	87, Stage I-IV	Stroma	No info	OS:P=.072	NA
et al, 2010	(100), 1994- 2003, Japan	Nest	No info	No info	NA
Marker: T-bet, Th1 cell marker					
Fang <i>et al,</i> 2017	78*, Stage I-IV, 2007 – 2009, China	Stroma	Negative	OS:P=.639 HR= .871	OS:P=.836, HR=1.066
Marker: FoxP3 +/- CCR4, Treg marker					

Ahn <i>et al,</i> 2017	68*, Stage I-IV, 2003-2011, South Korea	Stroma	Positive	OS: P=.374, HR=.98	NA		
			Negative	DSS: P=.754, HR=1.01	NA		
Zhou <i>et al,</i> 2016	46, Stage I-IV, 2006-2011, China	Stroma	Negative	OS:P= .001	OS:P=.021, RR=0.066		
Fujita <i>et al,</i>	50*, Stage I-IV, 2006-2010	Invasive front	No info	OS: P>.05, DSS: P>.05	NA		
2014	Japan	Intratumour	No info	OS: P>.05, DSS: P>.05	NA		
Dayan <i>et al,</i> 2012	54, Stage I-IV, 1990-2006, Israel	Tumour-stroma interface	No info	OS: P>.05	NA		
Watanabe <i>et al,</i> 2010	87,Stage I-IV (M0), 1994- 2003, Japan	Stroma	Negative	OS:P=.31 (FoxP3) OS: P=.001	No info No info		
(FoxP3/CCR4+)							
Wirsing et	72, T1-T4, 1986	Stroma at					
al, 2018	– 2002, Norway	tumour front	Negative	DSS: P=.304	NA		
Ahn <i>et al,</i> 2017	68*, Stage I-IV, 2003-2011, South Korea	Stroma	Positive	OS: P=.181, HR=.99	NA		
			Positive	DSS: P=.282, HR=.99	NA		
Fang et al, 2017	78*, Stage I-IV, 2007 – 2009, China	Stroma	Positive	OS: P<.001, HR= 3.808	OS:P=.030, HR= 2.174		
Kogashiwa <i>et al,</i> 2017	84, Stage III- IVA, 2007 – 2014, Japan	No info	Positive	OS:P=.058 PFS:P=.35	NA		
Mattox <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2017	48*, T1/T2, N0- N2, period missing, US	No info	No info	OS: P=.41	NA		
Wu <i>et al,</i> 2017	165, T1-T4, 2008-2010 and 2012-2015, China	No info (TMA)	Positive	OS:P=.0498	OS:P=.052 <i>,</i> HR=0.579		
Dayan <i>et al,</i> 2012	54, Stage I-IV, 1990-2006, Israel	Tumour-stroma interface	No info	OS: P>.05	NA		
Cho et al.	44, Stage I-IV,	Intratumour	No info	No info	NA		
2011	period missing, South Korea	Peritumour	Positive	OS:P=.178	NA		
Watanabe	87, Stage I-IV,	Stroma	Positive	OS: P=.001	NA		
et al, 2010	мо, 1994-2003, Japan	Nest	Positive	OS: P=.001	NA		

Zancope <i>et</i> <i>al,</i> 2010	40, T1-T4, period missing, Brazil	Peritumour	Positive	OS: P=.40	NA		
		Intratumour	No info	OS:P=.9	NA		
B CELLS	B CELLS						
Marker: CD2	Marker: CD20, pan B cell marker						
Wirsing et al, 2018	75, T1-T4, 1986 – 2002, Norway	Stroma at invasive front	Positive	DSS:P=.002	DSS:P>,05		
Ahn <i>et al,</i> 2017	68*, Stage I-IV, 2003-2011, South Korea	Stroma	Positive	OS: P=.186, HR=.98	NA		
			Positive	DSS:P=.496, HR=.99	NA		
Dayan <i>et al,</i> 2012	54, Stage I-IV, 1990-2006, Israel	Tumour-stroma interface	No info	OS: P>.05	NA		
Marker: CD19, pan B cell marker							
Lao <i>et al,</i> 2016	93*, Stage I-IV, period missing, China	Stroma	Positive	OS: P=.008	OS: Significant, but P-value and HR missing		
Marker: CD138, plasmacell marker							
Dayan <i>et al,</i>	64 Stage LIV						
2012	1990-2006, Israel	Tumour-stroma interface	No info	OS: P>.05	NA		
2012 Marker: IL19	1990-2006, Israel	Tumour-stroma interface ser	No info	OS: P>.05	NA		